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READING INSTRUCTIONS.  In this publication, OMX AB (publ) is referred to simply as OMX. The company is a Swedish limited liability company subject to Swedish legislation. All values 
are expressed in Swedish kronor (SEK). Millions of kronor are denoted SEK m. Thousands of kronor are denoted SEK ���s. Amounts in parentheses refer to ����, unless otherwise stated. Data 
 regarding markets and the competition situation are OMX’s own assessments, unless a specific source is stated. These assessments are based on the latest and most reliable facts available 
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Information Services & 
New Markets

Market TechnologyNordic Marketplaces

This is OMX
OMX is a leading expert in the exchange industry. OMX focuses on assisting its customers with the implementation of efficient securities transactions. OMX has two 
offerings: the Nordic Exchange and the global technology operations, and is organized in three business areas. OMX has been listed since 1987 and its share is today 
traded on the Nordic Exchange in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland.

The 
Nordic 
 Exchange

Technology 
operations

OMX’s vision is to be regarded as the 
world’s leading partner for more efficient 
securities transactions. OMX’s business 
model is based on creating competitive 
advantage and building business from 
the network and experience that derive 
from the operation of the Nordic Exchan-
ge combined with the  development of 
technology and systems operations for a 
global customer base.

The 
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Exchange 
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Within the global technology operations OMX offers systems and system support for trading in securities to exchanges and 
market places worldwide.  OMX is the world’s largest supplier of such systems solutions. The offering also includes advisory 
services and the operation and support of all components included in a turnkey IT solution for a marketplace.

Based on experience gained through the management of proprietary marketplaces and with the market’s leading technology 
and operating environment, OMX helps customers enhance their competitiveness. 

• Order value amounted to SEK 3,293 m (2,702) at year-end.
• OMX has more than 60 customers in over 50 countries.
• OMX operates 16 marketplaces throughout the world. 

The Nordic Exchange comprises exchange operations in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen, Iceland, Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius. In 
addition to trading in equities and derivatives, the company provides services to listed companies and information services to 
players in the financial market. In addition to the main market, the Nordic Exchange also encompasses the alternative market-
place First North, which is targeted toward growth companies. 

By developing and integrating the Nordic exchanges, competitiveness will be strengthened for OMX’s customers, including 
banks, brokerages, listed companies and information vendors. 
• The number of listed companies amounted to 791 (741) at year-end.
• Total market capitalization for all of the listed companies amounted to SEK 8,435 billion (7,163).
• The number of members amounted to 159 (166).

   Change
 ���� ����  %

Revenue, SEK m 3,610 3,136    15

Operating income, SEK m 1,211    910 33
Operating margin, % 34 29
Earnings per share, SEK  7.64 4.66 64
Return on shareholders’ equity, % 20 12 
Number of employees at year-end 1,402  1,288 9
Proposed dividend, SEK per share  4.50 3.00 50
Proposed extra dividend,  2.00      3.50+3.00
SEK per share       

Key figures

Products and services
Trading:

 •  Equities
 •  Derivatives products 
 •  Bonds

Clearing:

 •  Derivatives products 
 •  Bonds

Listing 

Information services 

Products and services
Technology services for:

 • Trading 

 • Clearing & settlement

 • Information dissemination

Integration and advisory services
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Experts in the
Exchange Industry



The Nordic Exchange ranks as the 
fifth largest exchange in Europe
In autumn 2006, OMX welcomed Swedish, Danish and Finnish companies – and global 
investors – to a common Nordic market. The Nordic Exchange was launched with an 
integrated trading system, harmonized trading hours, uniform regulatory framework 
and a common presentation model for listed companies. Through the Nordic Exchange, 
participants in the capital markets can approach the Nordic region as a broad, single 
market for equities and derivatives products. Today, the Nordic Exchange is Europe’s 
fifth largest exchange in terms of the number of equity transactions. In specific sectors, 
the Nordic Exchange is Europe’s largest IT exchange, the world’s second largest retail 
fashion exchange and the leading exchange for paper products in the world. All com-
panies listed on the Nordic Exchange are presented in ten different sectors and three 
segments: Small Cap, Mid Cap and Large Cap. From an investor perspective, the Nordic 
Exchange magnifies the investment opportunities. The Nordic business community 
can now say that it has window to the world. 

Swedish paper is used all over the world.  Financial Times is 
printed on paper, among others, from  Holmen, a company 
listed on the Nordic Exchange.



First North – a new marketplace 
 providing growth companies with 
greater opportunities
In 2006, OMX launched another innovation that will contribute to economic growth 
in the Nordic region. First North is the Nordic Exchange’s alternative marketplace 
especially tailored to younger, smaller and rapidly expanding companies. Here, 
entrepreneurial business ideas meet investor capital without the constraints of the 
more comprehensive requirements of a traditional exchange listing. First North has 
quickly become the second largest exchange of its kind in Europe – only the London 
Stock Exchange’s AIM could claim more companies by the end of 2006. The rapid 
growth can be explained in one word: quality. First North is a natural part of the 
Nordic Exchange and thereby provides companies with the same efficient trad-
ing system and exposure to investors as offered by the Nordic Exchange. Another 
success factor is that First North serves as a training ground for companies, prior to 
listing on the main market. Accordingly, when the company is ready for the main 
market, it is already well-known to OMX and the market participants. It can there-
fore be said with good reason that First North is a springboard to the main market.

Tripep is a biotech company focused on research, development and 
commercialization of drug candidates mainly within Hepatitis C and 
wound healing. The Tripep share is traded on First North.



A customized information portfolio
Shared information products are an important part of the Nordic Exchange’s cross-
border activities. In 2006, OMX launched an information product portfolio that has 
been customized for trading in the Nordic region. This portfolio replaces the former, 
more country-specific information products and includes pan-Nordic real-time prod-
ucts with trading information (such as share prices) for private and professional inves-
tors and brokerage firms. An entirely new addition to the information services offered 
by OMX is Company News Service, which simplifies information distribution by listed 
companies to investors, media and other stakeholders. Viewed from the opposite 
direction, it can be said that OMX is expanding and improving the visibility into the 
entire Nordic securities market. 

Information from OMX is distributed directly and through vendors 
to over 70,000 terminals worldwide.



The Italian derivatives market powered 
by a Swedish engine
Since 1994, OMX has provided systems for Borsa Italiana’s derivatives market, IDEM. This 
partnership was further extended in 2006 to cover the operation of the Italian derivatives 
market. Under the new agreement, OMX provides core systems infrastructure, technical 
operation and systems surveillance - in other words, we guarantee that everything works. 
We view the fact that the Borsa Italiana has entrusted us with this task as further acknow-
ledgement of OMX’s position as an expert in the global exchange industry. We are now 
operating 16 of the world’s exchanges, which makes OMX the leading supplier of out-
sourcing services in the industry internationally.

Borsa Italiana was founded in 1997 following  the privatiza-
tion of the Italian Stock Exchange. The exchange building 
Palazzo Mezzanotte is located in Milan, and was inaugura-
ted in 1932.



World’s largest equity options 
exchange grows with OMX
The International Securities Exchange (ISE) operates a family of innovative securities 
markets, including the world’s largest equity options exchange. When ISE’s options 
exchange launched in 2000, it redefined the US options industry by introducing 
electronic trading. Within three months, more than one million options contracts 
had traded on ISE’s all-electronic platform. By 2006, ISE had grown to handle aver-
age daily volumes of approximately 2.4 million contracts. 

ISE partnered with OMX to develop its options trading software platform. As ISE’s 
trading volumes have grown, ISE and OMX have continued to work together. ISE is 
a very important reference for the capacity and value of OMX exchange technolo-
gies. During this year, the relationship between the companies deepened through 
a long-term licensing agreement where OMX will ensure the future reliability and 
scalability of ISE’s architecture so that the ISE options platform can maintain its 
technological edge.

After only seven years, ISE is an established 
exchange. ISE’s headquarters are located in 
the financial district of New York.



The headquarters of the Saudi Stock Market 
 (Tadawul) are located in Riyadh. 

Systems integrators in Saudi Arabia 
We usually say that a well-functioning exchange is the oil in a country’s eco-
nomic engine. Saudi Stock Market (Tadawul) operates one of the world’s largest 
equities markets and is the single largest stock exchange in the Middle East. In 
2006, OMX signed an agreement with the Saudi Stock Market (Tadawul). The 
agreement was not only a major technology order for OMX but was also a devel-
opment of our Market Technology business area since we served as total sys-
tems integrator for the first time. We are responsible to the Saudi Stock Market 
(Tadawul) for everything from design to implementation and infrastructure. In 
concrete terms, we develop and supply our own proprietary system-critical solu-
tions and integrate these solutions with existing systems from other suppliers.
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For OMX, the year 2006 was characterized by increased profitabil-
ity, new product and service drives and the integration of completed 
acquisitions. Market activities in all business areas increased com-
pared with the preceding year.
 For the business area Nordic Marketplaces, demand increased for 
both trading and listing services. The Nordic Exchange was launched 
in October, which involved the development of a new pan-Nordic pres-
entation model for shares, new indexes and harmonized listing 
requirements. OMX supplemented its offering on the Nordic Exchange 
with an alternative marketplace, First North, which in 13 months has 
established itself as one of Europe’s leading marketplaces for growth 
companies. The Iceland Stock Exchange was acquired at the end of 
November and was consolidated on December 1. The number of equity 
transactions increased by 47 percent compared with the year-earlier 
period, while the number of traded derivatives contracts rose by 16 
percent. At year-end, the total number of companies listed on the 
Nordic Exchange in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland 
was 693 (638).
 The business area Information Services & New Markets focused 
on the development of products and services, and market growth 
was high during the year. In October, a pan-Nordic offering of real-
time information was launched as part of the Nordic Exchange. 
Demand for information services increased during the year and the 

number of real-time terminals rose by 16 percent compared with 
the year-earlier period. 
 The integration of the Baltic exchanges in Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius 
continued and the number of members was 40 (39) at year-end. At 
the same time, the number of companies listed on the Baltic exchanges 
totaled 98 (103). The operations in Broker Services benefited from the 
growing trading volumes on the Nordic Exchange and demand for 
services in securities administration increased during the year.
 The business area Market Technology benefited from the contin-
ued strengthening of the market for systems and services to the 
exchange industry during the year and through the contribution 
made to operations with the acquisition of part of Computershare. 
The order intake during the year rose to SEK 1,908 m (1,215), while 
the total order value at year-end was SEK 3,293 m (2,702), of which 
SEK 1,185 m (843) was scheduled for delivery within a year. During 
the year, OMX received orders from, among others, the Saudi Stock 
Market (Tadawul), Borsa Italiana, the International Securities 
Exchange (ISE), Nord Pool, ICAP, the Dubai Financial Market, Swiss 
Exchange, Wiener Börse, the Australian Stock Exchange and the 
Canadian Trading and Quotation System (CNQ).

Earnings development
OMX’s total revenues rose by 15 percent to SEK 3,610 m (3,136) in 2006. 

OMX 2006
Earnings per share rose by 64 percent compared with the preceding 
year, return on shareholders’ equity increased to 20 percent. 

Revenues   Expenses
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The increase is mainly due to trading revenues, information revenues 
and facility management services revenues in the technology opera-
tions. Total revenues also include SEK 22 m in earnings from the sale 
of shares in Norsk Oppgørssentral ASA (NOS) and SEK 83 m attribut-
able to the sale of shares in VPC AB. The fourth quarter of 2005 
included SEK 30 m in non-recurring revenue from EDX London. The 
operations OMX acquired from Computershare were consolidated in 
the Group effective February 1, 2006 and the Iceland Stock Exchange 
was included from December 1.
 The Group’s total expenses were SEK 2,445 m (2,241) during the 
year. The rise in expenses is a result of increased market activity and 
new product and service drives during the year, in addition to acqui-
sitions.
 Operating income rose to SEK 1,211 m (910) in 2006, up 33 percent. 
Financial items amounted to an expense of SEK 60 m (expense: 64). 
Income after tax was SEK 911 m (543) and earnings per share rose 
64 percent to SEK 7.64 (4.66).

Financial position
Total assets at year-end amounted to SEK 12,528 m compared with 
SEK 10,612 m in the year-earlier period. Shareholders’ equity amounted 
to SEK 4,614 m (4,749) at year-end, while the equity/assets ratio, 
excluding the market value of outstanding derivatives positions, was 
57 percent (57). Net debt amounted to SEK 847 m (573) at year-end. 
During the second quarter of 2006, dividend of SEK 765 m were paid. 
During the fourth quarter, net debt was also affected by the SEK 575 
m OMX received from the sale of shares in VPC AB, SEK 318 m that 
was paid out in conjunction with the acquisition of shares in Oslo Børs 
and SEK 355 m that was paid to shareholders as an extra dividend. 

Dividend and dividend policy
For the 2006 fiscal year, the Board intends to propose a dividend of 
SEK 6.50 (9.50) per share, comprising an ordinary dividend of SEK 
4.50 (3.00) per share and an extra dividend of SEK 2.00 (3.50 + 3.00) 

per share. The Board’s ambition is that OMX’s ordinary dividend 
shall, in the future, grow in pace with the company’s earnings per 
share, taking OMX’s long-term capital requirements into account.

Financial targets
OMX endeavors to generate profitable growth with a return exceed-
ing the market’s return requirement. To achieve this target in a 
medium-term perspective, the following financial targets have been 
established as a guide for OMX: return on shareholders’ equity shall 
amount to at least 15 percent annually, while the net debt/equity ratio 
shall not exceed 30 percent over time. In 2006, OMX’s return on share-
holders’ equity amounted to 20 percent (12). The Group’s net debt/
equity ratio was 18 percent (12) at year-end.

Increased order intake in the technology operations

103 new listed companies

10 new information vendors 

Launch of Nordic Exchange

Acquisition of operations from Computershare

Launch of Nordic index together with Oslo Børs

Record turnover in trading in equities and derivatives on OMX exchanges

Strategically important technology order from Saudi Stock Market (Tadawul)

Launch of First North in Sweden

Divestment of holdings in VPC

Acquisition of 10 percent of Oslo Børs

Acquisition and integration of Iceland Stock Exchange, ICEX

An active year

Return achieved                             Target
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DE A R SH A R EHOLDER S.

2006 was a record year for OMX, a year in which the company generated the highest revenues and the hig-

hest operating profit in its history. Earnings per share increased by 64 percent compared with the prece-

ding year and with the return on shareholders’ equity at 20 percent we attained our target of exceeding 15 

percent. After several years of transition, OMX is now well-positioned in the global exchange industry, an 

industry characterized by strong structural growth.

But we did not only post record high profits – all of our business areas were also successful in strengthe-

ning their market positions for the future. On October 2, we launched the Nordic Exchange. The business 

area Nordic Marketplaces was fully prepared for the introduction of a new presentation model for shares 

throughout the Nordic region, new indexes and harmonized exchange regulations, all following interna-

tional standards. During the year, we also began integrating the Iceland Stock Exchange. In addition, First 

North was established as part of the Nordic Exchange’s offering. It has quickly become one of Europe’s 

leading alternative marketplaces, and in 2007 First North will also be established in Finland and the Baltic 

States. 

The launch of the Nordic Exchange has made the Nordic region more visible in the international arena. 

Listed companies, both large and small, get more exposure, members experience simpler and more effi-

cient access procedures and investors can easily choose between numerous investment options. All in all, 

these advances generate increased trading, higher liquidity and greater visibility, paving the way for an 

even more dynamic and attractive marketplace.

The business area Information Services & New Markets encompasses the Nordic market data offering, 

that is, all information generated at the Nordic Exchange. We will develop many new communications 

services in the next few years to further support the needs of listed companies and the media. In addition, 

market data enhances openness and visibility for companies on the Nordic Exchange. We also offer mem-

bers of the Nordic Exchange services in securities administration and from January 1, 2007, all operations 

in this area were concentrated into one business unit, which receives support through an extended part-

nership with HCL in India.

During 2006, we worked intensively to integrate the Baltic market, where we saw growth accelerate parti-

cularly toward the end of the year. Based on our experience of integrating regional exchanges, we also 

heightened our focus on Eastern Europe. 

We saw increased activity in the business area Market Technology. Important driving forces are trading 

volumes in the global financial markets, new commercial initiatives from existing and new players, and 

amendments to legislation in Europe and the US. Interest in our systems and services is rising, a trend that 

is in line with developments in the financial industry in emerging markets. In addition, we saw higher 

demand from existing customers, for example, International Securities Exchange, Nord Pool and Borsa 

Italiana, and from new customers such as Tadawul in Saudi Arabia and CASE in Egypt. We also saw how 

increases in our order intake resulted in increased revenue toward the end of the year. Our highest priority 

is to ensure that this growth will also lead to improved profitability.

Stockholm, February 2007



After several years in the development phase, we recently presented Genium, our new technology solution 

that brings new dimensions to managing the future challenges faced by the exchange industry. The system 

is designed based on OMX’s knowledge derived from the Nordic and Baltic marketplaces, but not the least 

from the more than 60 exchanges in over 50 countries that OMX works with. Genium uniquely utilizes all of 

the knowledge found within OMX and through our work with partners worldwide. In addition, Genium will 

become the world’s fastest trading system, and will uniquely combine innovative functionality, modular 

construction and standardized access to enable rapid business development. The Nordic Exchange will be 

one of the first to utilize Genium’s new capabilities for more efficient trading. The new services offered by 

Genium will strengthen OMX’s position as a driving force in the exchange industry.

Discussions in the industry continue around consolidation, partly against the backdrop of international 

deregulation and technological developments. OMX has integrated more exchanges than any other com-

pany in the world and our technology platform is well suited to marketplace consolidation. OMX is ready, 

whether the future brings a more active role in global consolidation or the continued development of our 

current position.

The European Union has succeeded in its initiative to increase openness, liquidity and securities trading 

across European borders. We believe that the implementation of the new EU Directive, including MiFID 

that comes into effect in 2007, will make the European financial markets even more efficient and enhance 

both trading and liquidity. OMX is prepared to take advantage of the opportunities that will be presented 

and to meet new competition. One issue that remains unresolved in the Nordic region and Europe, how-

ever, is how to increase the efficiency of the administration of securities transactions. In the Nordic region 

alone, we still have eight different securities depositories.

The exchange industry is currently experiencing major changes. In my view, this will be beneficial to 

OMX. We understand how marketplaces function and the complex infrastructure that drives them. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all of OMX’s employees and partners for their efforts. OMX 

has an excellent foundation for taking full advantage of future developments in the exchange industry.

Magnus Böcker

President and CEO

E F F I C I E N T  S E C U R I T I E S  T R A N S A C T I O N S
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Chairman’s comments
What I feel most gratified about – in addition to our financial 
 results – is that OMX has been a pioneer in changing the global 
 financial markets.

It is time to sign off and go ashore. This will be my 

last Chairman’s comments for OMX. The time to step 

down from the Board of OMX appears to be well cho-

sen as now, after twenty-three years, we can report 

the best figures in the company’s history. At the same 

time, the future looks positive and exciting.

 Options broker OM AB was formed in March 1984. 

After the start of options trading in June 1985, we quickly 

became known colloquially as OM, and after the acqui-

sition of the Helsinki Stock Exchange as OMX.

 What I feel most gratified about – in addition to our 

financial result for 2006 – is that OMX has been a pio-

neer in changing the global financial markets. Our 

move to found the world’s first privately owned, profit-

making and electronic exchange was initially sub-

jected to criticism both in Sweden and in the interna-

tional community. Exchanges were meant to be non-

profit-making, member-owned floor exchanges, often 

in the form of national monopolies.

 Yet rapid developments at the end of the 1990s 

and at the beginning of this century have completely 

redrawn the international exchange map. Today, 

most major exchanges are operated by profit-making 

companies under intense competition and with a 

global presence. We can only guess how the map will 

look in five or ten years’ time.

 Personally, I am perhaps most proud of being 

elected to the US Futures Industry Association’s Hall 

of Fame in 2005, for the significance and influence 

OMX has had on the change process in global mar-

ketplaces.

 When I say that OMX is in an extremely strong 

position to meet future challenges, it is no standard Chairman’s 

cliché. The willingness to compete and the search for efficiency 

are part of our nervous system. We are never satisfied and can 

always be better.

Based on the combination of our technological capabilities 

and our in-depth expertise in how marketplaces work, we have 

developed our own successful model – a model that has proven 

to be an attractive alternative in the current consolidation 

activities in the global securities markets.
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However, consolidation is never an end in itself. In the midst 

of all the European consolidation eagerness, I believe that too 

high a level of significance is often attached to ownership 

issues. Who owns who is not the central issue. What’s most 

important is to focus on efficiency in the markets. Our offering 

to our customers, whether they are investors, exchange mem-

bers, listed companies or other parties, is what must govern 

our actions. 

 If we do this, we also achieve the best conditions for creat-

ing value for our shareholders and for all of our committed 

employees throughout the world. We have led the way through 

the consolidation in the Nordic and Baltic regions. A way that 

we hope will also be successful in other areas, such as Central 

and Eastern Europe.

 Those who believe there will be only one exchange in Europe 

in the future are wrong. The market will never accept it. In a 

competitive industry, there will always be, and there must 

always be, other alternatives. OMX’s major future opportuni-

ties are found in our unique combination of marketplace and 

technology expertise. With the introduction of the third gen-

eration of integrated marketplace systems, Genium, OMX will 

further assure its technological advancement.

 OMX has experienced wonderfully successful periods for 

which I feel immense satisfaction and humility. But we have 

also had to handle difficult and troublesome periods when 

things did not go in our favor. People and organizations face a 

real test once they have survived such trying periods. That is 

when quality and stability are built, and it is one of the reasons 

that I have such confidence for the future. 

 Of course, on a personal note, it is sad for me to leave the 

active operations of OMX. The company has been part of me. 

The decision to leave has evolved over recent years and I believe 

that the time is personally right. 

 OMX is successful. We have a highly competent and com-

mitted management team characterized by an entrepreneur-

ial spirit and a strong desire for growth, yet one that also sets 

high standards to deliver results. We have an extremely quali-

fied Board of Directors and many fantastic employees. So it is 

satisfying to know that I am now leaving “my” company in the 

best possible hands.

 There is a Swedish saying that you should leave a party 

when it is at its best, but as that would require me to stay for 

many more years, I now leave the celebration to others.

 However, as a shareholder, I will be following OMX closely 

and it may well be that I cannot resist expressing one or two 

opinions in the future.

 Stockholm, February 2007

Olof Stenhammar

Founder of OM and Chairman of the Board of Directors



OMX is a leading company within the global exchange industry. 
OMX’s business model is based on creating competitive advantage 
and building business from the network and experience that derive 
from the ownership and operation of exchanges combined with the 
development of technology and systems operations for a global cus-
tomer base. 

Vision
OMX’s vision is to be regarded as the leading global partner for more 
efficient securities transactions.

Business model 
OMX’s business model is based on three cornerstones that together 
create expertise within the exchange industry:

T H E  N O R D I C  E XC H A N G E

Integrating OMX’s Nordic and Baltic exchanges into a single offering 
makes it possible for the whole region to compete at a global level. 
The Nordic Exchange is also a reference market for the technology 
offering and underlines OMX’s credibility and know-how in exchange 
technology. OMX’s competence and expertise is sought after through-
out the world. 

E XC H A N G E  T E C H N O LO G Y 

Technology is central to the operations of marketplaces and other organ-
izations in the exchange industry. A well-functioning technology solution 

facilitates efficient operations and is a prerequisite for competitiveness. 
OMX is a world leader in developing, delivering, integrating, maintaining 
and operating technology solutions for exchanges and marketplaces, 
clearing organizations and central securities depositories. 
 

G LO B A L  C U S TO M E R  B A S E

A common feature in the technology operations and the Nordic 
Exchange is the global nature of the customer base. It includes leading 
international financial institutions and operators of infrastructure. 
These customers provide global insight and perspective as well as the 
scale required for OMX to maintain a leading market position.

Strategy
Utilizing the three cornerstones in the business model, OMX aims to 
exceed the increasingly rigorous market demands for efficient secu-
rities transactions. Specifically, this means that OMX works with stra-
tegic focus areas, a few of which are described below. The timeline for 
the different measures varies, but they will all be an integral part of 
OMX’s operations over the next few years.  

T H E  N O R D I C  E XC H A N G E

Through the development of the Nordic Exchange, the region’s com-
petitiveness is strengthened. The integration and development of the 
market is intended to make it more attractive for listings, investors 
and other players in the capital market by enabling lower total trans-
action costs, fewer systems and higher liquidity. 

Vision, business model and strategy
OMX is a leading expert in the global exchange industry. Through the 
use of its unique expertise, OMX aims to exceed the increasingly rigorous 
market demands for efficient securities transactions. 
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E X PA N S I O N  O F  I N FO R M AT I O N  O P E R AT I O N S

To meet the growing demand for information services and maintain a 
strong customer focus, OMX aims to expand its information operations. 
This will be achieved though the launch of new products and services, 
and through continuous work to enhance customer relations. 

L A U N C H  O F  G E N I U M  –  N E X T 
G E N E R AT I O N  O F  T E C H N O LO G I E S 

In the future, the pace and complexity of trading will increase, requir-
ing faster and more efficient systems for different types of market-
places. Accordingly, OMX will introduce new technologies for the 
exchange industry - Genium. Through standardized access and mod-
ular building blocks, OMX also aims to meet the demands of the 
future as regards speed, security and adaptability, in a cost-efficient 
manner.  

PA R T I C I PAT I O N  I N  T H E  D E V E LO P M E N T  O F  R E G I O N A L 
M A R K E T S

OMX will continue to develop the markets in the Baltic region so that 
they become a distinctive and attractive part of the OMX Nordic 

Exchange offering. In Eastern Europe, many marketplaces are faced 
with numerous challenges in the form of consolidation, privatization 
and change of corporate structure. OMX’s expertise within the 
exchange industry provides a firm base from which to participate in 
the transformation of these exchanges through advisory services, 
technology or other types of cooperation. 

T R A N S FO R M I N G  C H A N G E S  I N  R E G U L AT I O N S  I N TO 
 B U S I N E S S  O P P O R T U N I T I E S

Regulatory changes create opportunities and threats. OMX intends 
to use its strong position to create business and safeguard its role as 
the leading regional marketplace. This will be accomplished through 
product development, and by ensuring that OMX’s marketplaces 
maintain favorable liquidity and offer efficient trading.

D E L I V E R Y  O F  W O R L D - C L A S S  C U S TO M E R  S E R V I C E

To remain highly competitive and create value for shareholders, OMX 
works to continuously strengthen customer relations. Internal train-
ing and closer cooperation with customers are examples of measures 
employed to achieve this. 
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The global exchange industry is undergoing immense change. A high 
rate of market growth and shifting trading patterns in conjunction 
with increasingly rapid technology development and the harmoniza-
tion of markets creates new conditions for the world’s exchanges and 
their participants. For OMX, as an exchange owner and provider of 
solutions to other exchanges and marketplaces, this gives rise to both 
threats and opportunities. OMX’s strategy is based on the unique 
expertise that is derived from the ownership and operation of propri-
etary exchanges combined with the development of technology and 
systems operations for a global customer base. The strategy is con-
tinuously adapted to ensure that OMX is at the leading edge in a 
highly transitional business environment.

Evolving trading patterns 
Trading in equities and derivatives products are growth markets. In 
the most recent ten-year period, equities trading on the Nordic 
Exchange has grown on average by more than 20 percent annually, 
and trading in derivatives products by more than 14 percent.
 The profitability of listed companies and increased market capitaliza-
tion forms the basis for trading in equities and stock-related derivatives 
products. Trading in securities is impacted by fluctuations of the market 
and, to a certain extent, it is cyclical. However, the underlying and long-
term volume growth in the equities market is largely driven by structural 
changes. The market is developing and becoming more sophisticated; 
new investment strategies and increasingly efficient technology create 
the conditions for enhanced trading. Proof of this trend can be seen in 
the proportion of the total market capitalization that is traded annually 
(turnover rate) on what is today called the Nordic Exchange – in 1996, it 
was 47 percent, ten years later, it has increased to 132 percent.
 The structural growth is created by such factors as changes in demands 
on asset management and the market’s required return rate. One driv-
ing force is a rising life expectancy of an aging population that is invest-
ing a larger share of pension savings in shares or mutual funds. The 
traditional focus among the majority of institutional investors has been 
to ensure that their own investment strategy is more profitable than a 
comparative index. Today, demand is instead directed toward more sta-
ble returns, measured in absolute terms over a longer period, for which 
a more active and transaction-intensive management is required. An 
increasing number of hedge funds have entered the industry to cater to 
this demand. Other participants, such as traditional pension funds, are 
adopting new investment strategies and are also becoming increasingly 
active in their management. 
 At the same time, the use of more advanced and innovative methods 
and technologies for securities trading is spreading, resulting in an 
increasing number of transactions and a higher turnover rate. One 

example is the emergence of so-called program trading – pre-pro-
grammed trading of a portfolio of different equities over a limited period. 
One subset is called algorithmic trading, often involving the use of 
advanced mathematical models to trade in large blocks of shares by 
splitting them into smaller blocks and feeding them into the market as 
liquidity becomes available. Various forms of arbitrage trading, that is, 
trading based on systematically seeking and exploiting market imper-
fections, are also facilitated and enhanced using increasingly sophisti-
cated programs and models.
 
Technology development
Developments in technology have had a significant impact on secu-
rities trading. As the traditional exchange trading floor has essentially 
given way to electronic trading platforms, new opportunities have 
been created for automated trading. With efficient systems and more 
rapid communications, as well as with growing internet trading, 
accessibility in the market has increased both for institutional inves-
tors and for private individuals. Rapid trading growth and more exten-
sive use of technologies requiring high transaction speed has led to 
increasing demands on capacity, security and performance in trading 
and information systems. 
 The significance of information services in the securities market 
is also growing in pace with technological development and increas-
ingly active and event-driven trading. Automated systems that react 
quicker than a human trader require a higher level of information 
quality and rate of distribution.
 Technology development also influences internationalization and 
competition in capital markets. Today an investor can invest throughout 
the world using electronic systems and open interfaces. A global market 
has also opened up competition for exchange listings. A company that 
is considering a listing can choose between numerous exchanges world-
wide. This places higher demands on exchanges to safeguard their com-
petitiveness on an international scale. 
 To meet growing competition, it is attractive for many exchanges 
and market participants to replace systems developed in-house with 
standardized products from external suppliers. The substantial invest-
ment requirements and demands for enhanced efficiency lie behind 
another trend in the exchange industry – consolidation. Since 
exchanges and other marketplaces have a high level of fixed costs and 
relatively homogeneous business models, they are well suited for inte-
gration. Efficient, scaleable systems platforms and joint systems oper-
ations are the most important tools to achieve cost and income syn-
ergies in mergers in the securities market.
 New participants are constantly emerging in the securities market. 
This creates competition for older, established marketplaces, as new 

Global trends
Evolving trading patterns, rapidly developing technology, and the 
 harmonization of markets – the global exchange industry is moving 
faster than ever before.
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companies aim to take advantage of niches that would not have 
existed without technology development. One example of this in 
recent years is block-trading facilities – marketplaces that specialize 
in offering trading in large blocks of shares.

Harmonization of markets
Competition between marketplaces is intensifying – not only because 
of market growth and technology development. Another important 
driving force is the transition of many of the world’s main exchanges 
from member-owned organizations to profit-generating and listed 
companies. In the race for higher returns, this transition has resulted 
in higher demands on cost efficiency and more intensive product and 
business development. Growing competition often entails a down-
ward pressure on prices for exchanges and market participants, and 
accordingly, efforts to further reduce production costs.
 With the objective of increasing harmonization and competition 
in the financial markets, considerable changes are also simultane-
ously taking place concerning legislation and self-regulation in 
Europe and North America. In 1999, the EU adopted a plan of action 
to develop a common competitive internal market for financial serv-
ices. Most of the measures included in the plan have already been 
adopted. For example, new directives have been passed for financial 

reporting (IAS/ IFRS), market abuse and information disclosure for 
listed companies. One of the most important directives from the EU 
is the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID), which is 
expected to come into effect in 2007. This Directive will place signifi-
cant demands on securities institutions in Europe, for example, 
regarding the obligation to report securities transactions and the obli-
gation to publish order book information in connection with system-
atic internalized transactions. The latter gives banks and brokerages 
the opportunity to manage internal order flows on a greater scale, at 
the same time as it places higher demands on transparency.
 In conjunction with the introduction of MiFID, brokers will also be 
required to deliver the best possible execution of each individual order, 
performed to the highest possible standards with regard to price, order 
size, speed, efficiency in settlement and delivery, as well as commis-
sions and fees. A likely consequence of this is that trading will be 
directed toward those marketplaces that have the best efficiency and 
liquidity, and accordingly, the lowest transaction cost. MiFID will have 
a special significance for Europe’s exchanges in terms of their reporting 
obligations. Today, participants in the equities market are obligated to 
report their transactions to the local exchange in each country. With 
MiFID, the unique position of the exchanges in this regard will cease 
and alternative organizations will be established to register transac-
tions conducted outside the exchange.
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Through the Nordic Exchange, OMX offers access to securities trad-
ing in the Nordic financial market. Through its technology operations, 
OMX offers systems and operating solutions for exchanges and mar-
ketplaces worldwide.
 OMX is organized in three business areas that support both of 
OMX’s customer offerings. A prerequisite for the creation of the 
Nordic Exchange was that Nordic Marketplaces and Information 
Services & New Markets utilized the technology solutions from 
Market Technology. At the same time, experience and cooperation 
between the business areas is vital in the development and imple-
mentation of solutions and systems within the global technology 
operations.

Two customer offerings
T H E  N O R D I C  E XC H A N G E 

The Nordic Exchange comprises the exchange operations in Stock-
holm, Helsinki, Copenhagen, Iceland, Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius. In 
addition to trading in equities, bonds and derivatives, the offering 
also includes services to listed companies and information services 
to players in the financial market. As well as the main market, the 
Nordic Exchange also encompasses the alternative marketplace First 
North, which is offered for growth companies. The Nordic Exchange 
is currently Europe’s fifth largest exchange, measured in the number 
of transactions. 

T H E  G LO B A L  T E C H N O LO G Y  O P E R AT I O N S

OMX’s global technology operations enable efficient securities trans-
actions for more than 60 customers in over 50 countries. The offering 
consists of technology solutions for trading, clearing and settlement, 
as well as the distribution of market information. In addition to systems 
solutions, OMX offers advisory services, systems integration, and oper-
ation (facility management) and support of all components included 
in a turnkey IT solution for a marketplace. OMX currently manages 
operations for 16 marketplaces, and accordingly, it is the world’s largest 
exchange operator measured in the number of operating hours. 

Three business areas 
To best meet requirements for business development and control in 
various areas of OMX, the organization is divided into three business 
areas.
•  Nordic Marketplaces (48 percent of Group revenue) comprises the 

exchange operations in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Ice-
land.

•  Information Services & New Markets (17 percent of Group revenue) 
comprises OMX’s information services, the exchanges in the Baltic 
states and Broker Services. The business area is also a base for 
future business opportunities into new markets.

•  Market Technology (35 percent of Group revenue) comprises the 
delivery of technology and services to marketplaces throughout 
the world. 

OMX is a leading expert in the global exchange industry. Customers 
meet OMX through two offerings – the Nordic Exchange and the 
 technology operations. The organization has three business areas.

O M X ’ S  O P E R AT I O N S 

Technology operations

Nordic Exchange

Market 
Technology

Nordic 
Marketplaces

Information
Services 
& New Markets
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The business area Nordic Marketplaces encompasses OMX’s 
exchanges in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland. The 
exchanges has one main market and an alternative marketplace called 
First North. The operations encompass products and services in trad-
ing, clearing and listing of securities. The joint offering of trading, 
listing and information services and the exchanges in Riga, Tallinn 
and Vilnius are marketed as the Nordic Exchange. 
 OMX’s strategy is to continue integration in the Nordic market and 
to increase its range of services through the Nordic Exchange. This 
will create a strong Nordic market with simpler and more efficient 
trading across national borders. By enhancing visibility and access to 
Nordic companies internationally, OMX will contribute to enhancing 
trading and development of the region’s financial market which will, 
in turn, strengthen the Nordic Exchange’s competitiveness. 

The past year
For Nordic Marketplaces, 2006 was characterized by record high lev-
els of activity in trading and listings. Major efforts in the business 
area during the year were devoted to the launch of the Nordic 
Exchange on October 2. In order to make it easier to find and compare 
companies in the Nordic Exchange’s main market, Swedish, Danish 
and Finnish companies are now presented together, classified by mar-
ket capitalization, sector and in alphabetical order. Icelandic compa-
nies will also be included in the same presentation model in 2007. 
Other important developments in the business area includes expand-
ing First North to encompass Denmark, Sweden and Iceland; harmo-
nizing listing requirements for the main markets in Sweden, Finland 

and Denmark; the introduction of a common Nordic exchange mem-
bership, which enables members to trade on the Nordic Exchange in 
Stockholm, Copenhagen and Helsinki with a single membership fee. 
The Iceland Stock Exchange and Icelandic Securities Depository were 
acquired in November. With this acquisition, OMX has merged seven 
exchanges in three years. In December it was announced that trading 
fees for reported equity transactions would be harmonized and 
reduced by approximately 50 percent from April 2, 2007. 

Trading and clearing 
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

Trading on the Nordic Exchange takes place through members. These 
banks and securities brokers provide a broad distribution network 
that contributes to the liquidity of the traded financial instruments. 
Trades are made on behalf of the exchange members themselves and 
for the exchange members’ customers, that is to say, investors in the 
form of institutions or private individuals. 
 OMX offers its members cash trading in Nordic securities such as 
equities and depository receipts, warrants, convertibles, rights, fund 
units, options, exchange-traded funds, bonds and other interest-
related products. Settlement and registration of cash trading takes 
place in Sweden and Finland via the Nordic Central Securities Depos-
itory (NSCD), and in Denmark and Iceland via the VP and ISD securi-
ties depositories, respectively.  
 Members can also trade in derivatives, such as stock options and 
futures, index options and futures, fixed-income options and futures 
and stock loans. OMX offers clearing services in these products by 

Nordic Marketplaces 
2006 was characterized by record high levels of activity both in trading 
and listings – core services of the Nordic Exchange.
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serving as the central counterparty. In doing so, OMX guarantees the 
completion of the transaction and market participants can thereby 
limit their counterparty risk. OMX also acts as the counterparty for 
certain transactions that take place outside the exchange, known as 
OTC trading. The transactions are reported electronically prior to cen-
tral counterparty clearing and OMX thereby guarantees the comple-
tion of the transaction. Products included in this service are fixed-
income options and futures, non-standardized stock options and 
futures and non-standardized index options and futures.
 Following the completion of a transaction, settlement takes place 
between parties with the exchange of the securities and funds. The 
transfer of ownership is registered and the securities are stored on 
the owner’s behalf. 

M A R K E T 

The year 2006 saw a sharp increase in turnover in the securities market. 
Compared with the year-earlier period, the number of equity transac-
tions on the Nordic Exchange increased by 46 percent and the total 
value of equity trading rose by 36 percent. The number of traded deriv-
atives contracts increased during the same period by 15 percent. 
 Measured by number of transactions, the Nordic Exchange is the 
fifth largest exchange operation in Europe with a market share of 
7 percent. In terms of trading in equity-related derivatives products, 
OMX operates Europe’s third largest exchange with a market share 
of approximately 8 percent. Trading in equities or derivatives products 
tends to center on the marketplaces that offer the highest possible 
liquidity. In recent years, Ericsson and Nokia share prices have risen 
substantially on the Nordic Exchange compared with the other 
exchanges on which these companies are listed. 
 A method of measuring the efficiency of exchange operations is 
the turnover rate, meaning the portion of the exchange’s total market 
capitalization that is traded over one year. The turnover rate for the 
Nordic Exchange during the year increased to 132 percent (117).

C U S TO M E R S

In terms of volume, OMX’s largest equities trading customers, that is 
exchange members, are SEB, Carnegie, Svenska Handelsbanken, Mor-
gan Stanley, Nordea and Fischer Partners. The largest derivatives trad-
ing customers are, in terms of volume, SEB, Hagströmer & Qviberg, 
Svenska Handelsbanken, Carnegie, Swedbank, Nordnet and Nordea.

 During 2006, 21 members joined the Nordic Exchange in Stock-
holm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland. These exchanges have a 
total of 127 (124) members, of which 63 (53) are members of more than 
one exchange. Cooperation between the Nordic Exchange and 
exchange members is an innovation process, and during the year has 
led to an increasing number of members that have a standardized 
price list for trading in Nordic securities. 

CO M P E T I TO R S

Exchanges compete for trading and listings. Competition in trading 
relates mainly to equities, derivatives and bonds. 
 The largest exchanges in Europe are the London Stock Exchange, 
Euronext, Deutsche Börse, Borsa Italiana, OMX Nordic Exchange, the 
Spanish Exchanges (BME) and SWX Swiss Exchange. Other major 
exchanges around the world include the New York Stock Exchange 
(merging with Euronext), NASDAQ, the Tokyo Stock Exchange and 
the Korea Exchange. In Sweden, there is also NGM and Aktietorget. 
In bond trading, OMX competes with alternative marketplaces such 
as MTS.
 For derivatives products, competition comes in the form of trading 
and clearing that takes place outside the exchange, known as OTC trad-
ing, usually through banks and brokerage firms or through trading and 
clearing with other exchanges. The largest derivatives exchanges in 
Europe are Eurex and Euronext.liffe, which together with the Interna-
tional Securities Exchange (ISE) and Chicago Board Options Exchange 
are the largest equity options exchanges in the world.
 The implementation of the new EU Directive MiFID (2007) will 
facilitate the establishment of new marketplaces for trading and is 
therefore expected to contribute to increased competition. 

R E V E N U E  M O D E L  

Trading revenues include revenue from trading in equities, bonds and 
derivatives, as well as from the clearing of derivatives and bonds. The 
size of trading fees is a function of both volume and value and these 
are charged to exchange members. The two most important parameters 
for revenue from equities trading are the value of equity turnover and 
the number of transactions. The most important parameter for trading 
and clearing of derivatives products is the number of traded contracts. 
The size of option premiums also has a certain degree of significance 
to revenues for trading and clearing in Swedish stock options. 
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Listing 
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

OMX offers listings on the Nordic Exchange in Stockholm, Helsinki, 
Copenhagen and Iceland. The customers issue securities in the form 
of equities and depository receipts, warrants, fund units, exchange-
traded funds, convertibles, rights, options, bonds and other interest-
related products. 
 As an example of services to listed companies, the Nordic Exchange 
in Stockholm and Helsinki also offers a service guaranteeing liquidity 
for companies with a low level of trading. By engaging a liquidity pro-
vider, most often a bank or brokerage, companies can secure a better 
pricing scenario for their shares. At year-end, 127 companies on the 
Nordic Exchange had liquidity providers.
 For growth companies, the Nordic Exchange offers access to the 
financial market through the alternative marketplace First North, 
with a simpler regulatory framework than OMX’s main market. 

M A R K E T 

The market for listing services is primarily dependent on the econ-
omy, access to and costs for alternative sources of financing as well 
as the perception of the attractiveness of exchange listing and financ-
ing. The total market capitalization for companies on the Nordic 
Exchange at year-end was SEK 8,306 billion, making it the sixth larg-
est among Europe’s marketplaces. At the same time, the Nordic 
Exchange is a world leader in certain sectors. Measured in terms of 
the market capitalization of listed companies, The Nordic Exchange 
is the largest in Europe for IT companies, the largest in the world for 
the paper industry, the second largest in the world for retail fashion 
and third largest in the world for industrial machinery. 

C U S TO M E R S

OMX’s customers are organizations such as companies, funds or gov-
ernments that issue and list securities on the Nordic Exchange. One 
inidicator of market activity is the number of new companies added 
during a year. In 2006 the number of new companies doubled compared 
with 2005. A total of 103 (42) new companies1) were listed, of which 58 

(32) joined the main market and 45 (10) First North. Some of the largest 
customers among listed companies are Nokia, Ericsson, A.P. Møller -
Mærsk, Nordea, Hennes & Mauritz, TeliaSonera, Danske Bank and 
Volvo.

CO M P E T I TO R S

Competition primarily relates to the exchange choices available to 
companies considering a new or secondary listing. The larger global 
exchanges include the London Stock Exchange, Euronext, Deutsche 
Börse, Borsa Italiana, the Spanish Exchanges, SWX Swiss Exchange, 
the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ, the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
and the Korea Exchange. In Sweden, there is also NGM and the regu-
lated marketplace Aktietorget. International equivalents to First 
North are, for example, AIM on the London Stock Exchange and 
Alternext on Euronext. A well-functioning financial market also offers 
many different sources for raising capital in addition to the exchange, 
for example, through bank loans or financing via private equity. 

R E V E N U E  M O D E L 

Revenues for listing services comprise the initial fee and the ongoing 
fees each company pays for being listed. The fee is determined by the 
market capitalization of the company. The revenue model for First North 
works in the same way as for the main market, although companies on 
First North are generally smaller, generating lower revenues.

Cooperation and partnerships
Through cooperation and partnerships, OMX participates actively in 
the development of both the national and international capital mar-
kets. LEC (Linked Exchanges and Clearing) is the trading and clearing 
link for derivatives products, established in London and Oslo. OMX 
is also part-owner of the EDX London derivatives exchange (jointly 
owned by the London Stock Exchange) which, via LEC, offers trading 
in Nordic and Russian equity-related derivatives with local clearing 
in the UK. Via EUREX, OMX cooperates on trading in the most traded 
Finnish derivatives contracts as well as in options and futures on 
OMXH25.
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Systems and technology
OMX’s technology solutions were a prerequisite for creating the Nordic 
Exchange and ensuring efficient securities transactions. Given OMX’s 
leading global expertise in exchange technology, The Nordic Exchange 
has been able to manage the substantial growth in volumes in recent 
years and today rates highly in technological stability, performance, 
capacity and functionality. Experiences gained thought its global cus-
tomer base ensure the continued development of both technology and 
services. The Nordic Exchange is one of OMX’s most demanding and 
challenging technology customers and plays a distinct role as the driver 
of developments in existing and new systems. 

Market surveillance
Confidence in capital markets is paramount for trading to function 
properly. The Nordic Exchange carries out effective market surveil-
lance, which is an independent unit and is clearly separated from the 
business operations. The surveillance department is responsible for 
the formal listing process of various financial instruments and for 
ensuring that listed companies and members follow the exchanges’ 
rules. In Stockholm and Helsinki, decisions to list new companies are 

made by the listing committees of the exchanges. In Copenhagen, 
listing decisions are made by the President of the exchange, a duty 
delegated by the Board of the Copenhagen Stock Exchange.
 If there is suspicion that a listed company or member has acted in 
breach of exchange regulations, the matter is dealt with by market 
surveillance. Serious breaches are considered by the respective disc-
iplinary committees in Stockholm and Helsinki. In Copenhagen, all 
matters are dealt with by market surveillance. Trading that is sus-
pected to breach insider trading is reported to the appropriate author-
ities in each country.
 The work of harmonizing the structure and processes for market 
surveillance in the Nordic region continues. When the Nordic 
Exchange was launched, the listing requirements for OMX’s exchanges 
in Stockholm, Copenhagen and Helsinki were harmonized. There are 
plans for a company committee and disciplinary committee to be 
established in Copenhagen during 2007. In conjunction with this, the 
listing process will also be harmonized for the Nordic Exchange in 
Stockholm, Helsinki and Copenhagen. A harmonized set of regula-
tions for listed companies is expected to come into effect in 2008.
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M O S T- T R A D E D  S H A R E S ,  � � � �
Daily turnover  Number 
Company SEK m of trades
Nokia 	,	�� �,���
Ericsson �,��� 	,���
Atlas Copco �,��� �,��

Nordea �,��� �,��	
Boliden �,��� �,�	�
Volvo �,��� �,�	�
TeliaSonera ��	 �,

�
H&M ��� �,���
AstraZeneca ��� �,�
	

Sandvik ��� �,���
Total, most-traded shares ��,	�	 �
,���
Others  ��,��	 
	,���
Total ��,��� ���,��� 

MOST-TRADED DERIVATIVES, ����
Underlying    Turnover, number 
instrument Product of contracts per day
Ericsson B        Put options 
�,���
OMXS��                Futures 
�,���
Ericsson B          Call options ��,���
OMXS��     Call options �
,���
OMXS��    Put options �	,���
Ericsson B          Futures ��,���
TeliaSonera        Put options �,���
TeliaSonera       Call options 	,���
H&M B   Put options �,���
AstraZeneca  Put options �,	�

Total most-traded derivatives products  ���,���
Others    ���,���
Total  ���,	�	

Main market

First North (or 
previous equivalent
marketplace)

�

��

��

��

��

���

�������	������������

N U M B E R  O F  N E W  C O M P A N I E S  P E R  Y E A R

Number

LARGEST EXCHANGE MEMBERS ����

 Percentage of  
Member  equity turnover, % 
SEB �.�
Carnegie  �.�
Svenska Handelsbanken 	.�
Morgan Stanley 	.�
Nordea  �.�
Glitnir (formerly Fischer Partners) �.�
Goldman Sachs International �.�
Lehman Brothers International �.�
Deutsche Bank �.�

Merrill Lynch International �.�
Total, largest exchange members  �
.�
Others  	�.�
Total �		.	



The route to Nordic integration
Creation of an integrated market leading to increased customer benefit and higher growth
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2006

The Nordic Exchange

The launch of the Nordic Exchange is only the beginning. The 

creation of a common market involves the close cooperation of 

the exchange, banks, brokerages, risk capital managers, central 

security depositories and other interest groups over the long 

term. Step by step, OMX services and offering will be custom-

ized to meet even newer demands that emerge with the com-

mon exchange. And step by step, OMX will achieve a bigger, less 

costly and more effective way for providing Nordic companies 

with risk capital. The Iceland Stock Exchange was recently inte-

grated and the expansion of First North in Finland and the  Baltic 

states are the next areas of focus.

T R A D I N G  S TAT I S T I C S � )  
Equity trading  �		� �		�

Turnover, SEK bn  
,��� �,���

Turnover per day, SEK bn  ��,�		 ��,��


Number of trades per day ���,��� ��,���

Market capitalization, SEK bn �,��	 �,���

Turnover rate, % ��� ���

Bond trading  

Turnover, SEK m ��,
��,	�� ��,��	,��


 Exchange traded �
�,
�� ���,���

 Reported ��,�
�,��� ��,���,���

Daily turnover, SEK m ��,��� 
�,���

 Exchange traded ��
 	��

 Reported ��,�
� 
	,	��

Derivatives trading   
Equity-related products2)  

Turnover, number of contracts ��	,���,�
	 ���,���,�	�

Turnover, number of contracts per day 	��,��	 ���,�	�

Fixed-income related products3)  

Turnover, number of contracts ��,��
,��� 
,��	,���

Turnover, number of contracts per day 	�,��� ��,���

Warrant trading   

Turnover, SEK bn ��.� ��.�

Turnover per day, SEK ���s ��	,��
 	�,�		

Number of trades per day �,��� �,	��

Number of members �	
 ���

�) Includes the exchanges in the Baltic Market organized under Information Services & 
New Markets. �) Includes trading in Nordic derivatives at EDX London and Finnish equity 
derivatives traded on Eurex. �) Stockholm and EDX London.



The business area Information Services & New Markets contains Infor-
mation Services, Baltic Market and OMX’s service operations in securi-
ties administration, Broker Services. The latter was introduced to the 
business area in February 2006 and also comprises technology solu-
tions from January 1, 2007. The business area also aims to identify busi-
ness opportunities with a high level of growth, both in terms of prod-
ucts, services and geographic markets. The Nordic Exchange concept 
includes trading and listing services in the Baltic countries and infor-
mation sales from all of OMX’s marketplaces together with the 
exchange operations in the Nordic region (organized under Nordic 
Marketplaces).

The past year
For the business area, the year was characterized by high levels of 
market activity and a focus on product and service development. 
Information operations in 2006 were primarily focused on the Nordic 
Exchange launch. Information products and communications serv-
ices that were previously defined by specific countries have been 
replaced by pan-Nordic solutions. Combined with the harmonization 
of the contract structure, this ensures that all customers on the Nor-
dic Exchange are offered the same conditions. In addition, these devel-
opments mean that individual customers now have only one point 
of contact and one contract with OMX. Important advances in the 
business area during the year include the launch of the Nordic index 
family, the introduction of Nordic real-time products and the launch 
of pan-Nordic and Baltic communications services. 
 In the Baltic Market, work to integrate and develop the Baltic market-

place continued. A new Baltic index family was introduced. In order to 
facilitate better investment decisions, the Baltic exchanges launched the 
web-based service Baltic Fund Center with a compilation of information 
on Baltic funds. Accordingly, investors have a better tool for comparing 
and evaluating investment opportunities. During the year, the time-
frames for settlement were harmonized in the Baltic States.
 In Broker Services, the year was characterized by an increased focus 
on sales and the development of internal processes. Danish securities 
services to Swedish members were also introduced. At the beginning 
of 2007, operations were expanded to include systems for securities 
administration in conjunction with an outsourcing systems develop-
ment agreement with the Indian company HCL Technologies. 
 At the end of 2006, OMX announced its bid on all of the shares in 
the Ljubljana Stock Exchange in Slovenia.

Information Services
Information Services encompasses all of OMX’s information prod-
ucts. Information is an increasingly important factor to participants 
on the Nordic Exchange. The business area develops the Nordic and 
Baltic range of products and services intended to enhance transpar-
ency and enable local investors to more easily ascertain the invest-
ment opportunities in the entire region and, at the same time, give 
international investors greater insight into the Nordic and Baltic secu-
rities market. 

P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

Information products and services are based on the trading informa-

Information Services & New Markets 
Information services comprise an important part of the Nordic Exchange. 
The Baltic exchanges that are included under the Nordic Exchange and OMX 
services in securities administration are also found in this business area.
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tion from the Nordic Exchange on three classes of securities: equities, 
bonds and derivatives instruments. Based on raw and processed data, 
OMX provides information in real-time, with a time delay or in 
batches. The products and services are packaged for market profes-
sionals as well as for private individuals, and include real-time infor-
mation on order books, specific transactions and share-price trends, 
the compilation and calculation of reference information such as 
indexes and the presentation of statistics. Information Services also 
helps listed companies to instantaneously distribute sensitive share-
price information to the media, analysts, investors and other stake-
holders. In 2006, the information-related products and services 
encompassed information from six exchanges, and as of 2007, the 
Iceland Stock Exchange is included. 
 The business area also includes OMX’s training services for brokers 
and courses in equity and derivatives trading for professional and pri-
vate investors.
 The implementation of the forthcoming EU transparency Directive 
(2007) will expose the information operations to a higher level of com-
petition. In light of this, OMX has developed a new comprehensive com-
munications service for listed companies called Company News Service. 
This new service was launched during the first quarter of 2007.

M A R K E T

The exchange industry is developing rapidly and the use of market 
information has increased substantially in recent years. There is 
extensive demand from investors to receive high quality information 
in order make as favorable an investment decision as possible. Since 
an increasingly large portion of trading today is automated and takes 
place at a rate that far exceeds human capacity, requirements for the 
speed of information delivery are also escalating. By raising the bar 
of information delivery, there are excellent opportunities to improve 
the quality of the marketplaces, increase volumes, increase revenues 
and generate competitive advantage. 
 Laws, regulations and increasing demand from investors for rapid 
and reliable information are forces driving the development of the mar-
ket for communications tools. Companies use these tools to distribute 
information to the media, analysts, professional traders and private 
investors in an efficient manner. The market is subject to intense com-

petition with a number of large international companies and smaller, 
local niche players. OMX endeavors to be the first choice for these serv-
ices in the Nordic and Baltic regions.

C U S TO M E R S

OMX supplies information to a large number of customers. The most 
important customers include exchange members (banks and securi-
ties brokers), information vendors and to a certain extent private 
investors for market and analyst information, and listed companies 
for communications services. Information vendors on the interna-
tional market include Reuters, Bloomberg and Thomson Financial 
and in the Nordic market SIX and Kauppalehti.
 In 2006, OMX attracted new vendors from the international invest-
ment banking segment and vendors targeting the Nordic investment 
market. Small and medium-sized local and regional banks have also 
indicated renewed interest.

CO M P E T I TO R S

Information services are based to a large extent on the information orig-
inating on the Nordic Exchange. The more the information is refined, 
the more competition increases as other companies provide similar serv-
ices. The main competitors for the Company News Service are Observer 
and Hugin (owned by Euronext).

R E V E N U E  M O D E L

OMX’s revenues from Information Services are generated primarily 
through sales and distribution of market information whereby revenues 
are based on the number of end-users. In addition, Information Services 
sells communications services to information vendors, exchange mem-
bers, issuers and professional investors. Training is another source of 
revenue, which is based on the number of course participants.

Baltic Market
The Baltic Market operations comprise the Tallinn Stock Exchange 
(Estonia), Riga Stock Exchange (Latvia) and the Vilnius Stock 
Exchange (Lithuania). The exchanges in Riga and Vilnius are owned 
by OMX, while the ownership of the Tallinn Stock Exchange amounts 
to 62 percent. Furthermore, OMX owns the central securities depos-
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I N TÄ K T S K Ä L LO R
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S O U R C E S  O F  R E V E N U E 
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itories in Estonia and Latvia, and 40 percent of the central securities 
depository in Lithuania. 
 Through the Baltic Market, OMX aims to minimize the differences 
between these three national exchanges and to make these markets 
a distinctive and attractive part of the Nordic Exchange.  

P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

In the Baltic markets, OMX Nordic Exchange offers its members trad-
ing, clearing, payment and custody services. Issuers, primarily large 
companies, are offered listing and a distribution network for their vari-
ous securities. The securities traded are mainly equities, bonds and treas-
ury bills. Clearing, payment and custody services are offered through 
the wholly-owned central securities depositories in Estonia and Latvia, 
and part ownership of the central securities depository in Lithuania. In 
addition, in Estonia and Latvia, OMX provides registry maintenance of 
the fund units included in the obligatory pension funds, and in Estonia, 
the maintenance of shareholder registers for listed companies if 
desired.
 The Baltic Market will strengthen its position by expanding its offer-
ing with a wider range of Baltic services and instruments to private and 
institutional customers. The launch of an alternative marketplace for 
growth companies will be prioritized as well as a new presentation model 
for listed companies by international standards.

M A R K E T

During 2006, the three Baltic States had the highest growth rate in 
the EU. Growth is based on continued strong domestic demand in all 
three countries, primarily in such areas as construction, property, 
business and trade. Strong growth in the financial sector is driven by 
increased trading in the region and an increased number of listed 
companies and educated investors. At the end of 2006, 98 (103) com-
panies and 68 (80) bonds were listed on the Baltic Market exchanges. 
The number of equity transactions per day increased from 903 in 2005 
to 996 in 2006. The total market capitalization of listed companies rose 
from SEK 113 billion in 2005 to SEK 129 billion in 2006. 

C U S TO M E R S

Baltic Market’s customers include exchange members (banks and 
securities brokers), issuers, fund managers, account operators and 
information vendors. Baltic Market has a total of 40 members, of 
which 15 are members of all three Baltic exchanges. The largest cus-
tomers are Hansabank (part of Swedbank), SEB and Suprema. In 2006, 
six companies were introduced on the Baltic exchanges. 

CO M P E T I TO R S

Exchanges compete with each other for trading and listings.There are 
also other options than the exchange for raising capital, such as through 
bank loans and private equity companies. The loan market has long 
been a competitive alternative in the Baltic States for companies wish-
ing to finance growth and expansion. In recent years, private equity 
players have increased their presence and activities in the region.

R E V E N U E  M O D E L

Similar to Nordic Marketplaces, OMX’s revenues from the Baltic Mar-
ket business unit are generated from trading, clearing and settlement, 
fees from issuers, membership fees, but also the sale of market infor-
mation. Revenues also include income from the central securities 
depositories in Tallinn and Riga, in which the number of registered 
accounts and transactions are the most important parameters.   

Broker Services 
From January 1, 2007, OMX has integrated its technology and service 
units in securities administration into one unit. The technology serv-
ices were previously found in operations being discontinued, where 
only the UK operations for securities administration now remain. 
Through Broker Services, OMX simplifies the administration of secu-
rities required when trading on the Nordic Exchange. 
 To further develop administration systems solutions and services, 
OMX has signed an outsourcing agreement with HCL Technologies 
which will carry out a large part of the development work. Offering 
competitive back-office and custody services is part of OMX’s strategy 
for the Nordic Exchange. Broker Services comes under the super-

Information Services
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vision of the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.

P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

Services comprise a number of offerings. “Back Office for Hire” is tar-
geted toward financial players who want to entirely or partly outsource 
their back-office securities administration. “Remote Member Service” 
offers remote members on the Nordic exchanges settlement and custody 
services. Through “Account Operator Service,” account handling services 
are provided for financial players holding accounts with the Nordic cen-
tral securities depositories. “Corporate Finance Administration” offers 
financial players administrative services for exchange listings, share 
issues and registration with securities depositories. For financial par-
ticipants with active operations in the Nordic market, “System Solu-
tions” offers securities administration systems solutions for mid- and 
back-office and custody. Systems solutions are offered as either total 
solutions including operational services or as license services. 

M A R K E T

Many financial participants active in the Nordic market have chosen 
not to administer the settlement and depository of securities and/or 
operate their securities systems themselves. This may be due to insuf-
ficient volumes or strategic choices in resource allocation. Many play-
ers have operations throughout the Nordic region, which imposes cer-
tain demands on services and administration. 

C U S TO M E R S

Broker Services’ customers comprise Nordic and international banks, 
securities brokers and asset managers with institutional trading opera-
tions, private banking and custody services in the Nordic region. Broker 
Services currently has some 50 customers in the Nordic countries.

CO M P E T I TO R S

The primary alternative for back-office services is the customers’ own 
in-house operations. In addition, there are a number of smaller play-
ers who can undertake parts of the services. In systems solutions, 
there are a number of global as well as regional competitors.

R E V E N U E  M O D E L

Revenues in Broker Services are based on a fixed basic fee for adminis-
tration or licensing, maintenance and operations, and a variable portion 
that depends on the number of transactions completed. For pure licens-
ing services, a license fee and a monthly maintenance fee are charged.

New Markets
OMX continues its focus on entirely new securities markets, primarily 
in Eastern Europe. Many exchanges are considering partnerships, 
upgrading technology solutions and taking other measures to further 
the development of their marketplaces. With its experience in devel-
oping the Nordic market and as a leading provider of exchange tech-
nology, OMX is in a strong position to take an active role in trans-
forming these exchanges. Depending on the situation, activities could 
range from advisory services and technology partnerships to joint 
ventures and ownership.

Cooperation and partnership
OMX is continuously expanding its offering through cooperation and 
partnerships. In 2006, the Nordic Exchange developed the VINX index 
together with Oslo Børs and the Iceland Stock Exchange. For Company 
News Service, OMX also works together with PR Newswire, a leading 
international company in news and information distribution services. 
Since January 2007, OMX has been working together with the promi-
nent Indian software company HCL Technologies in the development 
and operation of securities administration systems.

Systems and technology
OMX’s technology solutions were a prerequisite for creating the Nor-
dic Exchange, and its world-leading expertise in exchange technology 
enables the development of new information services. 
 Experiences gained through OMX’s global customer base ensure 
the continued development of technology and services.  Information 
Services & New Markets is an innovator in information services and 
therefore an important driver in the development of new function-
ality and products.
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OMX’s technology operations are found in the Market Technology 
business area. OMX develops and delivers solutions for securities 
trading, clearing and settlement, and information dissemination. 
Today, OMX solutions enable efficient securities transactions for 
more than 60 customers – exchanges and other marketplaces – in 
over 50 countries. OMX is the world’s largest supplier of technology 
solutions to the exchange industry. A central part of OMX’s strategy 
is the development of next generation technology – Genium.

The past year
During the year, the business area strengthened its focus on exchanges, 
clearing organizations and central securities depositories. Activities 
in the market intensified and widespread interest in OMX’s solutions 
from existing and new customers resulted in an increase in order 
intake of 57 percent compared to 2005. 
 Several new agreements with existing and new customers were 
signed during the year. OMX’s order intake includes orders from 
Dubai Financial Market for a new trading system and from the Saudi 
Stock Market Tadawul for the design, delivery and support of a com-
plete trading and clearing system. Other examples of new orders: 
Borsa Italiana,for the total operation of its derivatives market; a long-
term licensing agreement with International Securities Exchange 
(ISE); and the delivery of solutions to a number of alternative trading 
systems, such as the Italian company TLX.
 The acquisition of Computershare’s Markets Technology business 
was completed in January. Adding a large customer base and a con-
siderably enlarged customer offering, the acquisition has also 

strengthened OMX’s positions in the Middle East and North Africa. 
In the spring 2006, a joint initiative was taken with Deutsche Börse 
to create a uniform communications standard for exchange trading 
and information dissemination. 
 
Technology solutions for trading
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

OMX’s technology solutions are sold throughout the world and are uti-
lized by exchanges, alternative trading venues, and by banks and securi-
ties brokers with marketplace offerings of their own. The systems support 
many types of instruments, ranging from cash equities trading to com-
plex derivatives products. Furthermore, the systems can handle all asset 
classes, for example currencies, different types of interest-bearing secu-
rities and energy.
 

M A R K E T

The market for the exchanges is characterized by an accelerating rate 
of change. The ability to quickly manage change has become a highly 
significant success factor to exchanges across the world. Particular 
focus during the year was on industry consolidation, the effects of 
new laws and regulations, capacity and performance.
 Today, OMX’s solutions are mainly purchased by established 
exchanges. Trading and information volumes are continuously 
increasing, through such developments as consolidation, new trading 
patterns, algorithmic trading, growing direct market access, etc. 
Upgrading or replacing existing systems to meet growing demands 
for flexibility and efficiency are often the primary driving forces for 

Market Technology  
OMX solutions facilitate efficient securities transactions for more than 
60 exchanges and other marketplaces in over 50 countries.  
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investment decisions. Many exchanges have traditionally developed 
their own systems internally. However, the current trend is clearly 
toward standardized systems that can be adapted to the customer’s 
specific situation to meet all requirements. At the same time, there is 
a trend in establishing new exchanges, particularly in developing 
countries, which have immense needs for support in creating and 
developing a functioning financial market. From a systems perspec-
tive, proven solutions that can quickly be put into operation without 
the need for extensive adaptations are desirable.
 New legislation and regulations that aim to stimulate competition 
and enhance transparency in exchange trading are becoming increas-
ingly important. Such regulations also permit new, less regulated mar-
ketplaces that can function in parallel with the main exchanges. These 
new marketplaces are launched by established exchanges, banks and 
securities brokers and by brand new players. Characteristic of this mar-
ket segment is a high demand for turnkey solutions, whereby perform-
ance and costs are largely governed by investment decisions.  

C U S TO M E R S

In addition to OMX Nordic Exchange, OMX’s trading solutions are uti-
lized by, among others, the Australian Securities Exchange, Borsa Italiana, 
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing, ISE (International Securities 
Exchange), SWX Swiss Exchange, Singapore Exchange and Wiener Börse. 
Customers among alternative marketplaces include TLX in Italy. OMX 
also supplies solutions to ICAP for its interest-rate and swap markets.

CO M P E T I TO R S

Many exchanges have traditionally developed their own systems 
internally, often assisted by consulting companies and local suppliers 
of components. Competitors who provide trading solutions include 
Atos Euronext Market Solutions and Accenture. Examples of com-
petitors in the market for the operation of exchange systems are 
Accenture, HP and IBM. 

Technology solutions for clearing & settlement
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

In the post trade area, OMX offers integrated systems solutions for clear-
ing (risk management) and settlement (settlement and delivery) of both 
cash equities and derivatives. OMX also offers the systems for handling 
the administration of securities in securities depositories. These systems 

have been designed to be able to communicate with various trading 
systems and with other clearing or securities systems. They can handle 
the administration of all classes of assets such as currencies, different 
types of interest-bearing securities or energy.

M A R K E T 

The market for clearing, settlement and central custody of securities 
is today characterized by rigorous demands for efficiency from cus-
tomers, since the costs for clearing and settlement, expressed as a 
percentage of the total transaction costs, remain very high. 
 OMX’s solutions are mainly purchased by established exchange 
organizations that also offer clearing and settlement services. An 
increasingly important factor for the investment decision is the pos-
sibility of being able to easily integrate clearing, settlement and cus-
tody services with trading systems. 
 Legislative and regulatory initiatives are currently underway with 
the aim of strengthening post trade competition. Growing cross-bor-
der trading also increases the need for system functionality that sup-
ports different currencies and foreign securities. Many clearing organ-
izations and securities depositories are continuing to develop their 
own systems solutions. As demands for efficiency grows so does the 
need for standardized systems solutions adapted to the demands of 
a majority of customers.
 
C U S TO M E R S 

OMX currently has an international customer base comprising more 
than 20 clearing organizations and securities depositories. Customers 
are primarily exchanges offering these services as part of their opera-
tions. In addition to OMX Nordic Exchange and the Icelandic Central 
Securities Depository, the solutions are utilized by, among others, Abu 
Dhabi Securities Market, the Australian Securities Exchange, the Dubai 
Financial Market, Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing, the Korea 
Exchange, Nord Pool and Wiener Börse.

CO M P E T I TO R S

The majority of exchanges, clearing houses and securities depositories 
have traditionally developed their own systems internally, often assisted 
by consulting companies and local suppliers of components. Competi-
tors who provide clearing and settlement solutions include Atos Euron-
ext Market Solutions, Tata Consultancy Services and Clearstream.

Market Technology

S E R V I C E S  A N D  P R O D U C T S C U S TO M E R S

Technology solutions for trading

Technology solutions for clearing & 
settlement

S O U R C E S  O F  R E V E N U E 

• Sale of systems licenses

• Revenue from technology projects

• Revenue from support of installed systems

• Exchanges and marketplaces

• Clearing organizations and securities depositories

Technology solutions for information 
 dissemination

• Exchanges and marketplaces

• Information vendors

Facility management, integration and 
 advisory services

• All customer categories •  Revenue from facility management 
 services, integration and advisory services



Facility management, integration and advisory 
services
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

OMX offers operation and support for the applications, systems plat-
forms, networks and other components included in a turnkey IT solu-
tion. By transferring the operation and support of systems to OMX, 
the customer can focus on its core operations and reduce its opera-
tional risk level. At the same time, substantial economies of scale are 
achieved, whereby the customer gains access to existing, effective 
technology and infrastructure.
 A central part of many projects is integration and advisory services. 
These services are based on OMX’s many years of experience in operat-
ing and implementing change projects involving both technical infra-
structure and ongoing operations. Through its integration services, 
OMX can assume total responsibility for projects involving migration 
to a new system and the establishment of entirely new marketplaces. 
Through its advisory services, OMX can contribute to a client’s business 
development process by assisting in identifying new opportunities.

Revenue model
There are three primary sources of revenues in the Market Technol-
ogy business area: license, project and support revenues, facility man-
agement revenues and other revenues. The customer licenses the 
right to utilize a systems solution from OMX. The license revenue 
OMX receives is often fixed, but may also be transaction-based.
 Development and integration work for making adaptations to cus-
tomers’ specific functionality and capacity requirements generates 
project revenue that is invoiced continuously according to the degree 
of completion. Most projects are initiated by OMX to prepare cus-
tomer-specific solutions, based on the company’s expertise and intel-
lectual assets, in the form of systems and services. When a systems 
solution has been delivered, OMX undertakes to maintain and develop 
it for a number of years, for which it receives ongoing support revenue. 
License, support and project revenue comprised a total of approxi-
mately 61 percent of revenues for the business area in 2006.

��%
��%

�	%

��%

Nordic region

Rest of EMEA

North and 
South America

Asia/
Australia

Market Technology
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Technology solutions for information dissemination
P R O D U C T S  A N D  S E R V I C E S

Exchanges have an extensive need to distribute the data generated by 
trading. OMX offers standardized systems for disseminating raw data, 
for example concerning prices, trades and order amounts and also 
refined data such as indexes. 

M A R K E T

Market data has become an increasingly important source of revenue 
for exchanges and plays a central role in a well-functioning market-
place. To further grow these operations, many companies are now 
faced with the challenge of creating new information products.
 Today, OMX’s solutions are purchased primarily by established 
exchanges in Europe and the US. Demands in the speed of informa-
tion transfers are increasing in line with the growth in automated and 
algorithmic trading. New regulations, such as the EU’s Transparency 
Directive, also promote intensified competition in this area. Accord-
ingly, this leads to a greater need for flexible systems and substantially 
higher requirements on capacity and performance.

C U S TO M E R S

In addition to OMX Nordic Exchange, information dissemination 
solutions are currently utilized by such companies as ICAP, the Inter-
national Securities Exchange (ISE), the Singapore Exchange (SGX) 
and Wiener Börse.

CO M P E T I TO R S

Many exchanges and other marketplaces have traditionally developed 
their own systems for information dissemination, often assisted by 
consulting companies and local suppliers of components. Apart from 
that, there are a number of companies delivering general information 
systems than can be used by marketplaces.

S P E C I F I C AT I O N  O F  R E V E N U E  � � � � � )
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A M E R I C A
Canadian Trading & Quotation System
ICAP
ISE (International Securities Exchange)
NASD

M I D D L E  E A S T  &  A F R I C A
Abu Dhabi Securities Market
Bahrain Stock Exchange 
Cairo & Alexandria Stock Exchanges
Doha Securities Market
Dubai Financial Market
Tadawul (Saudi Arabia)

E U R O P E
Borsa Italiana
Istanbul Stock Exchange
MICEX  (Russia)
Nord Pool
OMX Nordic Exchange
Oslo Børs
Polish Power Exchange 
SWX Swiss Exchange 
TLX (Italy)
Turkish Derivatives Exchange
Wiener Börse

In the technology operations, OMX has more than 60 customers in over 50 countries. 
Some examples of customers:

of the technology offering. 
 The Nordic Exchange was launched in record time due to OMX’s 
technical expertise. Since OMX is a pioneer in integrating market-
places, its unique experience can now be applied to other exchanges 
worldwide. High internal efficiency demands, technical stability, per-
formance and capability combined with technical expertise have 
made OMX the world’s leading supplier of exchange technology. 

Research and development
OMX invests continuously in the development of new and existing 
products to ensure its position as a market leader and driving force 
in the exchange industry. Investment decisions are made based on 
customer need and general market trends.
 During the year, OMX conducted research and development activ-
ities in next generation technology – Genium (see below). The objec-
tive has been to create solutions that can meet future demands for 
flexibility, efficiency, stability and performance. Key efforts were also 
focused on contributing to the continued standardization of protocols 
and interfaces in the securities market.
 Investments in research and development for the year totaled SEK 
174 m (229), corresponding to 13 percent (20) of the business area’s 
revenue, of which SEK 13 m (56) was expensed. OMX estimates that 
investments in research and development over time should be main-
tained at a level of about 10 percent of revenue in the business area.

Next generation technology – GENIUM

The exchange industry is experiencing rapid change. Increased openness, com-

petition, cross-border trading and evolving trading models impose new 

demands on speed, accessibility and flexibility. OMX has an important role as 

an innovator and driver in the development of the exchange industry. There-

fore, at the beginning of 2007, OMX introduced Genium, new technologies for 

trading, post-trade and information services. Genium has been developed 

based on OMX’s experience of operating the Nordic Exchange and supplying 

technology to more than 60 exchanges throughout the world.

 Genium brings entirely new dimensions to the challenges of the exchange 

industry. Genium has been designed not only to be the world’s fastest trad-

ing system, but also to combine innovative functionality with a modular 

approach to rapidly and efficiently manage change and create new advan-

tages for end-customers. Genium offers competitive advantages to existing 

and new customers. The work in developing the next generation trading 

system is a highly significant part of Genium. The first deliveries will encom-

pass standardized access for trading and market data and solutions for the 

distribution and processing of market data. These solutions will function 

with existing products found in OMX’s offering.

 The Nordic Exchange will be the first to implement Genium with stand-

ardized access to market data and trading. Thereafter, the Nordic Exchange 

plans to transfer equity, derivatives and other trading to a Genium-based 

solution.

OMX Facility Management Services generates annual recurring revenue 
that can be both fixed and volume based. Outsourcing services accounted 
for approximately 33 percent of revenues in the business area during the 
year. Other revenues, including advisory services, represented approxi-
mately 6 percent of the business area’s revenues.  

Cooperation and partnerships
OMX supports and supplements its technology operations through 
cooperation and partnerships. OMX is the largest owner, holding 30 
percent, of Orc Software, which is listed on the Nordic Exchange in 
Stockholm. Orc Software is a software company that develops and 
sells trading solutions to banks and securities brokers. OMX and Orc 
Software initiated an active partnership during the year regarding the 
development and sale of systems solutions for securities trading and 
handling orders for market players. OMX has also signed a strategic 
partnership agreement with HCL Technologies, one of India’s leading 
IT companies focused on technology and outsourcing for research 
and development. The partnership involves the outsourcing, develop-
ment and maintenance of certain OMX systems solutions.

The Nordic Exchange
OMX’s technology solutions were a prerequisite for creating the Nor-
dic Exchange and ensuring efficient securities transactions. The 
Nordic Exchange operations, and related services for the provision of 
information, is one of OMX’s most demanding and challenging tech-
nology customers. This fact contributes to the world leading position 

A S I A  &  A U S T R A L I A
Australian Securities Exchange 
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Jakarta Stock Exchange
Korea Exchanges
Philippine Dealing and Exchange Corp.
Singapore Exchange
Thailand Futures Exchange



OMX is an international knowledge-based company with customers 
worldwide. The operations are managed through offices in Australia, 
Canada, China, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Hong Kong, Iceland, Ita-
ly, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Singapore, Sweden, the UK, the United 
Arab Emirates and the US.
 During the year, the number of people working at OMX increased 
to 1,550 (1,344), of which 1,402 (1,288) were employed and 148 (56) were 
consultants on long-term contracts. The distribution among OMX’s 
business areas is 321 (300) persons employed within Nordic Market-
places, 218 (144) within Information Services & New Markets, and 772 
(844) within Market Technology. At year-end, 91 persons were 
employed in operations being discontinued. The number of manag-
ers at year-end was 212 (167). The average age within the company 
was 38 (38). The proportion of women was 35 percent (36) and the 
proportion of women in managerial positions was 31 percent (31). 

Organizational changes
On January 1, 2006, OMX’s new organization came into effect. The 
operations in OMX’s two former divisions were transferred to three 
business areas: Nordic Marketplaces, Information Services & New Mar-
kets, and Market Technology. The new organization has created better 
conditions to meet current and future customer requirements. 
 During the year, OMX acquired and integrated Computershare’s 
technology operation, as well as the Iceland Stock Exchange and Ice-

landic Securities Depository. Since January 1, 2007, the Nordic part of 
the operations formerly included in the Banks & Brokers business 
area is no longer included in operations being discontinued. Efforts 
to find a solution for the remaining part will continue in 2007. The 
integration work with the Nordic Exchange continued throughout 
2006.

Recruitment 
Employee recruitment increased during the year. The increase was 
attributable to growth within existing operational areas and invest-
ments in new product and service drives. During the year, internal 
employee shifts also increased from 6.5 to 9.4 percent. The average 
employee turnover was 11.8 percent (8.6). 

Work environment and health 
The annual employee satisfaction survey demonstrated a consider-
able interest among OMX employees to express their opinions on the 
working climate – more than nine out of ten employees participated 
in the survey. The result from the survey, known as the employee 
satisfaction index, increased from 77 in 2005 to 81 in 2006. The main 
areas of improvement since the last survey were OMX’s positive devel-
opment work with regard to management by objectives and the 
enhancement of OMX’s efficiency in the implementation of change. 
The company’s substantial investment in seminars conducted in 2005 

Employees  
OMX’s employee index increased during the year from 77 to 81. The 
main areas of improvement were management by objectives and 
the organization’s efficiency in the implementation of change. 
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and which addressed the subject of objectives, contributed to the abil-
ity to work toward established targets.  
 A global work environment policy was launched during the year. 
The policy stipulates guidelines for how work with the work environ-
ment should be conducted by all operations within OMX, regardless 
of country. 
 Healthy employees are important to OMX. A stimulating work 
environment contributes to a productive workplace and is an impor-
tant competitive tool for OMX. During the year, all managers in Swe-
den were offered training on the impact of the individual’s health and 
fitness on productivity. The aim of the training was to inspire manag-
ers to pursue keep-fit activities in their groups. Absence due to illness 
amounted to 2.0 percent, compared with 2.5 percent in 2005. 
 The number of employees on long-term leave, including parental 
leave, leave of absence or sick leave for at least three months, decreased 
during the year to 80 (107) people. Most of these were on parental 
leave. Further information concerning absence due to illness can be 
found in Note 7 of the Annual Report.

Competence development 
OMX’s employees and continuous sharing of knowledge are OMX’s 
most valuable assets. OMX has broad experience in constantly devel-
oping its knowledge base and winning the confidence and trust of its 
customers. The ability to offer accumulated expertise is an important 
element for achieving success, and it is essential to be able to share 
and disseminate knowledge within the company to create value for 
customers.
 OMX’s employees are encouraged to continuously change and 
expand work assignments within the company in order to develop. 
OMX’s procedure for performance appraisals is an important tool for 
attaining set targets, evaluating results and providing mutual feed-
back. All employees have a personal career development plan and 
targets that are reviewed and followed up every six months.
 In addition to all the individual training activities, the company 
also conducted joint training activities, principally within the areas 

of project management, negotiation techniques, communication and 
languages. A major activity during the year involved offering all 
employees online IT and finance courses.  

Leadership
To successfully execute the company’s strategy and achieve set goals, 
it is crucial to have managers with the right leadership skills and to 
continuously develop them. Leadership within OMX involves the abil-
ity to identify opportunity in challenges and changes, and to be able 
to lead employees toward common goals. 
  To enhance understanding of cultural differences, a number of cul-
tural seminars were held during the year. For senior executives, a special 
development program was initiated. The program is based on the needs 
of the individual and his or her situation, goals and challenges. 
 For the fourth consecutive year, the popular mentor program was 
implemented as a basis for career development for managers and 
project managers. All business areas in the Nordic region and Baltic 
countries take part in the program, which provides the participants 
with a more in-depth understanding of the various parts in OMX’s 
operation and insight into different cultures and management styles. 
 As part of our work to develop existing and potential managers 
within the company, they were offered Management Assessment, 
with the aim of evaluating and developing leadership skills. To 
enhance commitment and understanding of the company’s business 
model and strategy, a global management conference was also held.  
 During the year, the OMX Leadership Concept was implemented and 
involved 150 key people within the company. The purpose is to attract, 
develop, retain and reward successful work and, in this manner, achieve 
OMX’s strategic goals. The program comprises various incentives, 
development activities, evaluations of managers and continuous activ-
ities to further involve participants in the company’s development. The 
OMX Leadership Concept is viewed as part of the work to safeguard  
management capacity in the long term. The 150 participants are con-
tinuously developed and prepared for the next step in their careers, 
irrespective of where in the company the need exists. 

D ATA  P E R  E M P LOY E E 
SEK ���s  ���� ���� ���� ���� ����
Revenue per employee  �,	
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Income before financial items per employee  ��� 		� ��	 -�	
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The average total annual return (price change and reinvested dividend) 
for the OMX share during the past ten years reached 9 percent. During 
the same period, the corresponding development of the Swedish SIX 
Return Index (SIXRX) was 13 percent annually. 
 During 2006, the price of the OMX share increased by 14 percent, 
compared with the OMX Nordic Large Cap index which increased by 
18 percent in the same period. The highest price paid was SEK 167 on 
April 6, corresponding to a total market capitalization of approximate-
ly SEK 19.8 billion. The lowest price paid was SEK 104, noted on July 18, 
equivalent to a market capitalization of SEK 12.3 billion. At year-end, 
the price of the OMX share was SEK 126, corresponding to a total mar-
ket capitalization of approximately SEK 15.2 billion. The OMX share is 
listed on the Nordic Exchange in Stockholm, Helsinki and Copenhagen, 
and since December 1, 2006, in Iceland. 
   
OMX share
The turnover rate of the OMX share was 157 (70) percent compared with 
the average turnover rate of 147 (124) percent on the Nordic Exchange 
in Stockholm in total. In 2006, total turnover of the OMX share was 126 

(101) million shares, including post-reported transactions, correspond-
ing to a total value of SEK 24,922 m. On average 501,026 shares were 
traded per day, of which 472,306 were traded on the Nordic Exchange 
in Stockholm, 4,928 in Helsinki and 23,792 in Copenhagen. Turnover 
was highest on October 27 with a total of 4.3 million shares traded. OMX 
has an agreement with Remium as liquidity provider to increase turn-
over and improve liquidity in the OMX share on the Copenhagen and 
Helsinki Stock Exchanges. 

Volatility in the OMX share
Volatility is a measurement of risk that shows the extent of changes 
in the price of a share over a defined period. The volatility of the OMX 
share for the most recent 250-day period on December 31, 2006, was 
39 percent, compared with 22 percent at the end of 2005. 
 Beta value is another measurement of risk that shows the sensitiv-
ity of a share to market fluctuations compared with a certain index 
over a certain period of time. A beta value greater than 1 indicates that 
the share price varies more than the average. At year-end, the adjust-
ed beta value of the OMX share in the most recent 60-month period 

The OMX share 
Trading in the OMX share rose sharply in 2006. The turnover rate increased
to 157 percent compared with 70 percent in the preceding year. 
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amounted to 1.381) measured against the OMXS30. This 
means that the price of the OMX share varied 38 percent 
more than the index during the period measured.

Dividend and dividend policy
For 2006, the Board of Directors proposes a dividend in the 
total amount of SEK 6.50 per share, comprising an ordinary 
dividend of SEK 4.50 and an extra dividend of SEK 2 per 
share. The Board’s ambition is that the amount of OMX’s 
ordinary dividend shall grow in pace with the company’s 
earnings per share, taking OMX’s long-term capital 
requirements into account. Should the Annual General 
Meeting decide in favor of the Board’s recommendation, 
the dividend is expected to be paid out by VPC, the Swedish 
central securities depository, on April 20, 2007.

P R I N C I PA L  O W N E R S ,  D E C E M B E R  � � ,  � � � 	

 Number   Share capital
 of shares and votes, %
Investor AB ��,���,��
 ��.


Swedish government 
,���,�		 	.	

Nordea Bank 	,���,��� �.�

Swedbank Robur Funds �,�	�,
�� �.	

Didner & Gerge Aktiefond �,���,��� �.�

Fidelity Funds �,��	,��� �.�

Franklin-Templeton Funds �,���,�
� �.�

Svenska Handelsbanken �,���,��� �.	

SHB/SPP Funds �,���,
�� �.�

SEB Funds �,��	,
�� �.�

Other Swedish owners   �	,�
�,	
� ��.�

Other foreign owners  ��,���,�		 ��.�

Total number of shares 
��,���,��� 
��.�

D I S T R I B U T I O N  O F  O W N E R S H I P  I N  T H E  O M X  S H A R E

  Percentage of   Percentage of 
Number of Number of number of  Number of share capital 
shares shares shareholders  shares and votes
�-�,��� ��,��� �	.� �,	��,�
� �.�

�,���-��,��� �,�
� ��.� �,
��,�
� �.�

��,���-���,��� ��� �.� 
,
�	,��� 	.�

���,���-�,���,��� ��� �.� ��,���,	�� �
.�

�,���,���- �� �.� 
�,��	,��� 	�.�

Total 
�,�	� 
��.� 
��,���,��� 
��.�

K E Y  F I G U R E S  P E R  S H A R E

SEK, unless otherwise stated ���� ���� ���� ���� ����
Earnings 
.	� �.		 �.�� -�.�� -�.��

Dividend as a percentage thereof (prop.)  �� ��� � � ���

Earnings after full conversion 
.	� �.		 �.�� -�.�� -�.��

Dividend (proposed) �.�� �.�� � � �

Extra dividend (proposed)   �.��      �.��+�.�� � � �

Shareholders’ equity, SEK  �� �� �� �� ��

Shareholders’ equity after full conv.  �� �� �� �� ��

Cash flow  �.�� �.�� �.�� �.�	 �.��

Number of shares, ���s  ���,	�� ���,�
� ���,��
 ���,��
 ��,���

Number of new shares  �,�		 �,��
 

� �,��� 

�
after full conversion, ���s 

B R O K E R A G E  F I R M S  T H AT  A N A LY Z E D 
T H E  O M X  S H A R E  I N  � � � 	  

ABG Sundal Collier  Carnegie

Cheuvreux  SEB Enskilda 

Keefe Bruyette & Woods Standard&Poor’s Equity Research 

Svenska Handelsbanken UBS 

WestLB

Number of shareholders
The number of shareholders fell during the year from 13,091 to 12,597. Swedish 
institutional ownership decreased. At year-end, 51.5 percent (72.7) of OMX’s share 
capital was held by Swedish institutions. Ownership among Swedish private indi-
viduals also fell from 8.8 to 7.0 percent. The total percentage of foreign ownership 
increased sharply during the year from 18.5 to 41.5 percent. At the same time, total 
foreign ownership on the Stockholm Stock Exchange was 37 (35) percent of the 
total market capitalization.

Financial calendar 2007 

�) Source: Bloomberg, adjusted beta value is calculated in accordance with �.��*  unadjusted beta+�.��*�
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Corporate governance refers to the decision-making process, through 
which the owners of a company directly or indirectly control the com-
pany. OMX strives to ensure the highest quality of its information to 
owners and the capital market in order to render the decision-making 
system as efficient as possible and to allow the various groups of own-
ers an optimal overview of the company’s operations. OMX’s shares 
are listed on the stock exchanges in Stockholm, Helsinki and Copen-
hagen. The OMX share was also listed on the Iceland Stock Exchange 
on December 1, 2006 in conjunction with OMX acquiring the shares in 
the Iceland Stock Exchange and Icelandic Securities Depository. OMX 
follows the rules that apply to each exchange. All of the exchanges’ rules 
include the particular country’s national corporate governance code, 
however, the Danish Code is not applicable to foreign companies such 
as OMX. OMX will apply the Corporate Governance Code for the Ice-
land Stock Exchange from the fiscal year 2007. Also in 2007, OMX will 
adhere to the corporate governance regulations and demands stipulated 
in the EU Directive on Markets in Financial Instruments (MiFID). OMX 
currently fulfills all of these requirements in principle. OMX follows 

the Swedish and Finnish Codes of Corporate Governance and these are 
applied in the Corporate Governance Report for 2006. OMX does not 
deviate from the Finnish or Swedish Codes of Corporate Governance. 
However, the Finnish Code differs from the Swedish Code to the extent 
that the Nominating Committee is considered to be a Board commit-
tee. In this case, OMX has opted to follow the rules of the Swedish Code 
of Corporate Governance since OMX is a Swedish company, refer to 
“Nominating Committee”. OMX wishes to promote foreign ownership 
in the company and accordingly it seeks to follow the Institutional 
Shareholder International Corporate Governance Policy (ISS). Prior to 
the OMX Annual General Meeting in 2006, ISS issued recommenda-
tions on voting on matters discussed at annual general meetings. ISS 
recommended that OMX shareholders vote in favor of all proposals 
presented by the Board and Nominating Committee.  The Corporate 
Governance Report 2006 has not been audited and this year contains, 
in accordance with the Swedish Corporate Governance Board’s instruc-
tions (no. 1 2006), a report on the organization of the internal control 
of the company’s financial reporting.

Corporate Governance Report 2006
The Corporate Governance Report describes how the owners of OMX directly 
and indirectly governed the OMX Group in 2006 and how OMX’s corporate 
governance systems relate to the corporate governance codes applied by OMX.

Bodies and sets of regulations

The illustration above describes the relationship and interaction 
between OMX’s central bodies. More detailed descriptions of each body 
and its role in the context of corporate governance are provided on the 
following pages. The basis for governance of OMX and its Group is 
contained in the external and internal sets of regulations that are also 
presented in the illustration above. The company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation are available at www.omxgroup.com.

General Meetings
The shareholders’ right to decide on OMX’s business is exercised at 
the General Meeting, which is a company’s highest decision-making 
body. The General Meeting elects the members of the Board of Direc-
tors and auditors, and also makes decisions regarding amendments  
to the Articles of Association and changes to share capital. It is the 

Shareholders

Annual General Meetings

Board of Directors

Remuneration 
Committee

Audit CommitteeAuditors

President and CEO

Other Executive Management Team

Nominating 
Committee

Elected/appointed

Reports

E X T E R N A L  R E G U L AT I O N S

§ Swedish Companies Act
§ Swedish Book-keeping Act
§ Swedish Annual Accounts Act
§  Finnish and Swedish Code of Corporate 

Governance
§  Regulations at the Copenhagen, 

Stockholm and Helsinki Stock Exchanges
 

I N T E R N A L  R E G U L AT I O N S

§ Articles of Association
§  Rules of procedure for the Board of 

Directors
§  Instructions to the Remuneration and 

Audit Committees 
§ Instructions to the President and CEO
§ Internal policies

Internal Audit
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intent of OMX, in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of 
Association, to hold General Meetings in such a way that promotes 
shareholder participation and facilitates discussions and decision-
making at these meetings.

Nominating Committee 
The Nominating Committee is responsible for preparing and submit-
ting nominations for election of the Chairman of General Meetings, 
the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Board of Directors, for pro-
posing remuneration to the Board, the nominating process, remuner-
ation to auditors, and, when appropriate, election of auditors. According 
to a decision from the Annual General Meeting held on April 6, 2006 
(for the minutes of this meeting, see www.omxgroup.com), the Nomi-
nating Committee shall be appointed by the four largest shareholders 
wishing to participate, each appointing one representative not later 
than six months prior to the Annual General Meeting. The members 
of the Nominating Committee may not be Board members of the com-
pany. This decision by the General Meeting concurs with the regula-
tions in the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. As a result, OMX 
utilizes a different solution than prescribed under the Finnish Code of 
Corporate Governance which defines a Nominating Committee as a 
Board committee. The Chairman of the OMX Board convenes the first 
meeting. The Chairman of the Nominating Committee was Jacob 
Wallenberg.

CO M P O S I T I O N  O F  T H E  N O M I N AT I N G  CO M M I T T E E

Prior to the 2007 Annual General Meeting, the Nominating Commit-
tee comprised the following individuals:

Name Title/area of  Representing Shareholding 
  responsibility  OMX�), %

Jacob Wallenberg, Board Chairman,
Chairman Investor AB Investor AB 10.7

Malin Björkmo  Ministry of Industry,   
Employment and    Swedish

  Communications government  6.6

Arne Liljedahl Group CFO Nordea Nordea  5.4

KG Lindvall Board member,  Swedbank 
  Swedbank Robur Robur  3.6

Olof Stenhammar, Board Chairman
convenor OMX  1.8

Total   28.2

�) As per December ��, ����

The Nominating Committee’s secretary was Hans Berggren. For infor-
mation on the work of the Nominating Committee prior to the Annual 
General Meeting in 2006, refer to the Corporate Governance Report 
2005 available at www.omxgroup.com.

 The Nominating Committee’s proposals are found in the Notice of 
the Annual General Meeting and further information is available at   
www.omxgroup.com. 

Board of Directors
T H E  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  O F  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S 

In accordance with the Swedish Companies Act and the Rules of Pro-
cedure of the Board of Directors, the Board is responsible for establish-
ing OMX’s overall long-term strategies and objectives, establishing the 

budget and business plans, reviewing and approving financial state-
ments, adopting important policies and making decisions regarding 
investments and significant changes in OMX’s organization and oper-
ations. The Board also appoints the President and CEO and ratifies 
instructions for the President and CEO, as well as the composition of 
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. In addition, 
the Board makes decisions regarding salary and other remuneration 
to the President and CEO. One of the Board’s duties is ensuring the 
quality assurance of OMX’s financial reporting. This is achieved by the 
Board’s Audit Committee reviewing the company’s financial reporting 
and the Board of Director’s consideration of interim reports and year-
end reports. In addition, the Board regularly considers other issues 
related to the company’s financial reporting, for example, valuation 
issues, changes in estimates and assessments and other, if any, circum-
stances that affect the quality of reporting as required.

C H A I R M A N  O F  T H E  B O A R D

The responsibility of the Chairman of the Board is to lead the work of 
the Board and to ensure that the Board fulfills its responsibilities in 
accordance with the Swedish Companies Act and the Rules of Proce-
dure of the Board. Through continual contact with the President and 
CEO, the Chairman shall follow the development of the company and 
ensure that the members of the Board have continuous access to 
information necessary to follow and analyze the financial position, 
financial planning and development of the company. The Chairman 
shall also be responsible for communicating the opinions of share-
holders to the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors is Olof Stenhammar.

CO M P O S I T I O N  O F  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S

The Board of Directors of OMX is made up of eight members who are 
normally elected at the Annual General Meeting. The Board holds six 
regular meetings a year. For information on the Board members 
elected on April 6, 2006, refer to “Board of Directors” on page 52.

I N D E P E N D E N C E  O F  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S

The Board’s assessment, which is also shared by the Nominating 
Comittee, of the independence of the Board members in relation to 
the company and shareholders is described in the following table. 

Dependent  Independent

  in relation to in relation to
Board member  the company the owners

Olof Stenhammar �)   

Adine Grate Axén �)

Urban Bäckström

Bengt Halse

Birgitta Klasén

Tarmo Korpela

Hans Munk Nielsen

Markku Pohjola

�) Olof Stenhammar is not considered to be independent of the company due his membership of the 
Board of Directors of OMX for more than �� years. �) Adine Grate Axén is not considered to be indepen-
dent in relation to the major shareholders due to her employment at Investor AB, which owns more than 
�� percent of the votes and shares in OMX.

T H E  B O A R D ’ S  A S S E S S M E N T
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RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, ETC.

The Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors are determined each 
year by the Board after the Annual General Meeting and outline the prin-
ciples of the Board’s work and the division of responsibility between the 
Board and the President and CEO. The Rules of Procedure also stipulate 
that the Board shall have an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Com-
mittee, and define the role of the Chairman of the Board. The Committees 
act essentially as the preparatory bodies for the Board. The Board also 
decides annually regarding rules for decision-making within the Group. 
The secretary to the Board of Directors in 2006 was Hans Berggren. 

EVALUATION OF THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors evaluates its work continuously through open 
discussions and interviews between the Chairman of the Board and 
individual Board members. In addition, the Rules of Procedure of the 
Board prescribe that the Board of Directors, at one meeting during the 
year, shall carry out an evaluation of its work. With regard to the evalu-
ation of the work of the Board in 2006, OMX engaged Alumni AB.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is appointed annually by the Board of Directors 
and its purpose is to support the Board in issues regarding internal and 
external control as well as financing and financial targets. Their tasks 
include maintaining continuous contact with external and internal audi-
tors. The external and internal auditors participate in all Audit Commit-
tee meetings and also conduct regular discussions with the Committee 
members. In addition, the Committee establishes procedures for the 
internal audit and ensures that auditors’ recommendations and observa-
tions are followed. Furthermore, the Audit Committee examines the 
accounting principles and the Group’s financial reporting, evaluates the 
Group’s financial activities and monitors the maintenance of the inde-
pendence of external auditors. In April 2006, the Board of Directors 
appointed Adine Grate Axén (Chairman), Urban Bäckström and Hans 
Munk Nielsen as members of the Audit Committee. The Chairman of the 
Audit Committee reported to the Board meetings on the matters 
addressed at the meetings of the Audit Committee. The secretary of the 
Audit Committee was Magnus Billing, OMX’s General Counsel. For infor-
mation on the members of the Audit Committee before the 2006 Annual 
General Meeting, refer to the Corporate Governance Report 2005, avail-
able at www.omxgroup.com.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is appointed annually by the Board of 
Directors and prepares issues for Board decisions regarding salaries and 
remuneration for the President and CEO. The Committee also approves 
salaries and other types of remuneration for members of the Executive 
Management Team, subsequently reported to the Board, and approves 
the targets for the Executive Management Team established by the Pres-
ident and CEO. The Committee also proposes remuneration for Board 
members in the subsidiaries within the Group that have external Board 
members and makes recommendations regarding principles for salaries, 
benefits and other types of remuneration to employees in the OMX 
Group. In April 2006, the Board of Directors appointed Olof Stenhammar 
(Chairman), Adine Grate Axén and Bengt Halse as members of the Remu-
neration Committee. The Committee’s secretary was Pernilla Gladh, Sen-
ior Vice President of Corporate Functions & Human Resources. 

President/CEO and Executive Management Team
The President and CEO is appointed by and receives instructions from 
the Board of Directors and is responsible for the day-to-day operations 
of the company, which entails assuming operational responsibility for 
the company’s activities. The President and CEO is, among other things, 
also responsible for ensuring that OMX complies with the rules regard-
ing the disclosure of information for a company listed on the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange, the Helsinki Stock Exchange and the Copenhagen Stock 
Exchange as well as the Iceland Stock Exchange from December 1, 2006. 
The President and CEO is Magnus Böcker. To support him in his work, 
the President and CEO has established an Executive Management Team. 
For its composition, refer to “Executive Management Team” on page 50. 
The Executive Management Team holds weekly meetings and discusses 
issues of significance to the Group, such as the company’s finances and 
accounting issues, acquisitions, important customer relations, budget, 
strategies, the planning of operations and human resources. The Execu-
tive Management Team is not a collegial decision forum. The President 
and CEO makes decisions on the basis of the discussions and considera-
tions made by Executive Management Team. The secretary to the Exec-
utive Management Team was OMX’s General Counsel Magnus Billing.

Auditors
Auditors are elected at the Annual General Meeting. OMX has two per-
manent auditors and two deputy auditors. The present auditors were 
elected at the Annual General Meeting in 2003 for a mandate period of 
four years. Therefore, new elections of auditors will take place at the 
Annual General Meeting in 2007. Neither the auditors (including deputy 
auditors) nor the auditing firms may hold any shares, or instruments 
entitling the holder to subscribe for shares, in OMX. Present permanent 
auditors are Peter Clemedtson (Authorized Public Accountant, Öhrlings-
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, born 1956) and  Björn Fernström (Author-
ized Public Accountant, Ernst& Young, born 1950). Peter Clemedtson 
has been auditor of OMX since 2003 and his other assignments include 
Ericsson, SinterCast, Gambro, Electrolux, Medivir, KMT and SEB. Björn 
Fernström has been auditor of OMX since 1984, and his other assign-
ments include ElektronikGruppen BK, Klövern, Munters, Nordnet, Orc 
Software, Protect Data, Saab and AMF Pension. Present deputies are Bo 
Hjalmarsson (Authorized Public Accountant, ÖhrlingsPricewaterhouse-
Coopers AB, born 1960) and Per Hedström (Authorized Public Account-
ant, Ernst & Young AB, born 1964).

Internal audit 
The Internal Audit unit is an independent function within OMX that 
systematically evaluates the adequacy and efficiency of internal con-
trol and risk management, and compliance with legal and statutory 
requirements in the entire Group. The Internal Audit unit reports 
directly to the Audit Committee. The operating principles for the 
Internal Audit unit are reviewed and approved annually by the Audit 
Committee and audits are carried out according to the Annual Plan 
approved by OMX’s Board of Directors. The Internal Audit unit is cur-
rently made up of three auditors, two of which have CISA certification. 
In carrying out its duties, the Internal Audit unit applies the interna-
tionally approved Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing published by The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and the 
Information Systems Audit Control Association, as well as internal 
control frameworks such as COSO and COBIT.
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Work during the year

General Meetings
OMX held two General Meetings during the fiscal year 2006.

A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G ,  A P R I L  6 ,  2 0 0 6

OMX’s 2006 Annual General Meeting was held on April 6, 2006. The 
Chairman of the meeting was Olof Stenhammar.

The Annual General Meeting:

- resolved to adopt the accounts for 2005
-  discharged the Board of Directors and the President and CEO from 

liability for fiscal year 2005 
-  resolved that a dividend of SEK 6.50 per share would be distributed to 

the shareholders, of which SEK 3.50 is an extraordinary dividend 
-  resolved that remuneration to members of the Board of Directors 

elected by the General Meeting would amount to SEK 2,500,000, 
refer to “Board of Directors” on page 52

-  decided that the auditors’ fees shall be paid in accordance with 
approved invoicing, which shall be based on an audit plan pre-
sented in advance

-  decided that the number of Board members would be eight
-  elected members of the Board, refer to “Board of Directors” on 

page 52
-  resolved that the Board’s mandate period would be until the next 

Annual General Meeting
-  elected Olof Stenhammar as Chairman of the Board of Directors 

for the Board’s mandate period. If the Chairman leaves his position 
during the mandate period, the Board shall elect a Chairman  
among its members for the remainder of the mandate period 

-  resolved to adopt principles for the nominating process
-  approved the structure for remuneration and resources for the 

Nominating Committee
-  approved the Share Match Program for senior executives
-  approved the remuneration principles for senior executives
-  resolved to amend the Articles of Association with respect to the new 

Swedish Companies Act that came into force on January 1, 2006.
 For the minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on April 6,  
 2006, see www.omxgroup.com.

Shareholder attendance at meetings for the past three years is 
described in the graph below.

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING,  OCTOBER 23,  2006

At OMX’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on October 23, the 
shareholders:
-  authorized the Board of Directors to decide on an increase in the 

company’s share capital of not more than SEK 4,140,000 through 
the new issue of not more than 2,070,000 shares. This non-cash 
share issue was to be implemented as a result of the acquisition of 
Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing HF, which owns the Iceland 
Stock Exchange and the Icelandic Securities Depository. 

-  resolved that a bonus dividend of SEK 3 per share will be paid, tota-
ling SEK 355,718,721. 

For the minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on Octo-
ber 23, 2006, see www.omxgroup.com.

A T T E N D A N C E

Olof Stenhammar
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�)  The percentage of attendance refers to the company’s total number of shares and votes.
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Nominating Committee
In 2006, the Nominating Committee held three meetings at which 
minutes were taken. The main focus of this work related to nomina-
tions to the Board of Directors prior to OMX’s Annual General Meet-
ing in April 2006. No remuneration was paid to the members of the 
Nominating Committee. Only expenses for the Committee’s secretary  
were charged to OMX .

Board of Directors
The Board held 12 meetings during the year and average attendance was 
95 percent. During the year, the Board of Directors assessed the Group’s 
financial situation and ensured that its finances had been organized such 
that controls of the accounting records, the management of assets and 
the company’s other financial circumstances could be performed in a 
satisfactory manner. The table above describes attendance per Board 
member. 

During 2006, the Board paid special attention to the following issues:  
- the strategic position of OMX
- budget
-  the acquisition of the Iceland Stock Exchange and the Icelandic 

Securities Depository
- dissolution of the cooperation with VPC AB
-  the integration of exchange trading and the creation of the Nordic 

Exchange
- auditing and accounting issues
- internal control
- financial reporting
- governance of the Group
- remuneration and incentive issues
- capital and financing issues. 
 
Also during the year, the Board focused in particular on the operations 
of the Market Technology business area within the framework of the 
purpose of establishing a Technology Working Group. The Group com-
prised representatives from Market Technology and the Executive 
Managment Team and all Board members. The Group held its first 
meeting at the end of 2005 and two meetings were held in 2006. 

Remuneration Committee 
In 2006, the Remuneration Committee held seven meetings at which 
minutes were taken. During 2006, the Committee had a particular 
focus on the following issues:  
-  program for variable salary, the Short Term Incentive 2006 and 

2007.
- the Share Match Program for senior executives 2006 and 2007.
-  remuneration to the President and CEO and proposals regarding 

the principles for remuneration and other terms of employment 
for the Executive Management Team.

For the actual outcome of remuneration paid and the incentive pro-
grams in 2006, refer to “Board of Directors” on page 52. 

Audit Committee
In 2006, the Audit Committee held eight meetings at which minutes 
were taken. During the year, the Committee had a particular focus on 
the following issues: 
- management and control practices
-  the provision of support to the Nominating Committee regarding 

proposals for auditors to be elected at the Annual General Meeting 
in 2007

- internal control
- the Group’s internal audit
- accounting issues
- supervising the independence of auditors
- principles for financial information and financial objectives
-  financing issues and issues regarding taxes and internal price 

 setting.

Audit and auditors
As already stated, the Annual General Meeting held in April 2006 decided 
that the auditors’ fees shall be paid in accordance with approved invoic-
ing, which shall be based on an audit plan presented in advance. The 
amount of remuneration received by auditors during the fiscal year 2006 
is described in the table below and presented in more detail in note 6 in 
the OMX Annual Report 2006 on page 85. This section also describes 
remuneration paid for auditing and audit-related services required by 
law as well as for advice and other assistance arising from observations 
made during the course of the auditing process. Remuneration was also 
paid for additional independent advice. Services regarding independent 
advice were conducted in accordance with the Company’s adopted pol-
icy (Non Audit Services Policy) that stipulates the manner in which the 
procurement of such services is to take place.

REMUNERATION TO THE GROUP’S AUDITORS

 GROUP PARENT COMPANY 
(SEK ���s) ���� ���
 ���	  ���� ���
 ���	

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Auditing assignments ��,��� �,��� �,��� 	,��� �,�
� ���
Other assignments �) �,��� ��,
	� 	,��	 

� �,��� �,��	

Ernst & Young
Auditing assignments  	�� ��� �,�
� ��� ��� ��	
Other assignments �) ��� �,	
� �,��� 		
 �,��� �
�

KPMG
Auditing assignments  ��
 	�� - - - -
Other assignments ��� ��� - - - -

BDO Feinstein
Auditing assignments �� ��� �
 - - -
Other assignments - �� �� - - -

Other auditors
Auditing assignments ��� ��
 ��� - - -
Other assignments ��� �,��
 ��� - - -

TOTAL ��,��� ��,	�� ��,��� �,��� ��,��� �,	�


�)  For ����, refers to other assignments, primarily tax consultations. For ���
, includes SEK �,��	,��� rela-
ted to IFRS and costs in connection with the acquisition of CSE and Computershare of SEK 	,���,���. 
Otherwise, other assignments in ���
 pertains primarily to tax consultations. 

�)  For ����, refers to other assignments, primarily tax consultations and IT studies. For ���
, other assign-
ments pertains primarily to IFRS, tax consultation and IT studies.
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Internal control 

Internal control is a process carried out by the Board of Directors and 
the executive management, in addition to other employees, to ensure 
efficiency of operations, which includes safeguarding assets and 
resources, and effectively monitoring and controlling the opera-
tions.
 OMX endeavors to maintain a high level of awareness of internal-
control issues through such activities as ensuring that responsibility 
and authorities are clearly defined and that employees have the com-
petencies required for their specific positions.  The annual planning 
process comprises the basis for the governance of the operations dur-
ing which the objectives of the operations are determined and com-
municated to the organization. A central part of the internal control 
is the risk-management process ERM (Enterprise Risk Management) 
that has previously been established by OMX. OMX’s risk-manage-
ment process is described in more detail under Risk management in 
the OMX Annual Report 2006, page 78. Control activities are inte-
grated into the various processes of the operations and the aim is that 
these activities shall be adapted to the prevailing risk situation. For 
important areas, the Board prepares policies that serve as control 
documents describing the manner in which the internal control is to 
be designed. A number of functions and forums have been established 
whose duties include monitoring the effectiveness of the internal 
control. These functions are also significant communication chan-
nels that enable information to be efficiently distributed throughout 
the organization. The monitoring procedure of internal control is an 
ongoing process. All internal-control deficiencies that are uncovered 
shall be reported to the immediate manager, and serious matters shall 
be reported to the Executive Management Team and the Board. A 
formalized process for the ongoing evaluation of the internal control 
over financial reporting (ICR process) was implemented in 2006 based 
on the internal-control project initiated in 2005. This process includes 
risk identification, documentation of processes, identification of con-
trols and assessments of how well processes and existing controls 
manage identified risks. OMX’s system of internal control is designed 
to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving 
business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatements. 

Internal control over financial reporting
The following description has been prepared in accordance with the 
Swedish Code of Corporate Governance and the applicable applica-
tion instructions. The description follows the structure of the wide-
spread and acknowledged COSO framework, Internal Control – Inte-
grated Framework, where internal control is described in five main 
components: Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activ-
ities, Information and Communication, and Monitoring. The descrip-
tion has not been examined by the company’s auditors. 
 

CO N T R O L  E N V I R O N M E N T 

OMX strives to maintain and develop a culture and attitude character-
ized by high integrity and ethical practice, and strong control aware-
ness. The Board determines the overall organizational structure and  

financial targets and also assesses the performance and results of the 
President and CEO. The President and CEO is responsible for ensuring 
that OMX has a well-functioning system to secure the supply of skills 
and competencies. The Board issues policies and control documents in 
areas important for the governance and control of the operations. OMX 
has procedures and policies in place, such as Rules of Procedure for the 
Board of Directors, Instructions for the President and CEO, Instructions 
for the Audit Committee, Communication Policy and Financial Policy, 
and approval rules regarding the level at which individuals are author-
ized to make decisions concerning among others expenses, invest-
ments, legal agreements. OMX has a HR policy to ensure that employ-
ees possess the competencies necessary for their positions, and  that 
procedures and processes for recruiting, training, evaluating, promot-
ing, compensation and position descriptions are in place. There is also 
a policy that describes the OMX Code of Conduct and ethical values. 
Refer also to “Employees” on page 38–39.

R I S K  A S S E S S M E N T

The periodic overall ERM process also encompasses the subarea of 
financial reporting. The targets established for financial reporting 
form the basis of the risk assessment. The targets for internal control 
over the financial reporting are documented in a separate framework 
that comprises a control document for the internal control of finan-
cial matters. The overall risk assessment, which is based on self-
assessment, involves the identification and reporting of material risks 
and required actions to the Audit Committee and Board. This self-
assessment is conducted at unit and process level within the frame-
work of the ICR process. The results of this more detailed evaluation 
form an important basis for the overall risk-assessment process ERM 
and a basis for the design and choice of controls. The status and results 
of this process are regularly reported to the Audit Committee. Exam-
ples of important areas encompassed by the risk assessment, that is, 
areas in which the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
reporting are relatively high due to their complexity and significance, 
are revenue recognition, compliance with laws and accounting prin-
ciples, valuations of intangible assets, year-end closing and the con-
solidation process, IT and risks of fraud. Identified and prioritized 
risks also comprise a basis for the planning process whereby the needs 
for improvement activities are taken into consideration in operational 
planning and budgeting.

CO N T R O L  A C T I V I T I E S 

Control activities occur throughout the organization, at all levels and 
in all functions. They are incorporated in the various processes of the 
operations to manage material risks that may have an impact on the 
financial reporting. The controls also include financial applications that 
are important to the financial reporting. The design and choice of con-
trols is based on the targets for the internal control of the operations 
and the results of completed risk analyses. OMX’s accounting princi-
ples, which are based on IFRS, are described in OMX’s Finance Manual. 
This manual shall ensure the uniformity of the Group’s financial report-
ing in order that the same principles are applied to all units and that 
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these principles are interpreted correctly and in a standardized man-
ner. Analytical control activities are also performed by business and 
financial controllers including outcome analyses, earnings forecasts, 
examination of assessments and assumptions, participation in the 
forum of meetings, such as controller and management meetings. 
Other important control activities inherent in the processes are approv-
als, granting of permits, reconciliations, monitoring results, the segre-
gation of duties and responsibilities, and general IT controls. The pur-
pose of these controls is to ensure that only correct and approved infor-
mation is utilized, that the information has been correctly processed, 
that the information is correctly presented and that the risk of fraud is 
minimized. Public reports shall be subject to quality assurance checks 
in addition to the ongoing control activities performed by a separate 
reporting group comprising the President and CEO, the CFO and rep-
resentatives from the Investor Relations department and Group 
Finance. The reports shall also be examined by the Executive Manage-
ment Team, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors prior to 
publication.

I N FO R M AT I O N  A N D  CO M M U N I C AT I O N

OMX has established communication channels in the Group to enable 
employees to fulfill their responsibilities as effectively as possible. These 
communication channels also ensure that management has the means 
to take timely and appropriate action based on information received 
from the organization. These channels are primarily based on a struc-
ture of different forums and departmental meetings such as Executive 
Management Team meetings, management meetings, Audit Commit-
tee meetings, year-end account meetings, forecast meetings, controller 
meetings and reporting meetings. Meetings are held according to an 
established time schedule and are attended by a range of participants 

who will ensure that information is communicated both upward and 
downward throughout the organization. Overall strategic directives 
are communicated throughout the entire organization for the purpose 
of instilling a sense of fundamental understanding among all employ-
ees. This takes place via planning and budget processes and also through 
general information meetings. Important documents such as policies, 
instructions, guidelines, manuals and internal-control frameworks are 
communicated via the OMX intranet. Reporting structures are estab-
lished to support the implementation and control of the operations. 
These systems not only handle internally generated information, but 
also information on external events, activities and circumstances that 
are of importance to decision-makers and external reporting. Informa-
tion to external recipients is regulated in the OMX Corporate Commu-
nication Policy which stipulates the information that may be published, 
the individuals authorized to release information and the method of 
publication.

M O N I TO R I N G

Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of the internal con-
trol system’s performance as an integrated part of the ongoing oper-
ations. Monitoring is included in regular management activities and 
other actions personnel take in performing their duties. All internal 
control deficiencies shall be reported to the immediate manager, and 
serious matters shall be reported to the Executive Management Team 
and the Board. The Audit Committee has a central role in the evalu-
ation of the internal control. In addition to monitoring external and 
internal audit reports and examining the Group’s financial reporting 
and accounting principles, the Audit Committee also monitors the 
work that takes place within the ERM work pertaining to the financial 
reporting and the work conducted in the ICR process. Based on self-
assessments, the ICR process reports on how well existing controls 
and processes manage identified risks. Identified weaknesses and 
improvement requirements are complied to form the basis of action 
plans that are subject to ongoing review by the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Commitee intiates, when needed, separate evaluations. Fur-
thermore, OMX staff regularly presents areas of particular internal 
control interest to the Audit Committee. In addition to the self-assess-
ment, the most important controls and management of the major 
risks are tested on a two-year cycle. The Audit Committee makes deci-
sions on testing and utilizes OMX’s internal audit function to perform 
the testing. This function is independent from the operational activ-
ities and reports directly to the Audit Committee and Board. The ICR 
process itself is also evaluated by the Internal Audit function. 

Imposing 
requirements

Evaluation of 
internal control 

Changes in 
internal control 

Requirements Reporting

Audit Committee

D E V E LO P M E N T  O F  I N T E R N A L  CO N T R O L
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Executive Management Team

Magnus Böcker. President and CEO of OMX AB.

Born in 1961. Studies in business at the University of 
Stockholm. Chairman of the Board of Orc Software. 
Board member of World Federation of Exchanges, 
Dustin Group and the International Council of Swedish 
Industry (NIR). Employed by OMX since 1986. President 
and CEO since 2003. Previous positions within OMX: 
1996–2003, Vice President and President of the 
technology operations; 1989–1996, Chief Financial 
Officer and member of Executive Management. 

Holdings in OMX: 140,812 shares  and 226,000 employee 
stock options.

Bo Svefors. Senior Vice President Marketing & 
Communications.

Born in 1951. M.Sc. in Business Administration, 
Stockholm School of Economics. Employed by OMX 
since 2003. Previous positions: 1985–1989, CEO Brindfors 
Advertising. 

Holdings in OMX: 709 shares and 0 employee stock 
options. 

Markus Gerdien. President Market Technology. 

Born in 1960. Studies in Computer Science at the 
University of Stockholm. Employed by OMX since 2005. 
Previous positions: 2002-2005, Observer Group AB: EVP 
Market & Business Development and EVP Communica-
tion Tools Division. 2000–2002 Common Agenda 
Venture Management AB: partner and Co-founder. 
1988–2000 Front Capital Systems AB: Managing Director, 
Member of the Company Management Group and Sales 
and Marketing Manager. 

Holdings in OMX: 1,331 shares and 0 employee stock 
options. 

Kristina Schauman. Chief Financial Officer.

Born in 1965. M.Sc. in Accounting and Finance, 
Stockholm School of Economics. Employed by OMX 
since 2004. Previous positions: 2001–2004, VP Corporate 
Finance, Investor AB; 1996–2001, Group Treasurer, 
Investor AB; 1995–1996, Financial Advisor, ABB Financial 
Services, 1989–1995 Stora Financial Services. 

Holdings in OMX: 6,274 shares and 0 employee stock 
options. 

Jukka Ruuska. President Nordic Marketplaces. 

Born in 1961. Master of Law (LL.M) and Master of 
Business Administration (MBA). Chairman of Federation 
of European Securities Exchanges. Employed by OMX 
since 2000. Previous positions: 1997–2000, Director, 
Corporate Planning, HTC (Telecommunication); 1996–
1997, Director, Corporate Planning, Finnet Group 
(Telecommunication); 1994–1996, Executive Vice 
President, Prospectus Oy (investment banking).

Holdings in OMX: 30,070 shares and 0 employee stock 
options. 

Hans-Ole Jochumsen. President Information Services & 
New Markets.

Born in 1957. M.Sc. (Econ), University of Copenhagen. 
Employed since 1998. Previous employment: 1996–1998, 
President and member of Executive Management of BG 
Bank; 1994–1996, President and member of Executive 
Management of Girobank; 1990–1994, President and 
member of the Executive Management of BRFkredit. 

Holdings in OMX: 2,240 shares and 0 employee stock 
options. 

REMUNERATION TO THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM 

(SEK)  Fixed salary Variable salary Pension Benefits TOTAL

CEO Magnus Böcker
 ���� 	,�	�,��� �,��
,��� �,���,	�� �,���,�
� �,���,���

 ���
 	,���,��� �,	��,��� �,���,	�� �
,���  �,���,���

Executive Management, others
 ���� ��,���,��� 	,�

,��� �,	
�,�	
 ���,��� ��,���,�	�

 ���
 ��,���,

� �,���,�	� �,	
�,�	� ���,��� ��,��
,���
 

OMX’s remuneration structure comprises (i) fixed salary, (ii) variable salary (Short Term Incentive), (iii) OMX Share Match Program, (iv) pension and (v) other remuneration and 
severance pay. More detailed information on the various components in the remuneration package is presented in Note 7 in the OMX Annual Report 2006 on page 85.

Magnus Böcker Jukka Ruuska Bo Svefors
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Board of Directors

According to the Annual General Meeting held on April 
6, 2006, the OMX Board of Directors has eight members. 
The background and share and employee stock options 
holdings of these members are presented below. 

Olof Stenhammar, Chairman
Born in 1941. Chairman of the OMX Board. Founder of 
OMX in 1984. Dr. Econ. & Phil h.c. 
Chairman of the Board of AB Ratos, AB Basen, Åre 2007, 
Wilhelm Stenhammar Foundation and Mentor 
Foundation. Member of the Board of the Swedish Sea 
Rescue Society. Member of SNS Board of Trustees and 
the Stockholm Chamber of Commerce. 

Holdings in OMX: 1,987,590 shares (including 
companies). 

Adine Grate Axén
Born in 1961. Member of the Board since 2002. M.Sc. 
(Econ.).
Director of Investor AB. Member of the Boards of Hi3G 
Access AB and Enskilda Gymnasiet Upper Secondary 
School. Member of the Securities Council and the 
Industry and Commerce Stock Exchange Committee.

Holdings in OMX: 2,190 shares.

Urban Bäckstöm
Born in 1954. Board member since 2005. M.Sc. (Econ.).
Director General of the Confederation of Swedish 
Enterprise; Board member of AMF Pension, Research 
Institute of Industrial Economics and Ratio Institute. 
1994–2002 Governor of the Swedish Riksbank (Central 
Bank). 

Holdings in OMX: 1,300 shares.

Bengt Halse
Born in 1943. Member of the Board since 2003. Doctor of 
Technology h.c.
Member of the Boards of TietoEnator Oyj, Denel (Pty) 
Ltd, ISD Technologies AB and Golf Engineers AB. 
Member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Engineering 
Sciences and the Royal Swedish Academy of War 
Sciences. Honorary member of the Royal Swedish 
Society of Naval Sciences and The Royal Aeronautical 
Society of the UK. 

Holdings in OMX: 5,500 shares.

Birgitta Klasén
Born in 1949. Member of the Board since 2005. M.Sc. 
(Engineering).
Member of the Boards of Telelogic and Bisnode, and 
independent consultant (Senior IT Advisor). 2004–2005 
Chief Information Officer (CIO) and Head of Information 
Management at EADS (European Aeronautics Defence 
and Space Company). 2002–2003 Independent 
Consultant. 1996–2001 CIO and Senior Vice President at 
Pharmacia and prior to that, CIO at Telia. 1976–1994 
various positions at IBM.

Holdings in OMX: 2,200 shares.

Tarmo Korpela
Born in 1942. Member of the Board since 2003. B.A. 
(Political Science).
1985-2004, Senior Vice President, Confederation of 
Finnish Industries and Employers. Chairman of Invest in 
Finland.

Holding in OMX: 1,400 shares.

Hans Munk Nielsen
Born in 1946. Member of the Board since 2005. M.Sc. 
(Econ.). 
Senior Vice President and CFO of the Danish company 
TDC A/S; Chairman of the Board of Collateralized 
Mortgaged Obligations Fonden and Deputy Chairman of 
a number of companies within the TDC group. Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Nordea Invest. Various earlier 
positions in Storebæltsforbindelsen, Carl Bro Gruppen, 
Danske Bank and the Danish Ministry of Finance. 

Holdings in OMX: 1,500 shares.

Markku Pohjola
Born in 1948. Member of the Board since 2003. M.Sc. 
(Econ.).
Deputy Group CEO and Head of Group Processing and 
Technology of Nordea Bank AB (publ). CEO of Nordea 
Bank Finland Plc. Member of the Board of Directors of 
Nordea Bank Finland, Nordea Bank Denmark and 
Nordea Bank Norway. Member of the Boards of the 
Pension insurance company Varma, the Finnish 
Chamber of Commerce and the Confederation of 
Finnish Industries, EK. Chairman of the Federation of 
Finnish Financial Services and the Finnish department of 
the International Chamber of Commerce. Member of 
the Supervisory Board of the Finnish Business and Policy 
Forum, EVA and the Research Institute of the Finnish 
Economy and Luottokunta. 

Holdings in OMX: 1,350 shares.

R E M U N E R AT I O N  PA I D  TO  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S

(SEK) Board and committee fees Benefits TOTAL

 ���� ���
 ���� ���
 ���� ���


Olof Stenhammar ���,��� �
�,��� 
	� �,���,��	 �) ���,
	� �,�	�,��	

Adine Grate Axén 	��,��� ���,���   	��,��� ���,���

Urban Bäckström ��
,��� �
�,���   ��
,��� �
�,���

Bengt Halse ���,��� �
�,���   ���,��� �
�,���

Birgitta Klasén �
�,��� ���,���   �
�,��� ���,���

Tarmo Korpela �
�,��� ���,���   �
�,��� ���,���

Hans Munk Nielsen ��
,��� ���,���   ��
,��� ���,���

Markku Pohjola �
�,��� �
�,���   �
�,��� �
�,���

Totalt �,	��,��� �,���,��� ��� 	,�	�,���  �,	��,��� ��,���,���

�)  For ���
, includes remuneration to a company in which Olof Stenhammar owns a majority holding, comprising a fixed amount and a profit-based amount based on a licensing agreement. The profit-related portion 
comprises � percent of OMX’s earnings after financial items. The remuneration for ���
 amounts to SEK �,���,���. The amount is paid quarterly in arrears. The contract, which was signed and is based on the formation 

of OM in ���
, ceased to apply effective January �, ����. 

R E M U N E R AT I O N
As stated above, the Annual General Meeting held in April 2006 resolved that the following amounts of remuneration would be paid to the members of the Board of Directors for 
2006.
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Olof Stenhammar
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The Board of Directors and the President of OMX AB (publ), Corporate Registration 
Number ������-���	, hereby submit the annual report and the consolidated accounts 
for ����.
 OMX owns and operates exchanges and clearing organizations in the Nordic-Baltic 
region and develops, operates and maintains technology solutions for companies in 
the global financial markets.
 Amounts are in millions of Swedish kronor (SEK m) unless otherwise stated. 
Amounts in parentheses denote figures for ����. OMX denotes the OMX Group, that 
is, OMX AB and its subsidiaries.

The ���� year of operations for the Group
For OMX, ���� was characterized by high market activity and increased profitability, 
focus on new products and services, and the integration of completed acquisitions. 
 OMX’s total revenues rose by 	� percent to SEK �,�	� m (�,	��) for ����. The largest 
sources of the increase in revenues are rising trading revenues, information revenues 
and facility management services revenues in the technology operations. Total reve-
nues also include SEK �� m in earnings for the sale of shares in Norsk Oppgørssentral 
ASA (NOS) and SEK �� m attributable to the sale of shares in VPC AB. The operations 
that OMX acquired from Computershare were integrated in the Group effective Febru-
ary 	, ���� while the Iceland Stock Exchange which was acquired at the end of Novem-
ber is included from December 	, ����. The order intake in the technology business 
rose to SEK 	,
	� m (	,�	�) during the year. 
 The Group’s total expenses were SEK �,��� m (�,��	) during the year. Compared with 
the year-earlier period, the Group’s expenses rose by 
 percent and by � percent exclud-
ing discontinuing operations. The rise in expenses is a result of increased market activity 
and new product and service drives during the year, in addition to acquisitions.
 Operating income rose to SEK 	,�		 m (
	�) during ����, up �� percent. Financial 
items amounted to an expense of SEK �� m (expense: ��).
 Participations in earnings of associated companies amounted to SEK �� m (	�). This 
increase is due to improved earnings in VPC AB (included in OMX until September), 
Orc Software and EDX London.
 Income after financial items amounted to SEK 	,	�	 m (���), while income after tax 
was SEK 
		 m (���). Earnings per share rose �� percent to SEK �.�� (�.��).
 Return on shareholders’ equity was �� percent for ����. The Group’s net debt/
equity ratio amounted to 	� percent at year-end.
 Total assets at year-end amounted to SEK 	�,��� m compared with SEK 	�,�	� m in 
the year-earlier period. The equity/assets ratio, excluding the market value of out-
standing derivative positions, was �� percent (��).
 OMX had an interest-bearing net debt of SEK ��� m (���) at year-end. During the 
second quarter total dividends of SEK ��� m were paid out. Net debt was also affected 
during the fourth quarter by the SEK ��� m OMX received from the sale of shares in 
VPC AB, the SEK �	� m that was paid out in conjunction with the acquisition of the 
shares in Oslo Børs and the SEK ��� m that was paid to shareholders. The net debt/
equity ratio amounted to 	� percent (	�) at year-end. 
 At year-end, interest-bearing financial liabilities totaled SEK 	,�
� m (	,
��), of which 
SEK 	,��	 m (	,��
) was long term. The Group’s total approved credit facilities amounted to 
SEK �,��	 m (�,���), of which SEK �� m (�) was utilized. Interest-bearing financial assets 
amounted to SEK 
�� m (	,���), of which SEK �	 m (
�) were financial fixed assets.

Key events during the fiscal year
NEW ORGANIZATION
Effective January 	, ����, OMX has a new organization. The two former divisions, 
OMX Exchanges and OMX Technology, were replaced by three business areas: Nordic 

Marketplaces, Information Services & New Markets and Market Technology. Nordic 
Marketplaces comprises OMX’s exchange operations in Denmark, Finland, Sweden 
and Iceland. Information Services & New Markets comprises exchange-related opera-
tions pertaining to information services, OMX’s Baltic marketplaces in Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania, and the unit for securities administration, Broker Services. Market Tech-
nology is based on the OMX Technology division.

ACQUISITIONS AND SALES OF OPERATIONS
ACQUISITION OF OPERATIONS FROM COMPUTERSHARE

On January �	, OMX agreed to acquire Computershare Ltd’s Market Technology oper-
ations. The operations are consolidated within OMX effective February 	, ����. OMX 
acquired the operations by paying around SEK ��� m to Computershare in the form of 
purchase price and license payments, of which SEK �� m was paid on implementation 
of the transaction and the remainder evenly distributed over a five-year period. Dis-
counted to net present value, the acquisition price is SEK ��� m, see preliminary acqui-
sition calculation in Note �. For the 	�-month period July ���� through June ����, the 
operations reported revenues of approximately SEK 	�� m. The operations provided a 
positive contribution to OMX’s operating income during the year.

SALE OF SHARES IN NOS

In February, OMX sold its entire shareholding in Norsk Oppgørssentral ASA (NOS), 
totaling 	,��
,��� shares. The gain from the sale amounted to SEK �� m, which has 
been reported among other revenues for the first quarter of ����.

ACQUISITION OF THE ICELAND STOCK EXCHANGE - ICEX

In September, it was announced that a Letter of Intent had been signed with Eignarh-
aldsfelagid Verdbrefathing hf (EV), the owner of the Iceland Stock Exchange ICEX, and 
the Icelandic Securities Depository (ISD) regarding the acquisition of EV. In November 
the acquisition was finalized and EV is consolidated into OMX’s accounts from Decem-
ber 	, ����, see preliminary acquisition calculation in Note �. The consideration to EV’s 
shareholders comprised an issue of approximately �.�� million new OMX shares. OMX’s 
shares have been listed on the Iceland Stock Exchange since December 	, ����. During 
the year, EV contributed SEK 		 m to the Group’s revenues and SEK � m to net profit. 

SALE OF SHARES IN VPC AB

At the beginning of October, OMX announced that its entire holding of ���,��� shares 
in VPC AB (the Swedish Central Securities Depository) had been sold for a total of SEK 
��� m. Operating profit of SEK �� m from this transaction was reported as other reve-
nues for the fourth quarter. In addition, a joint development project concerning a 
shared Nordic platform for the custody of securities was discontinued, which is 
expected to have only minor effects on OMX’s operating activities.

ACQUISITION OF 	� PERCENT OF SHARES IN OSLO BØRS

On October �, it was announced that OMX had acquired 	� percent of the shares in  
Oslo Børs, the Norwegian Stock Exchange. The price for the ���,��� shares was SEK 
�	� m.

BID FOR LJUBLJANA STOCK EXCHANGE IN SLOVENIA

At the end of November, OMX announced an initiative to investigate expanded com-
mercial activities in Eastern Europe. On December 	�, it was announced that OMX had 
submitted a bid for all issued shares in the Ljubljana Stock Exchange in Slovenia. The 
bid amounted to EUR 	��.	
 per share, corresponding to a total value of approximately 
EUR �.� m. The bid expired on January ��, ���� at which no owners had yet taken up a 
final position.

Board of Directors’ Report
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REDUCTION OF FEES FOR EXCHANGE MEMBERS
With the aim of increasing the attractiveness of the OMX exchange offering, OMX will 
reduce fees related to reporting of cash equity trades at the Nordic Exchange in Stock-
holm, Copenhagen and Helsinki from April �, ����. The fee reduction is a first step in 
introducing products for trade reporting in accordance with MiFID. Based on trading 
revenues during the 	� months up to September ����, the fee reduction would have had 
a negative effect on OMX revenues of approximately SEK �� m on an annual basis.

LEGAL DISPUTES
On February ��, ����, OMX announced that a court jury had rejected eSpeed’s claim 
regarding patent infringement and declared eSpeed’s patent invalid. eSpeed’s claim 
was approximately USD 	�� m on January ��, ����. In December ����, the court 
rejected eSpeed’s motion to overturn the jury’s ruling regarding invalidity. At the end 
of April ����, eSpeed appealed the court decision.
 During the second quarter of ����, OMX rejected a legal claim for additional repay-
ment of VAT amounting to approximately EUR � m, excluding interest. The Helsinki 
City Court announced an interim ruling on the case on June 
, ����, in favor of OMX. 
The City Court also found that OMX was entitled to receive compensation for its legal 
costs. The court’s ruling has been appealed by the plaintiffs.
 A dispute regarding a system delivery amounting to approximately USD 
.� m is in 
progress in the Market Technology business area. In May ����, OMX requested an 
arbitration process, which is expected to be concluded in the latter half of ����. 
 The Stockholmsbörsen AB subsidiary received a ruling from the Swedish Tax Board in 
���� pursuant to which the company will be subject to a value added tax surcharge for the 
support and operation services it purchases from other companies within the Group. 
Stockholmsbörsen AB does not share the Swedish Tax Board’s assessment and will appeal 
the ruling. Should the Swedish Tax Board’s opinion ultimately be upheld, this would give 
rise to a cost for the Group of approximately SEK 
�–		� m based on the situation as per 
December �	, ����, and increase ongoing expenses by SEK � m per month.
 OMX did not make any provisions for the disputes in progress or changes in contin-
gent liabilities during the period.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE 
At the Annual General Meeting on April �, ����, it was decided that the company’s four 
largest shareholders in consultation with the Chairman of the Board were to appoint a 
Nominating Committee. The composition of the Committee was announced in Octo-
ber ����. The Nominating Committee consists of the following individuals: Malin 
Björkmo, (Director, Ministry of Industry, Employment and Communication), repre-
senting the Swedish government; Arne Liljedahl, (Group CFO, Nordea), representing 
Nordea; KG Lindvall (Board member, Swedbank Robur Fonder), representing Robur 
Fonder; Olof Stenhammar (Chairman of the Board, OMX); and Jacob Wallenberg 
(Chairman of the Board, Investor AB), representing Investor AB. 

GENERAL MEETINGS, SHARE ISSUE AND DIVIDENDS
OMX’s Annual General Meeting on April �, ���� approved a dividend to shareholders 
of SEK �.�� per share, comprising an ordinary dividend of SEK �.�� and an extra divi-
dend of SEK �.��. The dividend was distributed on April 	�, ����.
 An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on October ��, ����. The Meeting 
decided in favor of a new share issue in conjunction with the acquisition of the Iceland 
Stock Exchange, and approved an extra dividend to shareholders of SEK � per share 
that was paid on October �	, ����.

SHARE MATCH PROGRAM – DECISION BY ���� AGM
OMX’s Annual General Meeting on April �, ���� resolved to approve the proposed 
Share Match Program ���� regarding approximately �� senior executives and key 
individuals in OMX. The program runs over a period of three years and is based on the 
employee’s long-term confidence in OMX and provides an incentive to continue to 
work for a successful OMX. Participants in the program invest in OMX shares and, pro-
vided that OMX achieves performance targets related to earnings per share and how 
OMX’s shares perform in comparison to its competitors, after three years, participants 
may obtain a maximum of five matching shares per invested share. The number of 
shares that the participant may buy in the program is limited. 
 At period-end, the number of shares invested totaled ��,���. OMX AB has signed a 
share-swap agreement amounting to ��,��� shares, as a result of the program that is 
reported as a shareholders’ equity instrument in accordance with IAS ��. The cost of 
the program for the period amounted to SEK � m, including social security expenses, 
and the cost of the program’s entire term is estimated at SEK 	� m. 

Other information
 DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS
In August ����, OMX announced the focusing of its technology operations through 
the divestment of operations targeting banks and brokerages within the former Banks 
& Brokers business area. During ����, the continuing operations not yet divested were 
included among discontinuing operations. These primarily comprise the Nordic por-
tion of the operations targeting banks and brokerages, which offer development and 
maintenance of systems for securities management, and UK operations in securities 
administration services. 
 Revenues from discontinuing operations amounted to SEK ��
 m (��	) during the 
year, while expenses amounted to SEK ��� m (���). The operating loss was SEK �� m 
(loss: ��). The weakening in earnings compared with the year-earlier period is mainly 
attributable to building up operations in the UK as well as organizational changes.
 After the end of the reporting period, OMX signed an agreement with HCL Tech-
nologies, the global IT services provider, regarding an extended partnership which 
means that OMX no longer has any discontinued operations in the Nordic region, see 
“Significant events after the end of the year.” 
 In March ����, OMX and TietoEnator agreed to cooperate on IT operations related to 
the former business area Banks & Brokers. As part of the cooperation, TietoEnator 
acquired an IT operation unit with �	 employees. The unit was divested on April 	, ����. 
 OMX’s aim is to identify a long-term solution with clear advantages for the remain-
ing parts of the discontinuing operations. Discussions are currently in progress with 
potential partners.

FINANCIAL TARGETS
OMX endeavors to generate profitable growth with a return exceeding the market’s 
return requirement. To achieve this target in a medium-term perspective, the follow-
ing financial targets have been established as a guide for OMX: return on sharehold-
ers’ equity shall amount to at least 	� percent, while the net debt/equity ratio shall not 
exceed �� percent over time.

FINANCING 
A two-year bond of SEK ��� m and an eight-year bond of SEK ��� m were issued dur-
ing the year. This has resulted in the expansion and diversification of the Group’s total 
maturity structure of its liability portfolio. The average term of liabilities as per Decem-
ber �	, ���� was �.� years (�.	). There are five bond loans totaling SEK 	,��� m (see 
table: Interest-bearing assets and liabilities, Group). 

CREDIT RATING 
OMX’s credit rating from Standard & Poor’s remained unchanged during the year. The 
long-term rating is A with a stable outlook, the short-term rating is A-	 and the Nordic 
scale is K	.

DEVELOPMENT 
Each year, substantial investments are made in development efforts within the Group 
to create the optimum business solution for the needs of each individual customer and 
to secure OMX’s position as market leader. Development efforts entail both develop-
ing new products and adding new functionality to existing products and platforms. 
During the fiscal year, the Group’s total expenditure for development was SEK ��� m 
(���), of which SEK 	�� m (���) was capitalized.

BRANCHES 
Three companies within the OMX Group have foreign branches, meaning branch offices 
with independent management. The Parent Company, OMX AB, and OMX Broker Serv-
ices AB have affiliates in Finland. OMX Technology AB has branches in the UK, Finland 
and Thailand. The Dutch company, OMX Netherlands BV, has a branch in Sweden.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
OMX’s operations comprise the provision of services and products that have a limited 
effect on the external environment. OMX’s greatest direct impact on the environment 
is, instead, through recycling different office products, from paper to different types of 
hardware. When making purchases, environmentally friendly material and products 
are always selected. 



�� OMX AB (publ) 556243-8001

Future development
OMX is a leading company in the global exchanges sector. OMX’s business model is 
based on generating competitive advantages and business from the expertise derived 
from owning and operating proprietary exchanges, combined with the development 
of technology and systems operation for a global customer base. By utilizing such 
expertise, OMX endeavors to attain the increasingly high market demands for effi-
ciency in securities transactions. In specific terms, this means that OMX works with 
strategic focus areas, a number of which are described below. 

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS
THE NORDIC EXCHANGE

Through the development of the Nordic Exchange, the region’s competitiveness is 
strengthened. The integration and development of the market is intended to make it 
more attractive for listings, investors and other players in the capital market by ena-
bling lower total transaction costs, fewer systems and higher liquidity.

EXPANSION OF INFORMATION OPERATIONS

To meet the growing demand for information services and maintain a strong customer 
focus, OMX aims to expand its information operations. This will be achieved through 
the launch of new products and services, and through continuous work to enhance 
customer relations. 

LAUNCH OF GENIUM – NEXT GENERATION OF SYSTEM PLATFORMS

In the future, the pace and complexity of trading will increase, requiring faster and 
more efficient systems for different types of marketplaces. Accordingly, OMX will 
introduce new technologies for the exchange industry - Genium. Through standard-
ized access and modular building blocks, OMX also aims to meet the demands of the 
future as regards speed, security and adaptability, in a cost-efficient manner.

PARTICIPATE IN DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL MARKETS

OMX will continue to develop the markets in the Baltic region so that they become a 
distinctive and attractive part of the OMX Nordic Exchange offering. In Eastern Europe, 
many marketplaces are faced with numerous challenges in the form of consolidation, 
privatization and change of corporate structure. OMX’s expertise within the exchange 
industry provides a firm base from which to participate in the transformation of these 
exchanges through advisory services, technology or other types of cooperation. 

CONVERTING CHANGES IN REGULATIONS TO BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES

Regulatory changes create opportunities and threats. OMX intends to use its strong 
position to create business and safeguard its role as the leading regional marketplace. 
This will be accomplished through product development, and by ensuring that OMX’s 
marketplaces maintain favorable liquidity and offer efficient trading.  

OUTLOOK FOR THE FIRST QUARTER OF ����
Revenues in OMX’s exchange operations are largely dependent on trading performance 
and trading volumes on the exchanges in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and in Ice-
land. Due to lower project activity at the beginning of the year, revenues in the Market 
Technology business area are estimated to be slightly lower than in the fourth quarter of 
����, excluding the result from selling shares in VPC AB. Group expenses during the first 
quarter of ���� are expected to be in line with those of the fourth quarter of ����.

Accounting principles
Effective January 	, ����, the OMX Group applies IFRS adopted by the European Com-
mission. The Parent Company, OMX AB, also primarily applies IFRS. Certain exceptions 
and additions are made in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Council’s recommendation RR ��, as a consequence of legislative stipulations, 
primarily in the Swedish Annual Accounts Acts and as a consequence of the connection 
between accounting and taxation. For further information, see the section on OMX’s 
accounting principles.

Significant events after the end of the year
DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS
After the end of the reporting period, OMX signed an agreement with HCL Technolo-
gies, a global IT services provider, regarding an extended partnership, which means 
that OMX no longer has any discontinuing operations in the Nordic region. As a result 
of the partnership, HCL Technologies will assume responsibility for the development 

and maintenance of systems for securities management targeted at banks and brokers 
and the remaining part of the Nordic operations will be moved to the Information 
Services & New Markets business area, and will be included in the Broker Services unit. 
A number of employees’ work tasks will be within the Market Technology business 
area to replace consultants and minimize new recruitments.
 The transferred unit had sales of SEK 	�� m and costs of SEK 	
� m in ����. The unit 
is expected to report a profit in ����. For the fourth quarter of ����, the unit’s revenue 
was SEK �� m while costs were SEK �
 m. These are levels that are expected to remain 
in the first quarter of ����. The changes will be implemented in OMX’s financial state-
ments as per January 	, ����.

SHARE MATCH PROGRAM ����
Provided that the Annual General Meeting approves the proposal, the OMX Board has 
decided to continue and expand the Share Match Program for senior executives for a 
second year. The program is targeted at approximately 
� senior executives and key 
individuals in OMX. The duration of the program is three years and requires employ-
ees to invest their own funds in OMX shares. Participants in the program invest in 
OMX shares and, provided that OMX achieves performance targets related to earnings 
per share and how OMX’s shares perform in comparison to its competitors, after three 
years, participants may obtain a maximum of five matching shares per invested share. 
President and CEO Magnus Böcker may receive a maximum of eight matching shares 
per invested OMX share. The number of shares that the participant may buy in the 
program is limited. 
 Costs for OMX’s Share Match Program for ���� involve administrative expenses, 
compensation costs and social security contributions which the Board expects to 
amount to approximately SEK �� m over the period ����–���
.

PROPOSAL FOR AUTHORIZATION ON REPURCHASE OF 
SHARES
After the reporting period, the OMX Board decided to propose to the ���� Annual 
General Meeting to authorize the Board to repurchase shares corresponding to a 
maximum of 	� percent of the total number of shares outstanding. The repurchase 
could take place through trading on the stock exchange or a directed offering to share-
holders. OMX does not currently own any treasury shares. This mandate shall apply 
until the ���� Annual General Meeting. The purpose of the proposal is to be able to 
continuously adapt the capital structure to the company’s needs, and thereby increase 
value for shareholders and repurchase shares that could be used for the execution of 
OMX’s Share Match Program. The details of the proposal will be communicated when 
notice of the ���� Annual General Meeting is made.

OMX AB
The legal entity OMX AB, the Group’s Parent Company, comprises the Group’s corporate 
functions and conducts holding company operations on behalf of Group subsidiaries.
 Revenues totaled SEK 	�
 m (�,���) for the year. Income before appropriations and 
tax totaled a negative amount of SEK 	�	 m (positive: 	,


). Cash equivalents totaled 
SEK 	 m (	). Investments amounted to SEK 	� m (�
). The high revenues and earnings 
in the preceding year pertain to the internal sale of Stockholmsbörsen AB to OMX 
Exchanges Ltd.

Ownership structure
At year-end, the number of shareholders amounted to 	�,�
� (	�,	�
). The total share 
of foreign ownership increased during the year from 	�.� percent to �	.� percent. 
Swedish institutional ownership decreased during the year. At the end of ����, Swed-
ish institutions owned �	.� percent (��.�) of the share capital. 

���� Annual General Meeting
OMX’s Annual General Meeting will be held on Thursday, April 	�, ����, at �:�� p.m. at 
OMX’s headquarters in Stockholm. The Annual Report will be distributed to share-
holders requesting the report and will be available to the general public on OMX’s 
website at www.omxgroup.com from March ��.
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Proposed distribution of earnings
For ����, the Board proposes that a dividend totaling SEK �.�� per share be paid, com-
prising an ordinary dividend of SEK �.�� per share and an extra dividend of SEK �.�� per 
share. The Board’s ambition is that OMX’s ordinary dividend shall grow in pace with 
the company’s earnings per share, taking OMX’s long-term capital requirements into 
account.

The following earnings are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting (SEK):

Income brought forward 	,
��,
��,
	�

Net loss for the year -��,���,���

TOTAL  �,���,���,��	

The Board proposes that the earnings be distributed as follows:

To the shareholders, ordinary dividend of SEK �.�� per share ���,���,	��

To the shareholders, extra dividend of SEK �.�� per share  ��	,���,
��

To the shareholders, a total dividend of SEK �.�	 per share  ��
,���,	��

To be carried forward 	,���,�
�,�
�

TOTAL �,���,���,��	

The proposed dividend to shareholders reduces OMX AB’s equity/assets ratio from �� 
percent to �� percent and the consolidated equity/assets ratio to �� percent. Provided 
that the Group’s operations continue to be conducted profitably, this equity/assets 
ratio is satisfactory. It is deemed possible to maintain the solvency of the company and 
the Group at a similarly satisfactory level.
 The Board has presented a proposal to the Annual General Meeting to continue and 
expand the Share Match Program for senior executives. Costs for OMX’s Share Match 
Program for ���� involve administrative expenses, compensation costs and social 
security contributions which the Board expects to amount to approximately SEK �� m 
over the period ����–���
.
 Shareholders’ equity in the company includes unrealized losses resulting from the 
reporting of financial instruments at market value in the amount of SEK 	� m.
 It is the view of the Board that the proposed dividend will not prevent the company 
or the companies within the Group from meeting their short and long-term obliga-
tions, nor from completing necessary investments. Consequently, the proposed divi-
dend is justifiable with regard to the stipulations of Chapter 	�, section �, paragraphs 
�–� of the Swedish Companies Act (the “prudence principle”). The proposed distribu-
tion of earnings and proposed income statement and balance sheet shall be adopted 
at the Annual General Meeting.
 Concerning the earnings and position of the Group and the Parent Company in 
other respects, see the income statements and balance sheets below.
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 Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ���� Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����   

  Continuing	) Discontinuing�)  Continuing	) Discontinuing�) 
(SEK m)  Note operations   operations OMX�) operations   operations OMX�)

R E V E N U E S   �, �

Net sales   �,	�� ��
 �,��� �,��� ��� �,�		
Own work capitalized  �� - �� 
� �� 	��
Other revenues   	�� - 	�� - - -

Total revenues, etc  �,��� ��� �,��	 �,��� �
� �,���

E X P E N S E S 
Premises expenses  	� -	
� -	� -�	� -	�� -	� -	
	
Marketing expenses    -�� - -�� -�� - -��
Consultancy expenses  � -��� -�� -�	� -��� -�� -���
Operations and maintenance, IT  	� -	�� -�� -��� -	�� -�� -���
Other external expenses  � -	�� -�� -��� -��� -�� -���
Personnel expenses � -


 -	�	 -	,	�� -
�	 -	�� -	,��

Depreciation
and impairment 	�,	� -�	� -� -��� -��� -� -���

Total expenses  -�,	�� -��� -�,

� -�,��� -��� -�,�
�

Participation in earnings of 
associated companies  	� �� - �� 	� - 	�

OPERATING INCOME   � �,��
 -�� �,��� �
� -�� ��	

F I N A N C I A L  I T E M S  


Financial revenues  �� � �� �� - ��
Financial expenses  -	�	 -	� -		� -		� - -		�

Total financial items  -�� -� -�	 -�
 - -�


INCOME/LOSS AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS   �,��� -�	 �,��� ��� -�� �
�

Tax for the year 		 -��� 	� -��� -�	� 	� -���

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD   ��� -�� ��� ��	 -�� �
�
     of which, attributable to shareholders in OMX AB  
�� -�� 
�� ��� -	� ���
     of which, attributable to minority interests   � - � � -	� -�

Average number of shares, millions       		�.��	   		�.	��

Number of shares, millions      	��.���   		�.���

Average number of shares after dilution, 
millions     		�.���   		�.�
�

Number of shares after dilution, millions    	��.���   		�.���

Earnings per share, SEK �)  �� �.��  �.�� �.��  �.��

Earnings per share after dilution, SEK �)  �� �.��  �.�� �.��  �.��

Proposed dividend per share, SEK    �.��   �.��

	) This column, combined with income/loss for the year for discontinuing operations forms the income statement in accordance with IFRS �.

�)  The income statement for discontinuing operations has been adjusted compared with the ���� Annual Report as a result of organizational changes which led to certain parts of the business being retained. Events after the 
end of the fiscal year did not affect the classification. For more information regarding discontinuing operations, see Note �. 

�) The Board of Directors’ Report refers to OMX including discontinuing operations, since management is responsible for such discontinuing operations has been completed. 

�)  Earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of shares during the year. The amount is based on OMX AB shareholders’ portion of net profit/loss for the period. 

Consolidated income statement  
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REVENUES
OMX’s total revenues amounted to SEK �,�	� m (�,	��) during ����, including SEK �� m 
from the sale of shares in NOS and SEK �� m from the sale of shares in VPC AB. The 
increase in revenues is primarily attributable to rising trading revenues, information rev-
enues and facility management services revenues in the technology operations.

EXPENSES
The Group’s total expenses amounted to SEK �,��� m (�,��	). The increase in costs is 
primarily due to rises in personnel and consultant costs as a result of increased market 
activity and completed acquisitions.

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS
Since a decision has been made to discontinue operations within Banks & Brokers, these 
operations are reported as discontinuing for ����, although the discontinuation has yet 
to be implemented and OMX has decided to retain certain parts of the business, see the 
Board of Directors’ Report.

PARTICIPATIONS IN THE EARNINGS OF ASSOCIATED 
COMPANIES
The Group’s share in the earnings of associated companies amounted to SEK �� m (	�) 
and is attributable to the following associated companies: Orc Software, NLK, EDX Lon-
don, VPC AB (until September ����) and the Lithuanian securities depository CSDL. The 
main reason for this increase was improved earnings for Orc Software and EDX London. 

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS
Net financial items for the Group amounted to an expense of SEK �� m (expense: ��). 

TAX
Tax expenses for ���� amounted to SEK ��� m (���). The deviation for the Group from 
the nominal Swedish tax rate of �� percent in ���� is primarily due to tax-exempt 
capital gains from the sale of the shares in VPC AB and NOS AS. The deviation in ���� 
was primarily due to an extra tax cost of SEK �� m pertaining to NLK.

CURRENCY EFFECTS
Currency effects had a marginal impact on the Group’s operating revenue and operat-
ing income during the reporting period.

SEGMENT REPORTING: PERFORMANCE PER BUSINESS AREA 
NORDIC MARKETPLACES

Within the business area, OMX operates the equity and derivatives exchanges in Stock-
holm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland.
 In ����, Nordic Marketplaces was characterized by record high activity with regard 
to both trading and listings. The Nordic Exchange was launched on October �, which 
involved the development of a new pan-Nordic presentation model for shares, new 
indexes and harmonized listing requirements. The Iceland Stock Exchange was 
acquired at the end of November and was consolidated on December 	. As opposed to 
revenues and earnings, the statistical information below is pro forma, the Iceland 
Stock Exchange is therefore included in comparative figures. 
 The business area’s revenues amounted to SEK 	,��� m (	,�	�) for ����, an increase 
of 	� percent compared with the year-earlier period. The business area’s costs were 
SEK ��	 (��	) m for the full-year. The reason for the increase is primarily marketing 
costs for the launch of the Nordic Exchange. Operating income rose by �� percent to 
SEK 
�� m (��
) in ����.
 The Nordic Marketplaces business area has three main sources of income: trading 

revenues; issuers’ revenues; and other revenues. Trading revenues amounted to SEK 
	,��� m (	,	��) in ����. During ����, �� percent of trading revenues came from trading 
in cash products, primarily equities, and �� percent from trading and clearing in deriv-
atives products. The number of equity transactions increased to 	��,�
� (��,���) on 
average per day, an increase by �� percent compared with the year-earlier period. 
Turnover in equities trading measured in value rose by �� percent to a daily average of 
SEK ��,��� m (��,		�) for ����. The turnover rate in equities trading rose to 	�
 per-
cent (		�) in ����.
 The total number of derivatives contracts traded per day in ���� averaged ���,�
� 
(���,���), up 	� percent compared with the year-earlier period. Of the total number of 
contracts per day in ����, Finnish options contracts on Eurex accounted for ��,
�� 
(��,���) and Nordic derivatives contracts on EDX London for 
�,��� (��,���) per day. On 
January 	, ����, OMX lowered its fees for certain customer segments mainly regarding 
trading in Swedish stock options. This reduction was implemented to offer more com-
petitive fees, which will lead to an increase in trading and larger market shares. 
 Issuers’ revenues amounted to SEK ��� m (�	�) for ����, representing an increase 
of 		 percent compared with the year-earlier period. The increase was mainly attribut-
able to the higher market capitalization of the listed companies and a larger number of 
new listings. At year-end, the total number of companies was �
� (���), of which �	� 
(���) were in the main market and �
 (��) in the alternative market, First North. In 
����, 
� (��) new companies joined the marketplace, including �� in First North. A total 
of �	 (��) companies left the exchange during the year, three from First North. The 
total market capitalization of all listed companies in the main market rose to SEK �,��� 
billion (�,���) at year-end, an increase of 	� percent.
 Other revenues in the business area amounted to SEK 	�� m (
�) for ����. Other 
revenues in ���� also include SEK �� m from the sale of shares in VPC AB and SEK 
 m 
from the sale of shares in NOS.

INFORMATION SERVICES & NEW MARKETS

The business area combines all of OMX’s information services within the Group’s Nordic 
exchange offering, OMX’s securities administration services and OMX’s ownership and 
operation of exchanges and central securities depositories in Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius.
 For the business area, the year was characterized by high levels of market activity, 
with focus directed toward the development of products and services and, as part of 
the Nordic Exchange, a pan-Nordic offering of real-time information was launched in 
October.
 The business area’s revenue increased by �� percent to SEK ��� m (�	�) in ����. 
Increased market activity and growing revenue from information services were the 
primary drivers behind the positive trends. An audit of the number of declared termi-
nals was also conducted during the quarter resulting in a positive effect on revenues. 
 The business area’s expenses were SEK ��	 m (�	�) in ����. This increase is mainly 
related to the rise in market activity and costs for product development associated with 
the Nordic Exchange. The business area’s operating income improved to SEK ��	 m 
(	
�) in ����.
 In Information Services & New Markets, there are four main revenue sources: infor-
mation revenues; revenues from Baltic Markets; revenues from Broker Services; and 
other revenues. Information revenues amounted to SEK ��	 m (���) in ����, a rise of 
�	 percent compared with the year-earlier period. These revenues are mainly based on 
the number of real-time terminals used and reported by the end users. The increase in 
revenues was partly due to the rise in the number of terminals ordered and the com-
pleted audits. At year-end, OMX had 
� (��) information vendors. Comparative figures 
are pro forma due to a change made in the calculation of the number of terminals. 
Terminals and vendors were previously calculated by country, but in the new Nordic 
structure each terminal and vendor is calculated only once.
 Revenues from Baltic Markets amounted to SEK �� m (��) in ����. This increase in 

Notes to the consolidated income 
 statement
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revenues is primarily attributable to the privatization that took place via the exchange in 
Riga during the fourth quarter. The number of members of the Baltic exchanges was �� 
(�
). Of the total number, 	� are members of all three Baltic exchanges. Total share turno-
ver on the Baltic exchanges was SEK 
	 m (
�) per day in ����. The number of equity 
transactions in ���� amounted to 

� (
��) per day. Trading was negatively affected by 
the delisting of HansaBank, the most heavily traded share on the Baltic exchanges, in 
June ����.
 During the year, Broker Services operations benefited from the growing trading 
volumes on the Nordic Exchange, with revenues rising to SEK �� m (�
) in ����.
 Other revenues amounted to SEK �� m (	�) in ����. Other revenues in ���� include 
SEK 	� m from the sale of shares in VPC AB and SEK � m from the sale of shares in NOS. 

MARKET TECHNOLOGY

Within the business area, OMX develops and delivers systems solutions, IT services and 
advisory services for the global exchange industry.
 During the year, the market for systems and services for the exchange industry con-
tinued to be characterized by increased activity. Important driving forces are growing 
trading volumes in global markets, new commercial initiatives from existing and new 
players, and regulatory changes in Europe and the US. Interest in OMX’s services is also 
rising in line with the development of the financial markets in rapidly emerging mar-
kets. Work towards increasing profitability is ongoing in the business area.
 The business area’s revenues grew by 	� percent to SEK 	,��� m (	,	��) during the 
year. Costs rose at the same time to SEK 	,��� m (	,�
�) for the full-year. This increase 
in both revenues and expenses was mainly due to the higher market activity and the 
acquisition of operations from Computershare. Operating income for the business 
area was SEK 
� m (�	) in ����.
 Investments in R&D, including investments involving the next generation trading 
system for marketplaces, amounted to SEK 	�� m (��
) during the year. This corre-
sponds to 	� (��) percent of the business area’s revenues. Of the total investments in 
R&D, SEK 	�	 m (	��) was capitalized during the year.
 OMX’s order intake in ���� amounted to SEK 	,
�� m (	,�	�), of which SEK ��� m 
(	��) pertained to internal orders. The total order value at the year-end was SEK �,�
� m 
(�,���), of which SEK 	,	�� m (���) is scheduled for delivery within a year. The total order 
value includes internal orders of SEK 	,��� m (�
�), of which SEK ��� m (���) is sched-
uled for delivery within a year. All order statistics include discontinuing operations. 
 Orders signed during the year included one to the Saudi Stock Market Tadawul for 
the design, delivery and support of a complete trading and clearing system. An order 
was also signed with Borsa Italiana for the infrastructure, operation, systems monitor-
ing and network services for Borsa Italiana’s derivatives market (IDEM). OMX also 
signed a long-term licensing agreement with International Securities Exchange (ISE) 
to ensure that ISE is provided with reliable and scalable architecture. 
 There are three main sources of revenue within the Market Technology business area: 
license, support and project revenues; revenues from Facility Management Services; and 
other revenues. License, support and project revenues amounted to SEK ��� m (���) 
during the year. This increase is due to the increased activities among existing custom-
ers and the acquisition of operations from Computershare.
 Revenues from Facility Management rose to SEK ��� m (���) in ����, due to 
increased internal sales and increased activities among existing customers resulting in 
a rise in variable revenues.
 Other revenues in ���� totaled SEK �� m (��). Other revenues in ���� include SEK

 m from the sale of shares in NOS and SEK �� m from the sale of shares in VPC AB.

REVENUES AND OPERATING INCOME 
BY REVENUE CLASS AND BUSINESS AREA 
(SEK m ) ���� ����

REVENUES

 Trading revenues  	,��� 	,	��

 Issuers’ revenues ���  �	�

 Other revenues 	�� 
�

Total Nordic Marketplaces �,��� �,��	

 Information sales  ��	 ���

 Revenues from Baltic Markets �� ��

 Revenues from Broker Services �� �


 Other revenues �� 	�

Total Information Services & New Markets ��� ���

 License, support and project revenues ��� ���

 Facility Management Services  ��� ���

 Other revenues �� ��

Total Market Technology  �,�		 �,���

Discontinuing operations ��
 ��	

Group eliminations -��� -���

TOTAL REVENUES, GROUP  �,��	 �,���

OPERATING INCOME

Nordic Marketplaces

Operating income	) 
�� ��


Operating margin, % �� ��
  

Information Services & New Markets

Operating income	) ��	 	
�

Operating margin, % �� ��

Market Technology

Operating income	) 
� �	

Operating margin, % � �

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME, GROUP �) �,��� ��	

	)  Includes distribution of income for the Parent Company and other functions totaling SEK 	� m (loss: 		�).

�)  Includes losses attributable to discontinuing operations of SEK �� m for ���� and SEK �� m for ����. 
Includes income from associated companies attributable to the Parent Company and other functions 
amounting to SEK 	 m for ����.
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NORDIC MARKETPLACES

TRADING REVENUES

Trading revenues comprise trading and clearing revenues from the spot and deriva-
tives products traded on the exchanges included in Nordic Marketplaces. 
 With respect to trading revenues from share trading, the two most important 
parameters are the value of the share turnover and the number of share transactions. 
A change in value of the average trading volume of 	 percent on an annual basis 
(assuming an unchanged number of transactions) will affect trading revenues by +/- 
SEK �.� m, calculated on the basis of trading during ����.
 With respect to revenues from trading and clearing related to derivatives products, 
the two most important parameters are the number of derivatives contracts and the 
size of the options premiums. A change of the average daily derivatives turnover of 
	,��� contracts on an annual basis (assuming unchanged options premiums and prod-
uct mix) will affect trading revenues by +/- SEK �.
 m, calculated on the basis of trading 
during ����.

ISSUERS’ REVENUES

Issuers’ revenues derive from the fees that listed companies pay and are directly related to 
the listed companies’ market capitalization. A 	� percent change in the total market capi-
talization of Nordic Marketplaces will affect issuers’ revenues by +/- SEK �.� m, calculated 
on an annual basis from ���� levels and based on the business conducted during the year.

OTHER REVENUES

Other revenues consist primarily of line connection fees for members and operation 
reimbursement fees regarding the derivatives clearing link with Oslo Børs. Other reve-
nues also include possible capital gains from the sale of operations.

INFORMATION SERVICES & NEW MARKETS

INFORMATION REVENUES

Information revenues are generated through the sale and distribution of trading infor-
mation based on the data generated through trading on OMX’s exchanges. Customers 
comprise information vendors, exchange members and private individuals.
 Trading information, which is the largest source of revenue, is sold to nearly one 
hundred companies that distribute the information to a large number of end users. 
These information vendors are invoiced in arrears. The size of the fee depends on the 
number of end users.

REVENUES FROM BALTIC MARKETS

Revenues from the Baltic Markets comprise trading revenues and issuers’ revenues from 
the exchanges owned by OMX in Tallinn, Riga and Vilnius. The revenue model is similar to 
that within Nordic Marketplaces. Also included are revenues from the central securities 
depositories in Tallinn and Riga where the number of register accounts, as well as cleared 
and settled accounts, are the most important parameters.

REVENUES FROM BROKER SERVICES

Revenues from Broker Services derive from securities administration, mainly back-
office services related to share trading in the Nordic region. Revenues are based on 
fixed revenue per customer and variable revenue governed by the number of transac-
tions carried out.

OTHER REVENUES

Other revenues consist primarily of training revenues, sales of information materials 
and line connection fees for members. Other revenues also include possible capital 
gains from the sale of operations.

MARKET TECHNOLOGY

LICENSE, SUPPORT AND PROJECT REVENUES

License, support and project revenues derive from the system solutions developed and 
sold by OMX. After OMX has developed and sold a system solution, the customer 
licenses the right to use the software. Each project involves individual adaptations to 
the specific requirements of the customer, for instance, relating to functionality and 
capacity. This development, testing and installation work generates project revenues 
that are invoiced continuously according to degree of completion. When Market Tech-
nology provides a system solution, it undertakes to continuously upgrade, develop and 
maintain the system and receives regular support revenues for this work.
 With regard to major system solutions for customers such as exchanges and clear-
ing organizations, license and project revenues are mostly fixed and are recognized in 
relation to the degree of completion. Support revenues are mainly fixed, and contracts 
usually extend for five years. A certain portion of license revenues can also be recur-
ring, and contracts can extend for a longer period.

FACILITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES REVENUES

Facility Management Services involve OMX assuming responsibility for the continu-
ous operation of a system platform for a customer, for which OMX receives recurring 
facility management revenues. Revenues from Facility Management Services can be 
both fixed and volume-based. Contract periods vary between one and seven years.

OTHER REVENUES

Other revenues comprise mainly revenues from consulting services and exchange-
rate differences. Other revenues also include possible capital gains from the sale of 
operations.

Sources of revenue in OMX 



�
 OMX AB (publ) 556243-8001

Consolidated balance sheet 

(SEK m) Note December �	, ���� December �	, ����

ASSETS   

Fixed assets      

Intangible assets 	�  
 Goodwill   �,	�� �,
��
 Capitalized expenditure for R&D   ��� ���
 Other intangible assets  ��� �
�
Tangible fixed assets 	�
 Equipment   ��	 ���
Financial fixed assets �

 Participations in associated companies  	� 	�� ���
 Other investments held as fixed assets  	� ��� ��
 Deferred tax assets  		 	�� ���
 Receivables from associated companies � � 	�
 Other long-term receivables 	�, �� �� 	��

Total fixed assets  �,��	 �,���

Current assets  

Short-term receivables �

 Accounts receivable – trade  	
, �� ��� ���
 Market value, outstanding derivative positions  	� �,��	 �,�	�
 Receivables from associated companies � 	 �

 Tax receivables  		, �� � ��
 Other receivables ��, �� ��� ���
 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  �	, �� �	� ���
Financial assets available for sale  ��, �
 �	
 ���
Cash equivalents  ��, �
 ��
 
	�
Assets held for sale �, �� 	�	 		�

Total current assets  �,��� �,���

TOTAL ASSETS  ��,��� �	,���
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(SEK m) Note December �	, ���� December �	, ����

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Shareholders’ equity  ��
 Share capital (	��,���,��� shares, ratio value SEK �)   ��	 ���
 Other capital contributions   �,��� �,��	
 Reserves  -	�� 	��
 Profit brought forward  
�� 	,	��

Equity attributable to shareholders in Parent Company   
,��� 
,���

 Minority interest   	� 	�

Total shareholders’ equity   
,��
 
,�
�

Long-term liabilities  �

 Interest-bearing long-term liabilities  �� 	,��� 	,��

 Deferred tax liability  		 	� ��
 Other long-term liabilities ��, �� 	�� 	

 Provisions ��, �� 	�	 	��

Total long-term liabilities  �,��� �,�	�

Short-term liabilities  �


 Liabilities to credit institutions  �� �
� �
�
 Accounts payable – trade �� 	�
 	��
 Tax liabilities  		, �� �� ��
 Market value, outstanding derivative positions  	� �,��	 �,�	�
 Other liabilities  ��, �� ��� ��	
 Accrued expenses and deferred income  ��, �� ��� ���
 Provisions ��, �� �� �	

Total short-term liabilities  �,��� 
,���

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   ��,��� �	,���

For information on the Group’s pledged assets and contingent liabilities, see Notes ��, �	 and ��.

COMMENTS ON THE BALANCE SHEET 
Consolidated goodwill amounted to SEK �,	�� m (�,
��) at year-end, including assets 
held for sale of SEK �� m (�	). Consolidated goodwill pertains primarily to the Nordic 
Marketplace business area, and refers to strategic acquisitions of operations with a 
long history and stable and strong cash flow. Other intangible assets of SEK 	,��	 m 
(
��), including assets held for sale of SEK 
� m (�
), consist mainly of capitalized 
development costs for system products that are amortized over a period of �–	� years 
and valued on a current basis against prevailing market conditions, as well as intangi-
ble assets attributable to the acquisition of CSE and the acquisition of EV. Assessment 
to ascertain possible impairment of intangible fixed assets is conducted on an ongoing 
basis. At year-end, the Group’s deferred tax assets amounted to SEK 	�� m (���). Provi-
sions were utilized in an amount of SEK �
 m (	��) during the year. The Group’s invest-
ments in other intangible assets during the period were SEK ��
 m (�
�), of which 
SEK 	�� m (���) refers to development work. Investments in tangible fixed assets 
amounted to SEK �� m (��). The market value of OMX’s holding in the associated com-
pany Orc Software (�.� million shares) at year-end was SEK ��� m (�
�), while the 
carrying amount was SEK �� m (��).

 Each year, substantial investments in research and development are made within 
the Group, aimed at creating the optimal business solution for OMX’s customers. 
Development work involves both developing new products and adding new function-
ality to existing products and platforms.

TOTAL INVESTMENTS IN R&D
(SEK m) (of which, expensed) ���� ����

Nordic Marketplaces 	� (�) �� (�)

Information Services & New Markets 	� (�) 
 (�)

Market Technology 	�� (	�) ��
 (��)

TOTAL GROUP  �	� (��) ��� (��)
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Changes in consolidated shareholders’ 
equity  See Note 23

 Attributable to shareholders in the Parent Company  

    Other   Profit/loss   Total
   Share capital  brought Minority shareholders
(SEK m) Note  capital  contributions  Reserves   forward  interest  equity

OPENING BALANCE, JANUARY �, �		�  ��� �,	
� -�� ��	 �	 �,���

New share issue, net after transaction costs of SEK �    � ���    ���
Minority interest      -�� -��
Translation differences     	��   	��
Financial assets available for sale;
 Reassessments reported directly against 
 shareholders’ equity   ��   ��
  Tax attributable to items reported directly 

against shareholders’ equity  		   -�   -�
Change in associated companies’ shareholders’ equity      -�  -�
Profit for ����     ��� � ���

OPENING BALANCE, JANUARY �, �		�  ��� �,��� �		 �,��� �
 
,�
�

New share issue, net after transaction costs of SEK �   � ���    ��

Minority interest         -	 -	
Dividend to shareholders     -	,	��  -	,	��
Equity swap for Share Match Program     -�  -�
Share Match Program     �  �
Cash-flow hedging
 Gain/loss attributable to shareholders’ equity    -
   -

 Carried forward/transferred to income    -
   -

Exchange-rate differences
 Hedging of shareholders’ equity    ��   ��
 Translation differences     -	
�   -	
�
Financial assets available for sale
 Carried forward/transferred to income    -	�   -	�
Change in associated companies’ shareholders’ equity      	�  	�
Profit for ����     
�� � 
		

CLOSING BALANCE, DECEMBER ��, �		�  �
� �,��� -�	� ��� �� 
,��
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(SEK m)  Note Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����  Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����

O P E R AT I N G  A C T I V I T I E S 
Operating income from continuing operations  	,��� 
�

Operating income from discontinuing operations  -�� -�


Total operating income  �,��� ��	

Adjustments for items not included in cash flow
 Depreciation/amortization 	�,	� �	� �	�
   Impairment 	�,	� � 	�
   Utilization of provisions  �� -�	 -	��
   Participations in earnings of associated companies  	� -�� -	�
   Capital loss    -	�
 -
   Other adjustments   -
� -	
Financial items  
 -�� -��
Income tax paid  		 -�� -		� 

Total cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital  �,		� �	�

Changes in working capital

Operating receivables   	�� ��
Operating liabilities  -		� -���

Total changes in working capital   �	 -���

Cash flow from operating activities  �,	�� 
�	

I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S

  Investments in intangible assets  	� -�
� -�	�
 Sale of intangible assets  	� � -
  Investments in tangible assets  	� -�� -��
 Sale of tangible assets 	� 
 -
  Cash flow from associated companies 	� �� -	�
  Acquisitions of subsidiaries  � -	
 -
��
  Sale of associated companies 	� ��� -
 Sale of operations in Group companies  - �

 Change in other shares and participations  -��� -
 Change in long-term receivables  	� �� -		
 Change in long-term liabilities �� 	� -��
 Change in short-term investments of more than three months   -	
� �	� 

Cash flow from investing activities  -��
 -�,���

F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S    
 Dividend  -	,	�� -
 New share issue  	� -
     Change in financial receivables   �� ��
 Loans raised   - ���
 Amortization of loans   -		
 -
 Change in current trading account   -�	 �


Cash flow from financing activities  -�,��� ���

CHANGE IN CASH EQUIVALENTS   -
�� ��

Cash equivalents – opening balance   
	� ���
Exchange-rate difference in cash equivalents   -	� ��
Cash equivalents – closing balance  ��
 
	�

Consolidated cash flow statement  
(in accordance with the indirect method) See Note 34
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(SEK m)  Note Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����   Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����   

R E V E N U E S   
Net sales   	�� 		�
Other revenues � �� �,	��

Total revenues  �
� �,���

E X P ENS E S

Premises expenses   -
� -	�

Marketing expenses    -�
 -	�
Consultancy expenses � -�� -��
Operations and maintenance, IT  -	� -	
Other external expenses  � -�
 -��
Personnel expenses � -�� -��
Depreciation/amortization and impairment  	�,	� -�� -��

Total expenses   -��� -�
�

OPERATING INCOME   -��� �,	�


F I N A N C I A L  I T E M S  


Income from shares in Group companies  �� -
Loss from other securities and receivables that are fixed assets   -	 -	
Other interest revenues and similar revenues    �� ��
Interest expense and similar expenses   -		� -��

Total financial items   -�� -��

INCOME/LOSS AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS  -�
� �,���

Tax for the year 		 �� ��

NET INCOME/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD   -�� �,	



Income statement – Parent Company 
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(SEK m)  Note December �	, ����  December �	, ����

ASSETS  

Fixed assets  

Intangible fixed assets  	�  
 Capitalized expenditure for R&D   	� �
Tangible fixed assets 	�
 Equipment   
� 	�

Financial fixed assets �

 Shares in Group companies 	� �,��	 �,���
 Other securities held as fixed assets 	� ��	 �
 Deferred tax assets  		 �  ��
 Other long-term receivables  	�, �� 	� ��

Total fixed assets  �,��
 �,�	�

Current assets  

Short-term receivables ��, �

 Accounts receivable – trade  	
 � �
 Receivables from Group companies    ��� ���
 Other receivables  �� 	� �	
 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  �	 �� ��
Short-term investments  �� - -
Cash and bank balances  �� 	 	

Total current assets  

� 
��

TOTAL ASSETS   �,��� �,���

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Shareholders’ equity  ��
 Share capital (	��,���,��� shares, ratio value SEK �)  ��	 ���
 Statutory reserve  �,��� �,���
 Profit brought forward  	,
�� ���
 Net profit/loss for the year   -�� �,���

Total shareholders’ equity   
,�	� �,���

Long-term liabilities  ��, �

 Interest-bearing long-term liabilities  �� 	,��� 	,��

 Other long-term liabilities  �� 	� 	�

Total long-term liabilities   �,��� �,
��

Short-term liabilities ��, �

  Liabilities to credit institutions   �
� �
�
 Accounts payable – trade   � ��
 Liabilities to Group companies   �,��� 	,���
 Tax liabilities  		 	� �	
 Other liabilities �� - 	
 Accrued expenses and deferred income �� �� ��

Total short-term liabilities   �,�

 �,���

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   �,��� �,���

Pledged assets  �	 - -
Contingent liabilities  �� �,	
� 	,���

Balance sheet – Parent Company 
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Changes in shareholders’ 
equity, see Note ��
(SEK m) Share capital   Statutory reserve Non-restricted equity Total

OPENING BALANCE, JANUARY �, �		� ���  �,	�� -��� �,���

Adjustment for change in accounting principles     �� ��

ADJUSTED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, JANUARY �, �		� ���  �,	�� -�
� �,��


New share issue �   ��� ���
Changes between restricted and non-restricted shareholders’ equity   -��� ��� �
Profit for ����    �,��� �,���
Other    -	� -	�
Group contributions    ��� ���
Tax on Group contributions    -
� -
�

OPENING BALANCE, JANUARY �, �		� ���  �,�	� �,��� �,���

New share issue �   ��� ��

Dividend to shareholders    -	,	�� -	,	��
Share swap for Share Match Program    -� -�
Share Match Program    � �
Profit for ����    -�� -��
Group contributions    ��� ���
Tax on Group contributions    -	�� -	��

CLOSING BALANCE, DECEMBER ��, �		� �
�  �,�	� �,��� 
,�	�

Changes in shareholders’ equity – 
Parent Company
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Cash flow statement 
(in accordance with the indirect method), see Note ��
(SEK m)    Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ����  Jan 	, ���� – Dec �	, ���� 

O P E R AT I N G  A C T I V I T I E S 
Operating income   -	�� �,���
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow
 Depreciation  �� ��
   Capital loss    -�� -�,	��
Financial items    � -��
Other items   -	� -	�
Income tax paid  - �

Total cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital  -��	 -���

Changes in working capital

Operating receivables   ��
 -���
Operating liabilities    -�� -	
�

Total changes in working capital   ��
 -���

Cash flow from operating activities   �	
 -��	

I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
  Change in intangible fixed assets   -	� -�
  Change in tangible assets   -� -��
  Acquisitions of and new share issues in subsidiaries  -�� -���
  Sale of subsidiaries  �	� -
 Change in other shares and participations   -��� -
 Change in long-term receivables   �� -�
 Change in long-term liabilities   -� �

Cash flow from investing activities  �� -�		

F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
 Dividend  -	,	�� -
 New share issue  	� -
   Change in financial receivables   � -�
 Change in financial liabilities  
�	 	,	��

Cash flow from financing activities   -��	 �,���

CHANGE IN CASH EQUIVALENTS   	 -�

Cash equivalents – opening balance   	 �
Cash equivalents – closing balance  	 	

Cash flow statement – Parent Company 
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OMX AB (publ), Corporate Registration Number, ������-���	 is a limited liability com-

pany registered in Sweden. The Parent Company has its registered office in Stockholm 

and is listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange, the Copenhagen Stock Exchange, the 

Helsinki Stock Exchange and the Iceland Stock Exchange. OMX pertains to the OMX 

Group, comprising OMX AB and subsidiaries.

 The consolidated accounts were approved for publication by the Board on February 

	�, ���
 and will be presented to the Annual General Meeting on April 	�, ���
 for 

approval. Amounts are in SEK millions (SEK m) unless otherwise stated. Amounts in 

parentheses indicate values for ����.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The most central accounting principles applied in the preparation of the consolidated 

accounts are described below. These principles have been applied consistently for all of 

the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

The following standards and statements came into effect in ����

•  IAS 	� Amendment - Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures 

(January 	, ����) 

•  IAS �	 Amendment - Net investment in Foreign Operation (January 	, ����)

•  IAS �� Amendment - Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup 

Transactions (January 	, ����)

•  IAS �� Amendment - The Fair Value Option (January 	, ����)

•  IAS �� and IFRS � Amendment Financial Guarantee Contracts (January 	, ����)

•  IFRS 	 First-time Adoption of IFRS, IFRS � and IFRS � Amendment (before January 	, 

����)

•  IFRS � Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (January 	, ����)

•  IFRIC � Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease (January 	, ����)

•  IFRIC � Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and 

Environmental Rehabilitation Funds (January 	, ����)

•  IFRIC � Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market: Waste Electrical and 

Electronic Equipment (December 	, ����). 

The new/amended IFRSs that came into effect from January 	, ���� impact the OMX 

Group’s income statement, balance sheet, cash-flow statement and shareholders’ equity 

only as regards cash-flow hedging (IAS �� Amendment - Cash flow Hedge Accounting 

of Forecast Intragroup Transactions). From January 	, ����, OMX applies hedge account-

ing of hedging of internally forecast flows in foreign currency. Income from cash-flow 

hedges are reported against shareholders’ equity.

 Regarding IFRIC �, the Group has a number of large outsourcing contracts in which 

it assumes responsibility for operations for its customers. In management’s opinion, 

these contracts do not contain a leasing component since the OMX fixed assets involved 

are not utilized exclusively by one single customer. 

COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS AND LEGISLATION 

The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the International Finan-

cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) approved by the European Commission for application within the EU 

and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts also include additional 

information provided in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards 

Council’s recommendation RR �� Supplementary Accounting Regulations for Groups.

 The Annual Report of the Parent Company was prepared in accordance with the 

Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s recom-

mendation RR �� Accounting for Legal Entities. RR �� entails that in the Annual Report 

for the legal entity, the Parent Company shall apply all IFRSs and statements approved 

by the EU as far as possible within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act and with 

respect for the connection between accounting and taxation. The recommendation 

states which exceptions and additions may be made in relation to IFRS. The Parent 

Company applies the same accounting principles as the Group except where the appli-

cability of IFRS in the Parent Company is limited as a consequence of the Annual 

Accounts Act and the law on the safeguarding of pension commitments. The differences 

in the reporting of the Parent Company and the Group are described below under 

“Parent Company’s accounting principles.”

BASIS FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE REPORTS 

The Parent Company’s functional currency is SEK, which is also the reporting currency for 

the Parent Company and the Group. This means that the financial statements are presented 

in SEK. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are rounded off to the nearest thousand. 

Assets and liabilities are stated at their historical cost, except for certain financial assets 

and liabilities that are stated at fair value. Financial assets and liabilities stated at fair value 

comprise derivative instruments, financial assets classed as financial assets stated at fair 

value in the income statement or as financial assets available for sale.

 Fixed assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of their previous 

carrying amount or their fair value after deductions for sales costs. 

 Preparing financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires that management 

make evaluations, estimations and assumptions that affect the application of the account-

ing principles and the stated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and costs. Estimations 

and assumptions are based on historical experience and a number of other factors that 

may be considered reasonable under prevailing conditions. The results of these estima-

tions and assumptions are then used to evaluate the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities not otherwise clear from other sources. The actual outcome may deviate from 

these estimations and assumptions.

 Estimations and assumptions are regularly reviewed. Changes in estimations are 

reported in the period in which the change is made, if the change affects only that period, 

or in the period in which the change is made and subsequent periods if the change affects 

both the period concerned and subsequent periods.

 Evaluations made by management in the implementation of IFRS that have a significant 

effect on financial statements and the estimations made that may entail material adjust-

ments in subsequent years’ financial statements are described in greater detail in Note 	.

Consolidated accounts
SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all companies in which OMX has the right to devise financial and opera-

tive strategies in a manner normally associated with a shareholding amounting to more 

than half of voting rights. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated accounts from the 

date on which the Group gains this controlling influence. Subsidiaries are excluded from 

the consolidated accounts from the date on which the controlling influence ceases.

 The purchase accounting method is used for the reporting of the Group’s acquisitions 

of subsidiaries. The acquisition cost of an acquisition comprises the fair value of assets 

transferred in payment, issued equity instruments and liabilities arising or assumed on 

the date of transfer, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The identifiable 

acquired assets, assumed liabilities and contingent liabilities associated with an acqui-

sition are initially valued at fair value on the date of acquisition, regardless of the extent 

of any minority interests. The surplus consisting of the difference between the acquisi-

tion cost and the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable acquired net assets is 

reported as goodwill. If the acquisition cost is less than the fair value of the acquired 

subsidiary’s net assets, the difference is reported directly in the income statement.

 Inter-company transactions, balance sheet items and unrealized gains on transactions 

between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless 

the transaction is evidence of the need for impairment to be recognized in the trans-

Accounting principles
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ferred asset. The accounting principles for subsidiaries have been changed, where nec-

essary, to guarantee the consistent application of Group principles.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

An associated company is an operation that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, 

usually on the basis of holdings of between �� and �� percent of the voting rights, but 

in which OMX exercises a significant influence over its management. Associated com-

panies are accounted for using the equity method and are initially valued at cost. The 

carrying amount of the Group’s holdings in associated companies includes goodwill (net 

after any impairment) identified on acquisition.

 The Group’s share of the associated company’s earnings after tax generated follow-

ing the acquisition is reported in the operating income and its share of changes in pro-

visions following the acquisition is reported among provisions. The share of earnings is 

reported in operating income for cases in which the operations of the associated com-

panies are similar to OMX’s own operations. Accumulated changes following the acqui-

sition are reported as changes in the carrying amount of the holding. If the Group’s 

participations in an associated company’s losses amounts to or exceeds its holding in 

the associated company, including any unsecured receivables, the Group will not report 

further losses unless it has assumed obligations or made payments on behalf of the 

associated company. Any dilution gains or losses in associated companies are reported 

directly in shareholders’ equity.

 Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies 

are eliminated in relation to the Group’s holding in the associated company. Unrealized 

losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction is evidence of the need for impairment 

to be recognized in the transferred asset. The accounting principles for associated com-

panies have been changed, where necessary, to guarantee the consistent application 

of principles within the Group.

SEGMENT REPORTING 

A business segment is a group of assets and operations providing products or services 

exposed to risks and opportunities that differ from those applicable to other business 

segments. Geographic segments provide products and services within an economic 

environment exposed to risks and opportunities that differ from those applicable to 

other economic environments.

 From January 	, ����, OMX has been divided into three divisions – Nordic 

 Marketplaces, Information Services & New Markets and Market Technology. Geo-

graphically, OMX is divided into four regions: Nordic Countries, Rest of Europe, North 

America and Asia/Australia. The geographic grouping corresponds to regions where 

the company’s operations have relatively similar system solutions, rules and regulations 

and customer behavior. Comparative figures have been adjusted according to the new 

organization.

Currency translation
FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY AND REPORTING CURRENCY

Items included in the financial statements of the various units within the Group are 

valued in the currency used in the economic environment in which each company mainly 

operates (functional currency). In the consolidated accounts, SEK is used, which is the 

Parent Company’s functional and reporting currency.

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency according 

to the exchange rates applicable on the transaction date. Exchange-rate gains and losses 

arising through the payment of such transactions and on the translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the exchange rate applicable on the closing 

date are reported in the income statement. The exception is where transactions represent 

hedges meeting the requirements for hedge accounting of cash flows or net investments 

where gains and losses are reported against shareholders’ equity. Translation differences 

for non-monetary items, such as shares classed as financial assets available for sale, are 

entered in the reserves in shareholders’ equity.

GROUP COMPANIES 

The earnings and financial position of all Group companies (of which none uses a high-

inflation currency), which use a functional currency other than the reporting currency, 

are translated into the Group’s reporting currency in accordance with the following:

a)  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet are translated at the closing date exchange 

rate,

b)  revenues and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average 

exchange rate, and

c)  all exchange-rate differences that arise are reported as a separate item in share-

holders’ equity.

In consolidation, exchange-rate differences arising as a consequence of the translation of 

net investments in foreign operations, borrowing and other currency instruments identi-

fied as hedges for such investments are allocated to shareholders’ equity. In the divestment 

of foreign operations, such exchange-rate differences are reported in the income state-

ment as part of the capital gain/loss. Goodwill and adjustments of fair value arising in the 

acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities associated with those 

operations and are translated at the closing date exchange rate.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are reported at their acquisition cost with deductions for depre-

ciation and possible impairment. The acquisition cost includes expenses directly attrib-

utable to the acquisition of the asset. Depending on which alternative is suitable, addi-

tional expenses are added to the carrying amount of the asset or are reported as a 

separate asset only if it is probable that future financial advantages associated with the 

asset will benefit the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be ascertained 

in a reliable manner. All other forms of repairs and maintenance shall be reported as 

costs in the income statement during the period in which they are incurred. Straight-line 

depreciation is conducted over three to ten years, which is estimated to be the asset’s 

useful life. Assets’ residual value and useful life are tested and adjusted as necessary. 

An asset’s carrying amount is immediately written down to its recoverable amount if 

the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. On divestment, 

gains and losses are determined by comparing the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount and are reported in the income statement.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are reported at their acquisition cost with deductions for amor-

tization and possible impairment. The acquisition cost includes expenses directly attrib-

utable to the acquisition of the asset. Depending on which alternative is suitable, addi-

tional expenses are added to the carrying amount of the asset or are reported as a 

separate asset only if it is probable that future financial advantages associated with the 

asset will benefit the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be ascertained 

in a reliable manner.

GOODWILL

Goodwill comprises the amount by which the acquisition cost exceeds the identifiable fair 

value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary/associated company 

at the time of acquisition. Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is reported as an 

intangible asset. On the acquisition of associated companies, goodwill is included in the 

holding in the associated company. Goodwill is deemed to have an indeterminate useful 

life and is divided among cash-generating units at as detailed a level as possible and is 

tested annually to identify possible impairment. The Group’s goodwill values are attribut-

able mainly to the acquisitions of the Nordic exchanges within the Nordic Marketplaces 

division, where each legal company represents a cash-generating unit. The carrying 

amount is the acquisition cost less accumulated impairment. Gains or losses on the divest-

ment of a unit include the remaining carrying amount of the goodwill attributable to the 

divested unit.

OTHER INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Other intangible fixed assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over an expected 

useful life of three to �� years. All other intangible fixed assets are tested annually to 

identify possible impairment needs.

Capitalized expenditure for research and development
All expenditures for research are charged as an expense when they arise. Expenses 

relating to the development of new products are treated as intangible assets when they 

fulfill the following criteria: it is likely that the asset will provide future financial benefit 

to the Group (contribute a positive cash flow), the acquisition cost can be calculated in 

a reliable manner, the company intends to take the asset to completion, and that the 

company has the technical, financial and other resources to complete development, use 

or sell the asset. Important documentation for the verification of such capitalization 

includes business plans, budgets, outcomes and external evaluations. In certain cases, 

capitalization is based on the company’s estimation of future outcome, such as prevail-
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are recognized when invoices are received.

 A financial asset is derecognized in the balance sheet when the rights conveyed by 

the agreement are realized, when they mature or when the company loses control over 

them. The same applies to part of a financial asset. A financial liability is derecognized 

in the balance sheet when the obligations of the contract have been met or otherwise 

concluded. The same applies to part of a financial liability.

 Acquisitions and disposals of financial assets are recognized on the date of the trans-

action, the date on which the Group undertakes to acquire or divest the assets, except 

in cases where the company acquires or divests listed securities, in which case settlement 

date accounting is applied.

 Financial instruments are initially stated at fair value plus transaction costs, which 

applies to all financial assets that are not valued at fair value in the income statement.

Financial assets stated at fair value in the income statement
This category has two subordinate categories: financial assets held for trading and those 

initially categorized as stated at fair value in the income statement. A financial asset is 

classified in this category if it is primarily acquired with the purpose of being sold within 

a short period of time or if this classification is determined by management. Derivative 

instruments are also categorized as held for trading if not identified as hedges. Assets in 

this category are classified as current assets if held for trading or expected to be sold within 

	� months from the closing date. Assets in this category are continuously reported at fair 

value and changes in value are reported in the income statement.

Loan receivables and accounts receivable
Loan receivables and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not listed in an active market. They are characterized by 

the fact that they arise when the Group makes funds, goods or services available directly 

to a customer without intending to trade the resulting receivable. They are included among 

current assets with the exception of items maturing more than 	� months after the clos-

ing date, which are classified as fixed assets. Loan receivables and accounts receivable are 

included under the heading accounts receivable and other receivables in the balance sheet. 

Accounts receivable are reported at the amount expected to be received less deductions 

for doubtful receivables judged on an individual basis. Because accounts receivable are 

expected to have a short maturity period, values are reported at a nominal amount with-

out discounting. Impairment losses on accounts receivable are reported among operating 

expenses. Loan receivables are stated at amortized cost applying the effective interest 

method.

Financial instruments held to maturity
Financial instruments that are held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments and with specified terms, which the Group’s manage-

ment intends and has the ability to hold until maturity. Assets in this category are stated 

at amortized cost applying the effective interest method.

Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative assets that are either attributable to 

this category or have not been classified in any of the other categories. They are included 

in fixed assets if management does not intend to divest the asset within 	� months after 

the balance sheet date. Assets in this category are continuously valued at fair value and the 

change in value is reported in shareholders’ equity. Exchange-rate fluctuations in monetary 

securities are reported in the income statement while exchange-rate fluctuations in non-

monetary securities are reported against shareholders’ equity. When instruments classified 

as instruments available for sale are divested or when impairment losses are to be made 

on the instruments, accumulated adjustments in fair value are recognized in the income 

statement as gains and losses from financial instruments. Interest on securities available 

for sale that have been calculated by applying the effective interest method are reported 

in the income statement under other revenue. Dividends on equity instruments available 

for sale are reported in the income statement under other revenue when the Group’s right 

to receive payment has been established.

Financial liabilities stated at fair value in the income statement
Financial liabilities valued at fair value in the income statement are derivatives with 

negative fair values unless identified as hedges.

Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost
Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost denotes financial liabilities other than those 

included in the category financial liabilities stated at fair value in the income statement. 

ing market conditions. The acquisition cost of an internally developed intangible asset 

is the total of those expenses incurred from the time when the intangible asset first 

fulfils the criteria set out by generally accepted accounting principles (see criteria above). 

Internally developed intangible assets are reported at acquisition cost with deductions 

for accumulated impairment losses and any write-downs. Revenue from in-house work 

carried out during the fiscal year on company assets that have been carried forward as 

fixed assets is reported in the income statement under the heading “Own work capital-

ized.” The item relates only to capitalized personnel expenses. No reduction of person-

nel expenses has been made for work that relates to capitalized assets. Instead, these 

expenses have been met by the reported revenue. Own work capitalized has therefore 

no impact on income but does have a negative impact on the operating margin.

Customer contacts
Customer agreements that have been identified in conjunction with acquisitions have 

been valued on the basis of expected cash flow and reported as intangible assets. 

Reported customer agreements are entirely attributable to the acquisitions of the 

Copenhagen Stock Exchange (CSE) and Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing hf (EV). 

Straight-line amortization is applied to these agreements over their estimated useful 

lives (�� years).

Brands and licenses
Brands and licenses are reported at their acquisition cost. Brands and licenses have 

indeterminable useful lives and are reported at acquisition cost less accumulated amor-

tization. Straight-line amortization is applied to distribute the cost of brands and licenses 

over their estimated useful lives (five to �� years).

Software
Acquired software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs arising when the 

software concerned is acquired and brought into use. These costs are amortized over 

the estimated useful life (three to five years). Costs for the development or maintenance 

of software are expensed as they arise. Costs closely associated with the production of 

identifiable and unique software controlled by the Group, which generates probable 

financial benefit for more then a year and exceeds the costs, are reported as intangible 

assets. Costs closely associated with the production of software include personnel costs 

for software development and a reasonable portion of attributable indirect costs. Devel-

opment costs for software reported as assets are amortized over their estimated useful 

lives.

Impairment
Assets with an indeterminable useful life are not depreciated/amortized but tested 

annually for impairment. Depreciated/amortized assets are assessed for a reduction in 

value whenever events or changes in conditions indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. Impairment is recognized in the amount by which an asset’s carry-

ing amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 

an asset’s fair value less sale costs and its value in use. In assessing the need for impair-

ment, assets are grouped at the lowest level at which separately identifiable cash flows 

exist (cash-generating units). On the closing date, a test is performed on other assets 

than financial assets and goodwill that have previously been depreciated/amortized to 

ascertain whether the asset should be reversed.

Financial instruments
The Group classifies its financial instruments according to the following categories:

• financial assets stated at fair value in the income statement

• loan receivables and accounts receivable

• financial instruments held to maturity

• financial assets available for sale

• financial liabilities stated at fair value in the income statement

• financial liabilities carried at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. 

Management determines the classification of instruments on the first occasion on which 

they are reported and reassesses their classification on each report occasion.

 A financial asset or liability is entered in the balance sheet when the company 

becomes a party to the contractual conditions of the instrument. Accounts receivable 

are recognized in the balance sheet once the invoice has been sent. Liabilities are rec-

ognized when the corresponding party has performed its undertaking and the company 

is liable for payment, even if the invoice has not yet been received. Accounts payable 
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Borrowing is included among other financial liabilities, initially at fair value, net after trans-

action costs. Borrowing is subsequently reported at accrued acquisition cost and any dif-

ference between the amount received (net) and the repayment amount is distributed over 

the term of the loan as interest expense applying the effective interest method.

Cash equivalents 
Cash equivalents include cash and bank balances and other short-term investments 

maturing within three months from the acquisition date and that can easily be converted 

into cash.

Share capital
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issuing of new shares or options are 

reported net after tax in shareholders’ equity as a deduction from the proceeds of the 

new share issue. In the event that a Group company acquires shares in the Parent Com-

pany (repurchase of treasury shares), the purchase price paid, including any directly 

attributable transaction costs (net after tax) reduces that part of shareholders’ equity 

that relates to shareholders in the Parent Company until the shares have been canceled, 

reissued or divested. If these shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the amount 

received, net after directly attributable transaction costs and income tax effects, is 

reported in that portion of shareholders’ equity that relates to shareholders in the Par-

ent Company.

Deferred tax
Current and deferred income tax for Swedish and foreign Group companies is reported 

under the heading Taxes in the income statement. The companies are liable to pay taxes 

according to applicable legislation in each country. National income tax for the Parent 

Company amounted to �� percent and is calculated on nominally entered earnings with 

additions for non-deductible items, deductions for non-taxable revenues and other 

deductions, primarily untaxed dividends from subsidiaries. In the balance sheet, deferred 

tax liabilities and assets are calculated and reported on the basis of temporary differ-

ences between the carrying amounts and taxable values of assets and liabilities, as well 

as other tax-related deductions or deficits. Deferred tax assets are reported at a value 

considered true and fair and only when it is likely that it will be possible to realize the 

underlying loss carryforwards within the foreseeable future. The reported values are 

reviewed at each closing date. Deferred income tax is calculated by applying the tax 

rates and laws that have been decided or announced on the closing date and that are 

expected to apply when the deferred tax asset in question is realized or when the 

deferred tax liability is settled. The effects of changes in applicable tax rates are recog-

nized in income in the period in which the change becomes law. See Note 		.

Employee benefits
PENSION COMMITMENTS 

According to IAS 	�, pension obligations are classified as defined-contribution plans or 

defined-benefit plans. The defined-contribution plans are mainly accounted for at the 

cost (premium/ contribution) incurred during the fiscal year for securing employee pen-

sion benefits. In these cases, there is no need to perform an actuarial evaluation of the 

pension plan from an insurance perspective and the Group’s earnings are charged for 

expenses in pace with the benefits being earned. Defined-benefit plans must be estab-

lished according to the present value of defined-benefit obligations and the fair value of 

any plan assets. In that case, the “Projected Unit Credit Method” is used to calculate obli-

gations and costs, in which consideration is also given to future salary increases. OMX has 

only defined-contribution pension obligations and in the event that companies with 

defined-benefit plans are acquired, management will determine whether there is cause 

and opportunity to replace the defined-benefit plan with a defined-contribution plan.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PROGRAM

OMX issued employee stock options during the years ����, ���	 and ����. 

 If the share price exceeds the redemption price when the options are redeemed, the 

employee is entitled to receive shares or compensation in cash for the difference 

between the share price and the redemption price. This is known as a “cash-settled 

plan.” The options were allocated free of charge, and their fair value was reported as a 

liability as of January 	, ����, when the transition to IFRS � took place. The valuation of 

the liability is affected by changes in the fair value of the options and by personnel 

turnover, and this is reported as changes in personnel costs in the income statement. 

When employees leave the company, the liability is reduced by the corresponding 

amount of the employee’s share. In order to limit the costs for the program (including 

social security contributions) in the event of a price increase, limit dilution and secure 

the provision of shares upon exercise of these options, an agreement was signed earlier 

with an external party to provide OMX shares at a  fixed price (share swap). As described 

under “Financial instruments,” above, the share swap will be stated at fair value on an 

ongoing basis. Changes in fair value are transferred to the income statement and 

reported as changes in personnel costs, and thus limit the effect of changes in the fair 

value of the employee stock options as described above. The financing costs for the 

share swap are reported as a financial expense. For OMX employees in countries where 

social security contributions are payable for share-based benefits, the social security 

contributions are expensed on an ongoing basis for the benefit of the employee. The 

benefit consists of the fair value of the options as described above.

SHARE MATCH PROGRAM 

A Share Match Program was introduced in ����. The Share Match Program is a long-

term program for approximately �� senior executives and key individuals in OMX and 

runs over a period of three years. 

 The Share Match Program is a program regulated/settled on the basis of shareholders’ 

equity. Payroll costs for the Share Match Program are reported during the vesting period 

for matching shares based on the fair value of the shares on allotment date. The fair value 

is based on the share price when the investment is made, adjusted to ensure that no 

dividend is paid prior to the matching and adjusted to the market conditions included in 

the program. This date is the date of the offering. Amounts corresponding to the costs for 

the Share Match Program are reported in the balance sheet as shareholders’ equity. The 

vesting conditions affect the number of shares that OMX will match. We estimate the 

probability of achieving performance targets for shares under performance-based pro-

grams when personnel expenses are calculated for these shares. Costs are calculated based 

on the number of shares that is expected to be matched at the end of the vesting period. 

Non-market related conditions for vesting are considered in the assumptions regarding 

the number of options expected to be vested. When purchased and vested shares are 

matched, social security contributions shall be paid on the value of the employee benefit 

in certain countries. The employee benefit is generally based on the market value on 

matching date. Provisions for estimated social security contributions are established dur-

ing the vesting period.

COMPENSATION UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Compensation is payable upon termination of employment when an employee is given 

notice of termination of employment before the normal pension time, or when an 

employee voluntarily resigns in exchange for such compensation. The Group reports 

severance pay when it is demonstrably obliged either to lay off employees irrevocably 

in accordance with a detailed formal plan, or to pay compensation upon termination of 

employment resulting from an offer made to encourage voluntary resignation.

VARIABLE SALARY 

The Group reports a liability and an expense for variable salary, based on a Group-wide 

program, “Short-term Incentive ����,” see Note 
. The Group reports a provision when 

there is a legal obligation to do so, or an informal obligation based on prior practice.

Provisions
Provisions are reported in the balance sheet when the Group has an existing legal or 

informal obligation in this regard due to the occurrence of an event that can be expected 

to result in an outflow of financial benefits that can reasonably be estimated. Provisions 

for restructuring costs are reported when the Group has presented a detailed plan for 

implementing the measures, the plan has been communicated to the parties concerned, 

and a well-founded expectation has been created. See Note ��.

Derivative instruments and hedging measures
Derivative instruments comprise, among others, futures, options and swaps that are 

used to cover the risk of exchange-rate fluctuations or exposure to interest-rate risks. 

Derivative instruments are first reported at fair value on the date on which the contract 

was signed and the fair value is subsequently reassessed on each reporting occasion. 

The method for reporting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative instrument 

is classified as a hedging instrument and in such a case the nature of the hedged item. 

In the Group, derivative instruments are classified as either hedging of fair value of 

reported assets or liability or of a binding commitment (hedging of fair value), hedging 

of forecasted transactions (cash-flow hedging) or as hedging of net investments in 

foreign operations.
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 Whenever hedging is entered into, the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and the hedged items, and the company’s risk-management targets and strategy for 

hedging is documented in the Group. The Group also documents, whenever hedging is 

entered into, its assessment of whether the derivatives used in conjunction with hedg-

ing transactions are expected to be effective in achieving counteracting effects in fair 

value or the cash flow that are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group continuously 

documents the effectiveness of the hedging transactions.  

Hedging of fair value
Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments classified as hedging of fair value are 

reported on the same line of the income statement as the change in value of the hedged 

item. Gains and losses pertaining to hedging are reported in the income statement on 

the same date as when gains and losses are reported for items that have been hedged. 

Since the entire change in value of the derivative instrument is reported directly in the 

income statement, any ineffective portion of the derivative instrument is recognized in 

the income statement. In the case that the conditions for hedge accounting are no longer 

fulfilled, the derivative instrument is reported at fair value including any change in value 

in the income statement in accordance with the principle described above.

Cash-flow hedging
Changes in value of cash-flow hedging are reported in shareholders’ equity and re-

entered in the income statement in line with the hedged cash flow impacting the income 

statement. Any ineffective portion of the change in value is reported directly in the 

income statement. If the forecasted cash flow forming the basis of the hedging transac-

tion is no longer deemed to be probable, the accumulated result reported in sharehold-

ers’ equity is transferred directly to the income statement.

Hedging of foreign net investments
Changes in value of exchange-rate differences attributable to derivative instruments 

intended to hedge net investments in foreign operations are reported in shareholders’ 

equity. Any ineffective portion of gains or losses is reported directly in the income state-

ment as a financial item. The accumulated result in shareholders’ equity is re-entered 

in the income statement in the event that the foreign operations are divested.

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied
If hedge accounting is not applied, increases or decreases in the value of the derivative 

are reported as income or expense in Operating profit/loss or in Net financial income/

expense, depending on the purpose for which the derivative instrument is being used 

and whether its use relates to an operating item or a financial item. If hedge accounting 

is not applied when interest swaps are used, the interest coupon is reported as interest 

and any other value change of the interest swap is reported as other financial income 

or other financial expense.

Derivative positions at Nordic Marketplaces
By virtue of their clearing operations in the derivatives markets, Nordic Marketplaces 

is formally the counterparty in all derivative positions traded via the exchanges. However, 

the derivatives are not used by the exchanges for the purpose of trading on their own 

behalf but should be seen as a way of documenting the counterparty guarantees given 

in clearing operations. The counterparty risks are measured using models that are agreed 

with the financial inspection authority of the country in question. The risk situation in 

regard to the risks involved in liquidating positions is unchanged compared with before. 

Collateral for liquidating outstanding derivative instruments is pledged in the same 

manner as before. According to IAS ��/IAS ��, the market value of the abovementioned 

derivative positions must be reported gross in the balance sheet after netting by cus-

tomer where an offset possibility exists.

Calculation of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market (such as mar-

ket-listed derivative instruments, financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

available for sale) is based on quoted market prices on the closing date. The shares in 

Oslo Børs Holding ASA are listed on the Norwegian Securities Dealers Association’s OTC 

list. The market for the share is characterized by a low number of settlements and high 

volatility. The value of the shareholding is based on the volume-weighted average of 

transactions in the most recent quarter.

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (such as 

OTC derivatives) is determined by applying generally accepted valuation techniques. The 

Group uses a number of different methods and makes assumptions based on the market 

conditions that prevail on the closing date. Quoted market prices or quotes by brokers for 

similar instruments are used for long-term liabilities. Other techniques, such as calculation 

of discounted cash flows, are used to determine the fair value of the remaining financial 

instruments. The fair value of interest swaps is calculated as the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows. The fair value of currency futures is determined based on 

market prices for currency futures on the closing date. The par value of accounts receiv-

able and accounts payable, less any perceived credits, is assumed to correspond to their 

fair value. The fair value of financial liabilities is calculated, for clarification in notes, by 

discounting the future contracted cash flow to the current market rate of interest avail-

able to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Collateral pledged to OMX’s exchange operations
Through their clearing operations, OMX’s exchanges enter as the counterparty into each 

options and futures contract, thereby guaranteeing the fulfillment of each contract. Cus-

tomers, who either through an option or futures contract, incur a financial obligation 

towards OMX’s exchanges, must pledge collateral against this obligation in accordance 

with the specific rules regulating this area. Most of the collateral pledged comprises cash 

and securities issued by the Swedish State. For other collateral pledged, see Note �	.

Contingencies
A contingency relates to a possible commitment arising from events that have occurred 

but where the actual commitment can only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or 

more uncertain future events that are not fully within the company’s control, or a com-

mitment that arises from events that have occurred but are not reported as liabilities or 

provisions due to the fact that it is unlikely that an outflow of resources will be required 

to regulate the commitment, or that the size of the commitment cannot be calculated 

with sufficient accuracy.

Revenue recognition
The Group’s reported net sales relate primarily to trading revenue and the sale of systems 

and services. Revenue is recognized in the income statement when the product or serv-

ice has been delivered in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions for deliv-

ery and it is probable that future financial benefits will flow to the company and these 

benefits can be measured reliably. Interest income is recognized on a time proportion 

basis that is calculated on the basis of the yield on the underlying asset. Dividends are 

recognized in the income statement when the shareholders’ right to receive payment 

is established. Income received in the form of assets (for example shares) is valued at 

fair value on the transaction date.

NORDIC MARKETPLACES

Revenues within this business area comprise, in addition to trading revenues, premium 

revenues for options written and payments for futures sold. Premium revenue and 

expenses as well as futures payments made and received are shown as net figures in the 

income statement. Consequently, current account assets and liabilities are reported 

according to the net accounting principle in the balance sheet where right of offset applies. 

Issuers’ revenues are recognized on a continuous basis as services are rendered. 

INFORMATION SERVICES & NEW MARKETS

Revenues within this business area comprise, in addition to trading revenues from 

Baltic Markets, information revenue, revenues from the central securities depositories 

in Tallinn and Riga and revenue from services in securities administration. These 

revenues are recognized on a continuous basis as services are rendered.

MARKET TECHNOLOGY

OMX applies the percentage-of-completion method to its technology sales, license and 

project revenues. In applying the percentage-of-completion method, income is recog-

nized in line with the completion (development) of a project. An anticipated loss on a 

project is immediately treated as an expense. The fundamental premise of the percent-

age-of-completion method is that project revenue and expenditure can be accurately 

assessed and that the degree of development can be reliably established. At OMX, the 

degree of development is established through the relationship between the hours that 

have been worked by closing date and the estimated number of project hours in total. 

The occasional project arises for which an accurate assessment of project revenue and 

expenditure cannot be made when the year-end accounts are prepared. In these cases, 
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no profit is reported for the project. The percentage-of-completion method is applied 

as soon as possible. A present-value calculation has been performed for those project 

receivables that do not fall due within 	� months. Income from support and facility 

management services is recognized on a continuous basis as services are rendered and 

over the contract period.

Internal sales
The main principle for transactions between companies within the Group is that the price 

is determined according to market price. Market price is the price an external customer is 

willing to pay or the price an external supplier would charge for providing the service. In 

cases where comparable market prices cannot be established, the price of the transaction 

is determined according to the cost-coverage method plus a margin. The cost-coverage 

method entails remuneration for direct costs as well as a reasonable portion of the indirect 

costs that the company has accumulated while providing the service. Any internal profit 

that arises as a result is eliminated within the Group. Common functions, such as premises-

leasing expenses and office services, are invoiced between companies within the Group 

according to the cost-coverage method.

Leasing
In the consolidated accounts, leasing is classified as financial or operational leasing. 

Financial leasing applies where the financial risks and benefits associated with owner-

ship are, in all material aspects, transferred to the lessee. Where this is not the case, 

operational leasing applies. In the case of operational leasing, leasing fees are expensed 

over the period of the lease, which commences when usage starts. OMX only has oper-

ational leasing commitments.

Dividends
Dividends to the Parent Company’s shareholders are reported as a liability in the Group’s 

financial statements in the period when the dividend is approved by the Parent 

Company’s shareholders.

Fixed assets held for sale
and discontinued operations
When a decision has been made to discontinue an asset or cash-generating unit by 

selling it, the asset or unit in question is classified as being held for sale.

 Assets classified as held for sale are reported separately in the balance sheet at the 

lower of carrying amount and fair value, with a deduction made for selling costs. Earn-

ings of discontinued operations and operations in the process of being discontinued 

are reported in a separate column in the income statement.

 Losses resulting from decreases in value when assets are classified for sale are 

included in the income statement.

Cash-flow statement 
The cash-flow statement was prepared in accordance with the indirect method. Finan-

cial investments with a duration in excess of three months are not included in cash 

equivalents. Accordingly, cash equivalents may fluctuate when there are changes in the 

duration of investments.

Current trading account
The current trading account’s assets and liabilities in OMX’s exchange operations have 

been reported according to the net accounting principle within the respective clearing 

operations in cases where a right of offset exists.

Clarification concerning future standards
When the consolidated financial statements were prepared as at December �	, ����, 

the following standards and interpretations had been published but had not yet come 

into effect:

• IAS 	 Amendment – Capital Disclosures (January 	, ���
)* 

• IFRS 
 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (January 	, ���
)*

• IFRS � Operating Segments (January 	, ����)*

•  IFRIC 
 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS �� Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies (March 	, ����)*

• IFRIC � Scope of IFRS � (May 	, ����)*

• IFRIC � Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (June 	, ����)*

• IFRIC 	� Interim Financial Reporting & Impairment (November 	, ����)*

• IFRIC 		 Group and Treasury Share Transactions (March 	, ���
)*

• IFRIC 	� Service Concession Arrangements (January 	, ����)*.

*Earlier application encouraged.

Of the above-listed standards and interpretations, IFRS �, IFRIC 	�, IFRIC 		 and IFRIC 

	� had not been adopted by the EU at January 	, ���
. In the management’s view, none 

of these new standards or changes to standards is expected to have any influence on 

the Group’s earnings or financial position at present.

Parent Company’s accounting principles
The Parent Company has prepared its Annual Report in accordance with the Swedish 

Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s recom-

mendations RR �� Accounting for legal entities. The effect of RR �� is that the Parent 

Company shall, in the Annual Report for the legal entity, apply all of the IFRS standards 

and opinions approved by the EU, as far as this is possible within the framework of the 

Annual Accounts Act and in consideration of the connection between accounting and 

taxation. The recommendation states which exceptions and additions may be made in 

relation to IFRS. The differences between the Group’s and the Parent Company’s account-

ing principles are explained below.

PARTICIPATIONS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

Participations in subsidiaries are reported at acquisition cost after any impairment losses. 

Participations in associated companies are reported in the Parent Company in accord-

ance with the cost method. Only dividends received are reported as income, provided 

they derive from profits earned after the acquisition. Dividends in excess of these earned 

profits are regarded as a repayment of the investment and reduce the reported value 

of the participation.

DIVIDENDS

Dividend income is reported when the right to receive payment is deemed secure.

GROUP CONTRIBUTIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ CONTRIBUTIONS 

The company reports Group contributions and shareholders’ contributions in accord-

ance with the opinion from the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s 

Emerging Issues Task Force. Shareholders’ contributions are transferred directly to the 

recipient’s shareholders’ equity and capitalized in shares and participations in the case 

of the donor, to the extent that an impairment loss is not required. Group contributions 

are reported in accordance with their economic reality. This means that a Group con-

tribution provided with the aim of reducing the Group’s total tax is reported directly as 

profit/loss brought forward after a deduction for its current tax effect.

 A Group contribution that is equivalent to a dividend is reported as a dividend. This 

means that a received Group contribution and its current tax effect are reported in the 

income statement. The Group contribution provided and its current tax effect are 

reported directly in profit/loss brought forward. 

 A Group contribution that is equivalent to a shareholders’ contribution is reported 

directly in the recipient’s profit/loss brought forward, taking account of the current tax 

effect. The donor reports the Group contribution and its current tax effect as an invest-

ment in participations in Group companies, to the extent that an impairment loss is not 

required.

TAXES

Untaxed reserves are reported at their full cost.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Parent Company has set up options programs that also include personnel employed 

at other companies within the Group. Only the cost for employees of the Parent Company 

is charged against the Parent Company’s income statement. The amount relating to the 

costs for personnel employed at subsidiaries is booked as shares in subsidiaries.



�� OMX AB (publ) 556243-8001

RISK MANAGEMENT AT OMX
OMX’s business operations place high demands on effective risk management which 
comprise a fundamental part of the Group’s strategic and systematic efforts to achieve 
operational goals while minimizing potential disruptions. Units in OMX are directly 
or indirectly subject to special regulation and supervision. The conditions for an effi-
cient process and controlled risk for the purpose of optimizing business value are 
created through a business adapted and integrated risk management model. There 
is particular focus at Group and business area levels to maintain high levels of capabil-
ity in crisis management, business-related continuity and incident management, as 
well as business intelligence.
 The aim of risk management is to increase value for our shareholders, customers, 
employees and other stakeholders by maintaining an adequate level of protection of 
the Group’s prioritized assets. This is achieved by eliminating or minimizing risks and 
disruptions to our business operations that would otherwise generate financial losses 
or other undesired costs. 

OMX’S RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION

The following roles and responsibilities are included in OMX’s risk management in order 
to ensure compliance with laws and regulations, governance, coordination and the 
development of methodology, as well as operational risk management activities:  
•  The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for adequate and efficient risk man-

agement. 
•  The President is ultimately responsible for ensuring that risk management is applied 

in accordance with the Board’s directions.
•  The Group Risk Management & Control (GRMC) staff function has the task of gov-

erning and coordinating risk management with regard to organization, roles and 
responsibilities, framework including methodology, reporting and control. GRMC 
includes governance of  Security, Risk Management, Insurance and Internal Control 
including coordination and support in the event of crises and major incidents.  

•  Management (at executive, business area and business support level) is responsible 
for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting the risks found within their 
respective areas of responsibility. 

•  Specialists in various security areas, such  as operational and financial risk manage-
ment and insurance, support management and others in the line organization with 
analyses and management of risks and incidents. 

•  All employees and contracted personnel are, to a certain extent, included in risk 
management in their roles and respective areas of responsibility. 

•  Internal Audit is responsible for the independent audit of risk management, regard-
ing both observance of governance, control activities and reporting. 

OMX’S RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

OMX’s risk management is an business-integrated process that covers both business 
and support units at various levels in the organization. The methodology applied is 
partially based on the international ERM-standard (Enterprise Risk Management stand-
ard) in accordance with COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission) with additional methodology for the areas of Security, Insurance 
and Internal Control. The risk management process is integrated in the operations con-
ducting business activities, such as strategic management and development work, and 
is directly linked to the company’s business planning and follow-up. 
 Risk management is a standardized and continuous process which aims to identify, 
evaluate, manage, control and report significant risks to which OMX may be exposed. 
Risk management employs different forms of preventative measures and strategies, such 
as risk prevention, damage limitation and risk financing, in order to safeguard the Group’s 
objectives and the majority of goals set at business area and operational levels. 

 OMX’s risk management not only includes risks in the day-to-day business oper-
ations but also risks arising in conjunction with forward-looking strategic investments 
in order to optimize the company’s business opportunities.
 Risk management including control activities is decentralized to each business 
area and support function. As a result, all business areas, support functions and Group 
staff functions work with the management of financial, operational and strategic 
risks. Risks are divided into short-term and long-term risks.
 The business areas and central support functions periodically report on risks to 
GRMC which presents consolidated risk reports to the Risk Steering Group. The CEO 
is the Chairman of the Risk Steering Group and periodically reports on risks in OMX 
to the OMX Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT IN OMX’S BUSINESS AREAS

The Nordic Marketplaces business area and its units comprise operations that are 
subject to special regulation. Corresponding requirements apply to the Information 
Services & New Markets business area which comprises trading information, the 
Baltic exchange operations and central securities depositories. Finally, the Market 
Technology business area provides system solutions, systems operation and other 
services to exchanges, clearing organizations, central securities depositories and other 
types of authorized companies in the financial markets in a number of different coun-
tries. All business areas manage operational and strategic risks particularly those that 
fall under their respective areas of focus and responsibility. 

Nordic Marketplaces
Nordic Marketplaces primarily manages risks attributable to the clearing operations 
for derivatives instruments. These risks arise as a result of the clearing organization 
serving as the counterparty in those transactions that are subject to counterparty 
clearing in different markets, entailing issuing a guarantee for ensuring that a clear-
ing contract will be fulfilled. The clearing operations’ risks include counterparty risks, 
settlement risks and liquidity risks, of which the significant risk is that one or more 
clearing counterparties will fail to fulfill its commitments. One of the primary obliga-
tions of clearing counterparties is to pledge the requisite collateral as required by the 
applicable rules as protection against the counterparty risk assumed. In addition, 
netting is applied which facilitates risk management in the clearing operations by 
decreasing the value of the payments to be made, thereby reducing the need for 
liquidity facilities. Furthermore, netting implies that the counterparty risk is reduced 
to the net exposure of outstanding positions vis-à-vis respective counterparties.

Market Technology
The special risks associated with the Market Technology business area are attribut-
able mainly to the various phases in the provision of a service: the sales phase, the 
delivery and implementation phase and the production phase. The sales phase 
involves the risk of the absence of profitability and foreign exchange risk. Operational 
risks are managed in the other phases. Significant emphasis is also placed on manag-
ing IT security and continuity operations.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT IN ���� 
OMX is exposed to various kinds of financial risks through its international opera-
tions.

ORGANIZATION AND OPERATION 

The Group’s financial operations and financial risk management are centered around 
OMX’s internal bank, OMX Treasury. The goal of OMX Treasury is, within given risk 
limitations, to manage the Group’s financial risk exposure, to optimize net financial 

Risk management
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income and generate value for business operations through financial services. Signi-
ficant economies of scale, lower financial costs and better oversight and management 
of the Group’s financial risks are achieved through centralized financial operations. 
Operations are conducted according to a Financial Policy, which forms the framework 
and specifies guidelines and limitations. The Financial Policy is determined by OMX 
AB’s Board of Directors and revised continuously.

The Policy deals with the following risks: 
• Currency risks (transaction and translation exposure) 
• Interest-rate risks 
• Financing risks 
• Credit and counterparty risks.

Currency risks 
A significant portion of the Group’s sales are attributable to operations outside Swe-
den, which means that changes in currency exchange rates have an impact on the 
Group’s income statement and balance sheet. Currency risk exposure occurs during 
the sale and purchase of foreign currencies (transaction exposure) and during the 
translation of foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets and income statements to SEK 
(translation exposure).
 In accordance with the Group’s Financial Policy, ��� percent of contracted flows and 
�–��� percent of forecast flows up to �� months shall be hedged. Deviations from the 
prescribed hedge levels can occur within specified guidelines. Hedging of transaction 
exposure is carried out through currency forwards and options or loans in foreign cur-
rencies. Currency forwards that hedge contracted flows fulfill the conditions for hedge 
accounting. These forwards have been defined as hedging of fair value and are reported 
in the income statement together with changes in fair value of the asset which gave rise 
to the hedged risk, see the Hedge relations table. The forward contracts that hedge 
forecasted flows fulfill the requirements for hedge accounting. These forward contracts 
have been defined as cash-flow hedging. Changes in fair value of these hedges are 
reported directly against shareholders’ equity, while the portion of the hedge that is 
not effective is reported directly in the income statement.
 Transaction exposure originating from financial cash flows is eliminated by the 
subsidiaries raising borrowings and making investments in local currency or by hed-
ging these flows by using currency forwards. Translation exposure occurs in conjunc-
tion with the translation of OMX’s foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets and income 
statements and in the recalculation of consolidated goodwill relating to foreign sub-
sidiaries into SEK. In accordance with the Financial Policy, portions of the translation 
exposure are hedged in order to reduce the volatility of OMX’s financial key ratios 
(see table: Translation exposure).

Interest-rate risks 
The Group is exposed to interest-rate risks that can impact the Group’s earnings due 
to changing market rates. Both the Group’s interest-bearing assets, consisting prima-
rily of regulatory capital for counterparty risks within the exchange and clearing 
operations, and interest-bearing liabilities are exposed to interest-rate risks. The 
speed with which a permanent change in interest rates can impact the Group’s net 
financial income depends on the fixed-interest terms of investments and loans.
 Fixed-interest terms for Group liabilities are short as stipulated in the Financial 
Policy. According to the Financial Policy, interest swaps and standardized interest 
futures are used to change the length of fixed-interest terms, thereby minimizing 
interest-rate risk.
 According to OMX’s Financial Policy, the average fixed-interest term for regulatory 
capital for exchange and clearing operations is a maximum of three years. As a rule, 
other surplus liquidity is placed in investments with short fixed-interest terms. At 
year-end, net financial debt amounted to SEK ��� m (net debt: SEK 	�� m). Financial 
assets as per December 
�, ���� amounted to SEK �	� m (�,

�) and the average 
effective rate of interest for these assets was 
.�� percent, while the fixed-interest 
term was approximately �.� years. Interest-bearing securities that are retained are 
booked at fair value. At year-end, interest-bearing financial liabilities amounted to 
SEK �,��� m (�,���), of which SEK �,
	� m (�,���) are long-term (see table: Interest-
bearing assets and liabilities, Group). During the year, the average fixed-interest term 
for liabilities varied between two and four months. As per December 
�, the fixed-
interest term for borrowings was three months and the effective rate was 
.

 percent. 
The interest-bearing financial liabilities are not booked at fair value since the liabili-
ties are to be held until maturity. The exceptions are bonds which have been hedged 
by using fixed-income derivatives. These fixed-income derivatives are defined as 

hedging of fair value and fulfill the requirements for hedge accounting. The fixed-
income derivative agreements are reported in the income statement together with 
changes in fair value of the asset or liability that gave rise to the hedged risk, see the 
Hedge relations table.
 In the event of a parallel shift in the Swedish and foreign yield curves upward by 
one percentage point, the Group’s earnings would be negatively affected in an amount 
of SEK �
 m on an annualized basis, given the nominal amount and the fixed-interest 
terms prevailing on December 
�, ����.  
 

Financing risks 
Financing risk refers to the risk that costs will be higher and financing possibilities 
limited when a loan is to be refinanced, and that it will not be possible to fulfill pay-
ment obligations due to insufficient liquidity or difficulties in obtaining financing. 
The Financial Policy specifies that unutilized credit facilities of sufficient size must 
exist to guarantee access to adequate funds. Financing risk is also dealt with by 
endeavoring to find a suitable balance between short and long-term financing and a 
diversification between various forms of financing and markets. OMX’s total granted 
credit facilities as per December 
�, ���� amounted to SEK 
,��� m (
,�

), of which 
SEK 
� m (�) has been utilized (see table: Credit facilities).
 Of OMX’s credit facilities, SEK �,��� m is a syndicated credit facility with a three-
year term. One portion, SEK �,	�� m, is linked to the company’s commercial paper 
program for the same amount and, if OMX is unable to issue the commercial papers, 
entitles the company to borrow capital in the amount of SEK �,	�� m. There is also a 
credit facility for approximately a year of SEK �,��� m which is dedicated to liquidity 
requirements linked to the Stockholm Stock Exchange’s clearing operations. Financial 
conditions linked to these credit facilities will be applied if OMX receives a credit 
rating from Standard & Poor’s of BBB or below.
 OMX’s rating with Standard & Poor’s remained unchanged during the year (with 
a long-term counterparty rating of  “A with a stable outlook,” a short-term counter-
party rating of A-�, and a rating of K� on the Nordic scale).
 During the year, a two-year bond of SEK 
�� m was repaid and an eight-year bond 
of SEK �	� m was issued. This has resulted in the expansion and diversification of the 
Group’s total maturity structure of its liability portfolio. The average term of liabilities 
as per December 
�, ���� was 
.� years (
.�). There are five bond loans totaling 
SEK �,
	� m (see table: Interest-bearing assets and liabilities, Group).

Credit and counterparty risks 
The Group’s financial transactions give rise to credit risks towards financial counter-
parties. Credit risk or counterparty risk refers to the risk of loss if the counterparty 
does not fulfill its obligations. There are credit risks when investing in cash equivalents. 
In accordance with the Financial Policy, in the interest of limiting risk exposure, only 
investments in highly creditworthy securities with high liquidity are permitted.
 A majority of the Group’s outstanding investments at year-end were in securities 
issued by the Swedish Government. The Group has no significant concentration of 
credit exposure to any other individual counterparty.
 The derivative instruments that OMX uses involve a counterparty risk, that is, that the 
counterparty will not fulfill its portion of the agreement relating to futures or options. In 
order to limit counterparty risk, only counterparties with a high degree of creditworthi-
ness according to the adopted Financial Policy are accepted. OMX also uses an ISDA 
agreement to minimize counterparty risk. The total counterparty risk related to financial 
transactions amounted to SEK ��� m as per December 
�, ����, including bank balances 
but excluding counterparty risk attributable to the Stockholm Stock Exchange’s clearing 
operations (see below) and collateral funds invested in Swedish Government securities. 
The largest exposure to an individual institution amounted to SEK �� m.
 No single OMX customer was responsible for more than �� percent of invoicing as 
of December 
�, ����. Counterparty risk arises by the Stockholm Stock Exchange pro-
viding clearing services and thereby acts as the central counterparty in all contracts 
subject to counterparty clearing. For the purpose of minimizing this counterparty risk, 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange requires that the counterparties pledge collateral to 
guarantee fulfillment of their commitments to the Stockholm Stock Exchange. Pledged 
collateral amounts to SEK �	,�	� m (��,	

) (see Note 
� Collateral received by OMX’s 
exchange operations). None of the members of the Stockholm Stock Exchange accoun-
ted for more than �	 percent of the total exposure on December 
�, ����.

HEDGING OF EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PROGRAM

In order to limit costs for the programs if the share price were to increase, limit dilu-
tion and ensure that shares can be provided when options are exercised, an agreement 
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Currency exposure

TRANSACTION EXPOSURE 
The table shows the Group’s commercial future net flows and net exposure as at December 
�, ����. A sensitivity analysis shows the effect on earnings of a +/- 	 percent change in 
the value of the SEK.
 

Currency Net flow in each Future net flow  Net exposure after Sensitivity
 base currency (m) December 
�, ���� (SEK m) hedging (SEK m)  base (SEK m)

AUD/SEK   �.	 ��.� -��.� -�.�

EUR/SEK ��.� ��	.� �.� �.�

GBP/SEK �.� �	.� -�.
 -�.�

NOK/SEK ���.� �

.	 
.� -�.�

SGD/SEK �.� ��.� �.� �.�

USD/SEK ��.� ���.� -��.� -�.�

TOTAL  ���.� -�	.
 -
.�

HEDGING OF TRANSACTION EXPOSURE 
The table shows a summary of outstanding futures as per December 
�, ���� pertaining to all hedges for commercial flows and transaction exposure. The purpose of the hedges 
is to safeguard the value of contracted future flows and to increase forecastability. In accordance with the Group’s Financial Policy, ��� percent of the contracted flows and �–��� 
percent of estimated flows of up to �� months shall be hedged. Deviations from the prescribed degree of hedging are permitted within the established guidelines. Currency 
hedging is undertaken in the market through currency futures, option contracts or loans in foreign currencies.

 Hedged in each  Nominal value at Nominal value at Unrealized forward  Average  Date of
Currency base currency (m)  year-end rate (SEK m)  forward rate (SEK m) result (SEK m)     forward rate�) maturity 

AUD/SEK -��.	    -��.�   -��.	 �.
 	.�
	� <�� months   

EUR/SEK -��.�   -��	.�    -���.	 
.� �.���� <�� months    

GBP/SEK -�.
     -��.	   -��.	 �.� �
.��	� <�� months   

NOK/SEK -���.�    -�
�.�     -�
�.� �.
 �.���� <�� months   

SGD/SEK -�.�    -��.�     -��.
 �.
 �.	��	 <�� months   

USD/SEK -
�.�     -���.�    -���.	 �.� �.���
 <�� months  

TOTAL  -���.� -���.� ��.
      

�) The average forward rate is based on the spot rate in the forward contracts entered into. Thus, the forward premium is excluded.

has previously been made with an external party regarding the provision of OMX 
shares, known as an equity swap. The agreement is valid until June 
�, ���� and cor-
responds to approximately ���,��� shares at an agreed price of SEK ��� per share. 
The equity swap agreement covers the portion of outstanding employee stock options 
that are currently deemed to be exercised. The amount of the equity swap will be 
continuously adjusted so that it corresponds to the number of employee stock options 
that are expected to be utilized.
 OMX continuously pays interest compensation to the counterparty in exchange for 
the counterparty undertaking to provide the shares. Interest compensation in the agre-
ement corresponds to the net amount of interest expenses on the underlying value of 
the shares when the agreement was signed and the dividend on the underlying shares 
(approximately ���,���). Interest expenses are based on a STIBOR of �� days.
 Changes in OMX’s share price affect the value of the equity swap. These changes 
in fair value are reported in the income statement. 

HEDGING OF SHARE MATCH PROGRAM

In order to limit expenses for the program in the event of an increase in the share 
price and to ensure that shares can be provided when shares are matched in the Share 
Match Program, OMX has signed an equity-swap agreement amounting to approx-
imately 	�,��� shares at a predetermined price of SEK ��� per share. The equity swap 
covers the portion of shares that are expected to be allotted at the end of the program 
and will be continuously adjusted so that it corresponds to the number of shares that 
are expected to be allotted. The share swap is reported as an equity instrument in 
accordance with IAS 
�. 
 OMX has also signed an equity-swap agreement amounting to ��,��� shares at a 
predetermined price of SEK ��
.	� in order to limit the expenses for the social secu-
rity contributions arising in conjunction with the Share Match Program. Changes in 
the price of OMX’s shares affect the value of the share swap. These changes in fair 

value are reported in the income statement. 
 OMX continuously pays interest compensation to the counterparty in exchange 
for the counterparty undertaking to provide the shares. Interest compensation in the 
agreement corresponds to the net amount of interest expenses on the underlying 
value of the shares when the agreement was signed and the dividend on the under-
lying shares. Interest expenses are based on a STIBOR of �� days.
 Should the Annual General Meeting approve the Board’s proposal regarding aut-
horization to repurchase shares, OMX intends to replace the equity swap utilized for 
hedging the Share Match program with the purchase of own shares.

CALCULATION OF FAIR VALUE

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an active market is based on 
quoted market prices on the closing date. 
 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is 
determined by applying generally accepted valuation techniques. The Group uses a 
number of different methods and makes assumptions based on the market conditions 
that prevail on the closing date. Quoted market prices or quotes by brokers for simi-
lar instruments are used for long-term liabilities. Other techniques, such as calculation 
of discounted cash flows, are used to determine the fair value of the remaining finan-
cial instruments. The fair value of interest swaps is calculated as the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of currency forwards is determined 
based on market prices for currency forwards on the closing date. 
 The par value of accounts receivable and accounts payable, less any estimated 
credits, is assumed to correspond to their fair value. The fair value of financial liabili-
ties is calculated by discounting the future contracted cash flow to the current market 
rate of interest available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
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TRANSLATION EXPOSURE – NET INVESTMENTS IN FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES
The table shows foreign subsidiaries’ net assets in foreign operations and goodwill denominated in foreign currencies. Translation exposure is hedged in order to reduce the 
volatility in OMX’s key ratios. A sensitivity analysis shows the effect on results in the event of a +/- 	-percent change in the value of SEK.
 
   Hedging of net
Currency  Equity (SEK m) Goodwill (SEK m) investment (SEK m) Total (SEK m) Sensitivity (SEK m)

AUD ��.	 �.� �.� ��.	 �.�

CAD  �.� �.� �.� �.� �.�

DKK  ���.� �,���.	 �.� �,���.� �	.�

EUR �,���.	 �,
��.� -�,���.	 �,���.
 ��.�

EEK ��.� �.� �.� 
�.� �.	

GBP -���.	 �.� �.� -���.	 ��.�

HKD -�.� �.� �.� -�.� �.�

ISK 
	.� ���.
 �.� 
�	.� �	.�

LTL -�.� ��.� �.� ��.
 �.	

LVL �.� �.� �.� ��.� �.	

NOK �
.� ��.� �.� ��.� 
.�

SGD �.
 �.� �.� �.
  �.� 

USD -���.
 �.� �.� -���.� �.�

Total 	,

�.� 	,���.� -�,���.� 
,��
.
 	��.�

HEDGING RELATIONS
The table summarizes the hedging relations reported by the Group for which hedge accounting are applied. The type of hedging entered into is specified in the table. All cur-
rency hedges expire within �� months. The hedging relation for interest swaps expires in December ����.

       Hedged amount in Nominal value at  Nominal value at   Unrealized forward Average 
Hedging instrument Type of hedging Hedged item Currency base currency (m) year-end rate, (SEK m) forward rate, (SEK m) rate, (SEK m) forward rate�)

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  
    currency flows  AUD/SEK -�
.� -�
�.� -�
	.� �.� 	.��

Currency future Cash-flow hedge  Forecast 
    currency flows AUD/SEK ��.� ��	.� ���.� -�.� 	.��

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  

    currency flows   EUR/SEK -��.� -��	.� -���.	 
.� �.��

Currency future Hedge of net  Shareholders’

   investment equity in subsidiary EUR/SEK -���.� -�,���.	 -�,���.� -�.� �.��

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  

    currency flows   GBP/SEK -�.� -��.� -��.� -�.� �
.��

Currency future Cash-flow hedge  Forecast   
    currency flows GBP/SEK �.� �.� �.� �.� �
.��

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  

    currency flows   NOK/SEK -	�.� -�
.� -�
.� �.� �.��

Currency future Cash-flow hedge  Forecast  
    currency flows NOK/SEK -��.� -��.� -��.� �.� �.��

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  

    currency flows   SGD/SEK -�.� -��.� -��.
 �.
 �.	�

Currency future Fair value hedge Contracted  

    currency flows   USD/SEK -�	.� -
��.� -
��.� �.� �.��

Currency future Cash-flow hedge  Forecast  
    currency flows USD/SEK ��.� ��.� ���.� -
.� �.��

Ränteswap Fair value hedge Issued bonds  SEK ���.� ���.� N/A �.� N/A

�) The average forward rate is based on the spot rate in the forward contracts entered into. Thus, the forward premium is excluded.
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Interest-bearing assets and liabilities, Group
The table shows interest-bearing assets and liabilities as per December 
�, ���� and shows average remaining terms, fixed-interest terms and average interest.
  
    Remaining fixed- Average interest
  Outstanding amount Remaining term, months interest term, months  rate, % 

Assets

Current assets   ��� <�� <�� 
.�


Long-term assets   �� >�� <�� �.��

Regulatory capital   ��� >�� >�� 
.�


TOTAL ASSETS  ���   
.��

Liabilities

Commercial paper  
�� � � 
.��

Bond loans      

OMX PP March ����  
�� �	 � 
.��

OMX PP December ���� �)  ��� �� 
 �.��

OMX PP December ����   ��� 
� 
 
.�	

OMX PP May ���
  ��� �� � 
.	�

OMX PP Nov ����  �	� �� 	 
.�	

Bond loans, total  1,350 53 3.5 3.55

Bank loans  
� � � 

Other  �� � � 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   �,��� �� 
.� 
.



�) The issued bond has been swapped from a fixed to a variable interest rate. The swapped interest rate is applied when calculating the average interest rate.

Credit facilities
The table shows the Group’s total credit facilities and those that had been utilized as at December 
�, ����.
  
(SEK m)  Contracted facilities  Utilized facilities 

Syndicated bank loan/commercial paper program     �,	��  �)  �

Syndicated bank loan  ���  �

Overdraft facility   ���  �

Credit facility   �
	  �

    

Contracted facilities for exchange and clearing operations     

Sweden (SEK)  �,���  �

Norway (NOK)  ��  �

Denmark (DKK)  ��  �

UK (GBP)  ��  ��

Total  
,���  
�

�)  Since the credit facility is linked to the commercial paper program and is to function as a credit facility if OMX is unable to issue a commercial paper program, the unutilized credit facility shall be reduced by the outstan-
ding commercial paper. The outstanding commercial paper as per December 
�, ���� amounted to SEK ��� m, implying that OMX can utilize only SEK �,��� m of the current credit facility.

HEDGING OF FINANCIAL LOANS AND ASSETS 
The table shows a summary of the Group’s currency futures for hedging of financial assets and loans as at December 
�, ����. 
 
 Hedged in each Nominal value at Nominal value at Unrealized forward Average  Date of
Currency base currency (m) year-end rate (SEK m) forward rate (SEK m) result (SEK m)     forward rate �) maturity 

AUD/SEK ��.� ���.� ��	.� -�.
 	.�
  < �� months 

CAD/SEK -�.� -�.� -�.� �.� 	.�� < �� months

DKK/SEK 
�	.� ���.� ���.� -�.� �.��  < �� months 

EUR/SEK 	�.� ���.� ���.� �.� �.��  < �� months 

GBP/SEK -��.� -���.� -���.� -�.� �
.
�  < �� months 

HKD/SEK -�.� -
.	 -
.	 �.� �.��  < �� months 

NOK/SEK �.� 	.� 	.� -�.� �.�
  < �� months 

SGD/SEK �.� 
.� 
.� �.� �.�� < �� months

THB/SEK -�.� -�.	 -�.	 �.� �.�� < �� months

USD/SEK �.	 	�.	 	�.� �.� �.��  < �� months 

Total  ���.� ��
.� -�.	  

�) The average forward rate is based on the spot rate in the forward contracts entered into. Thus, the forward premium is excluded.
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Amounts are in SEK millions (SEK m) unless otherwise stated. Amounts in parenthe-
ses indicate values for ����. “OMX” refers to the OMX Group, that is OMX AB and its 
subsidiaries.

  Note �. Application of assessments

In order to prepare the accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, company management and the Board of Directors are required to make 
assessments and assumptions that affect asset and liability items, income and expense 
items, and other information reported in the accounts, for example contingent liabil-
ities. These assessments are based on historical experience and the various assump-
tions that management and the Board deem to be reasonable under the prevailing 
circumstances. Consequently, such conclusions form the basis of decisions concern-
ing reported values of assets and liabilities in the case that it is not possible to deter-
mine such values based on information from other sources. Actual outcomes may 
differ from these assessments if different assumptions are made or if different cir-
cumstances prevail. The areas of revenue recognition and doubtful receivables, the 
valuation of goodwill and capitalized development projects, taxes, provisions for 
expenses for premises and other restructuring measures, legal disputes and contin-
gent liabilities in particular may entail a significant impact on OMX’s results and 
financial position (see the respective following Notes for further information).

  Note �. Classification of revenue

The classification of revenue is based on a number of assessments and assumptions 
concerning revenue recognition in delivery projects in the Technology operations. 
These are reported as “License, support and project revenue” below. The uncertainty 
inherent in these assessments primarily refers to the forecast time of completion. 

REVENUE PER SIGNIFICANT TYPE OF REVENUE 
(SEK m) ���� ����

Net sales:

 Trading revenue    �,��� �,���

 Issuers’ revenue     	
	 	��

 Information revenue     

	 	��

 Revenue from Baltic Markets   �� �	

 Revenue from Broker Services   �� ��

 License, support and project revenue    ��
 ��


 Facility Management Services   	�
 	��

 Other revenue    ��� 
�

Total   �,��� �,���

OTHER REVENUES 
Group ���� ����

Capital gains, sale of NOS ASA  �� -

Capital gains, sale of VPC AB �	 -

Total ��� -

Parent Company ���� ����

Capital gains, sale of Stockholm Stock Exchange  - �,���

Capital gains, sale of NOS ASA   �� -

Total �� �,���

CURRENCY EFFECTS 
The Group’s total revenue includes exchange-rate differences totaling negative 
SEK � m (positive: ��). Exchange-rate differences also had an effect on operating 
expenses of SEK � m (�).

PARENT COMPANY INTERNAL SALES
OMX AB’s internal sales to other companies within the Group amounted to SEK �
 m 
(���). During the year, the Parent Company made purchases from other companies 
in the Group in an amount of SEK 
� m (�	).

  Note 	. Business areas and geographic segments

Internal reporting and follow-up within OMX is organized based on the business 
areas Nordic Marketplaces, Information Services & New Markets and Market Technol-
ogy.
 These business areas make up OMX’s primary reporting segments while the geo-
graphic divisions make up the secondary reporting segment. OMX is divided into four 
geographic regions: Nordic countries, Rest of Europe, North America and Asia/Australia. 
This geographic division is based on the areas in which the Group’s operations have 
relatively similar systems solutions, frameworks of regulations and customer behavior.

REVENUE AND EARNINGS BY DIVISION 
(SEK m)    ���� ����

Revenue    

Nordic Marketplaces   �,��� �,���

Information Services & New Markets   ��� ���

Market Technology   �,	�� �,���

Operations being discontinued   ��� �
�

Group eliminations    -	�� -���

TOTAL GROUP   �,��� �,���

Operating income

Nordic Marketplaces�)   �
� ���

Information Services & New Markets�)   ��� ���

Market Technology�)   �	 ��

Operations being discontinued   -�	 -	�

Result from participations in associated companies 
attributable to the Parent Company and other functions    - �

TOTAL GROUP    �,��� 	��

�)  Including distribution of income for the Parent Company and other functions by SEK �� m 
(loss: ���). 

Notes to the financial statements
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES PER BUSINESS AREA
 ���� ����
(SEK m) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Nordic Marketplaces �,
	� �,��� �,	�� �,��	

Information Services & New Markets 		� �� �
� �	�

Market Technology �,��� �,��� �,��� ���

Operations being discontinued ��� - ��� -

Unallocated items �
� �,��� �,�	� �,���

TOTAL GROUP  ��,��� �,	�
 ��,��� �,���

Items per business area are tangible assets, intangible assets, external operating 
receivables, external operating liabilities and goodwill. Other items are not allocated 
in the Group and are reported as unallocated items. Unallocated items also include 
all eliminations of internal business dealings between the various business areas and 
all interest-bearing liabilities. Assets and liabilities that could be affected by the busi-
ness areas are allocated in accordance with OMX’s business control model, which 
does not support a full distribution of balance-sheet items.

INVESTMENTS, DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT PER BUSINESS AREA 
 ���� ����
   Deprec./  Deprec./
(SEK m) Invest. impairment Invest. impairment

Nordic Marketplaces ��
 -�� �,	�� -�	

Information Services & New Markets �� -�� �� -��

Market Technology ��� -�	� 	�� -���

TOTAL GROUP  �
� -��
 �,��	 -���

Investments refer to acquisitions of tangible and intangible fixed assets. For further 
information on acquisitions, depreciation and impairment, see Notes �	 and �
. 

 
INFORMATION REGARDING SECONDARY SEGMENTS 
(GEOGRAPHIC AREAS)

EXTERNAL REVENUE PER GEOGRAPHIC AREA�)

(SEK m)    ���� ����

Nordic countries     �,�	
 �,���

Rest of Europe   ��� �
�

North America   �
� ���

Asia/Australia   	
� 	�	

TOTAL GROUP    �,��� �,���

�) Based on the location of customers.

ASSETS AND INVESTMENTS PER 
GEOGRAPHIC AREA
 ���� ����
(SEK m) Assets Invest. Assets Invest.

Nordic countries  �,��� ��� 	,��� �,��	

Rest of Europe  �,��� 
� �,��� 
	

North America ��	 � ��� �

Asia/Australia �� 
 �� 	

Group eliminations and 
unallocated items �) �,�
� - �,��� -

TOTAL GROUP  ��,��� �
� ��,��� �,��	

�) Group eliminations and unallocated items include goodwill in the amount of SEK �,��� m (�,�

).

Investments refer to acquisitions of tangible and intangible fixed assets. The Parent 
Company is located in the Nordic countries and has no revenues, assets or investments 
in any other geographic areas.

  Note 
. Discontinuing operations

In August ����, OMX announced the focusing of its technology operations through 
the divestment of operations targeting banks and brokerages within the former Banks 
& Brokers business area. During ����, the continuing operations not yet divested were 
included among discontinuing operations. These primarily comprise the Nordic por-
tion of the operations targeting banks and brokerages, which offer development and 
maintenance of systems for securities management, and the UK operations in secu-
rities administration services. 
 After the end of the reporting period, OMX signed an agreement with HCL Tech-
nologies, the global IT services provider, regarding an extended partnership, which 
means that OMX no longer has any discontinuing operations in the Nordic region. 
The partnership means that HCL Technologies will assume the responsibility for the 
development of systems for securities management targeting banks and brokers and 
that the remaining part of the Nordic operations, will be moved to the Information 
Services & New Markets business area, and will be included in the Broker Services 
unit. A number of employees’ work tasks will be within the Market Technology busi-
ness area to replace consultants and minimize new recruitments. The business that 
is to be moved had sales of SEK ��� m and costs of SEK ��� m in ����. The unit is 
expected to achieve a profit during ����. The changes will be implemented in OMX 
accounting as per January �, ����.
 In March ����, OMX and TietoEnator agreed to cooperate on IT operations related 
to the former Banks & Brokers business area. As part of the cooperation, TietoEnator 
acquired an IT operation unit with �� employees. The unit was divested on April �, 
����. 
 OMX’s aim is to identify a long-term solution with clear advantages for the remain-
ing parts of the discontinuing operations. Discussions are currently in progress with 
potential partners.
 Due to the decision to divest the operations within the Banks & Brokers business 
unit, these operations are reported as discontinuing operations, although the divest-
ment has not yet been completed.

Assets classified as holdings held for sale

(SEK m)   ���� ����

Group    

Intangible assets    �
� ���

Tangible fixed assets     � �

Total fixed assets held for sale    ��� ���

   Note �. Acquired operations 

COMPUTERSHARE

On January 	�,����, OMX signed a contract with Computershare Ltd regarding the 
acquisition of Computershare’s Market Technology operations in the amount of SEK 
�
� m. Payment will be paid in cash over a period of five years. The acquisition price has 
been discounted to present value. Acquisition costs amounted to SEK � m. The acquired 
operations are consolidated within OMX effective February �, ����. 

(SEK m)   Fair value  Book value

Acquired net assets  ��  ��

Goodwill  ���  

ACQUISITION PRICE  �
	

The acquired net assets comprise marketplace systems. Goodwill is attributable to the 
revenue and cost synergies that arose in conjunction with the integration with Market 
Technology. It is not possible in practical terms to provide disclosure regarding Com-
putershare’s revenues and net income during the period since the operations have been 
fully consolidated with Market Technology’s operations since February �. 

EIGNARHALDSFELAGID VERDBREFATHING

On November 	�, ����, OMX acquired ��� percent of Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing 
(EV) for a total amount of SEK 	�
 m, of which SEK 
� m was paid in cash and SEK ��� m 
was paid by �,���,��� newly issued shares. The acquisition cost totaled SEK �� m.
 EV is consolidated into OMX’s income statement and balance sheet from December 
�, ����. The price of the new shares issued by OMX, which were utilized in the acquisition 
of EV, was SEK ��	.�� on November 	�. 
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ACQUIRED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(SEK m)   Fair value  Book value

Fixed assets   �
�  �

Current assets  ��  ��

Cash and bank balances  		  		

Current liabilities  -��  -�� 

ACQUIRED NET ASSETS  ��	  �	

Goodwill  ���

ACQUISITION PRICE  ��


The difference between fair value and the carrying amount of fixed assets is primarily 
attributable to the valuation of acquired contracts.
 Goodwill is attributable to the high level of profitability in the company and 
expected revenue synergies arising from the continued integration of the Nordic-
Baltic securities market.
 The cash-flow effect of the acquisition amounts to SEK �� m, comprising a cash 
payment of SEK 
� m, acquisition costs of SEK �� m, less received cash balances of 
SEK 		 m. Of the total amount of acquisition costs of SEK �� m, only SEK �� m had an 
effect on cash flow in ����. The remaining SEK � m will impact cash flow in ����. The 
new shares issued are valued at market value on the acquisition date.
 During the year, EV contributed SEK �� m to the Group’s revenue and SEK � m to 
net profit. EV’s revenue for the full-year ���� amounts to SEK ��� m and net profit to 
SEK �� m.

  Note �. Auditors’ fees

The following remuneration was paid to auditors and accounting firms for auditing 
and audit-related services required by law as well as for advice and other assistance 
arising from observations made during the course of the auditing process.
 Remuneration was also paid for additional independent advice, mostly pertaining 
to audit-related consultations on accounting and taxation issues.

REMUNERATION TO THE GROUP’S AUDITORS
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY 

(SEK ���s) ���� ����  ���� ����

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Auditing assignments  ��,��� �,��� 
,��� 	,���

Other assignments�) �,		� ��,�
� ��� �,��	

Ernst & Young

Auditing assignments  
�� ��	 	�� ���

Other assignments�) ��� 	,
�� 

� �,	��

KPMG

Auditing assignments  		� 
�� - -

Other assignments 	�� �	� - -

BDO Feinstein

Auditing assignments  	� ��� - -

Other assignments - �� - -

Other auditors

Auditing assignments  ��� 	�� - -

Other assignments 	�� �,��� - -

TOTAL ��,��� ��,	
� �,��� ��,
��

�)  For ����, other assignments refer primarily to tax consultations. For ����, includes SEK �,		
,��� related 
to IFRS and costs in connection with the acquisition of CSE and Computershare of SEK 
,���,���. 
Otherwise, other assignments in ���� pertain primarily to tax consultation. 

�)  For ����, other assignments refer primarily to tax consultations and IT reviews. For ����, other assign-
ments refer mainly to IFRS, tax consultation and IT studies.

   Note �. Personnel

PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND BENEFITS PAID TO SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES
The reporting of senior executive benefits has been carried out in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Swedish Industry and Commerce Stock Exchange Com-
mittee (NBK).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
NBK divides senior management into two categories: “top management” and “other 
senior management.” Top management comprises: the Chairman of the Board, any 
Board members receiving remuneration in addition to Board fees and the President 
and Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Other senior management normally relates to 
members of the executive management team.

Top management at OMX is defined as:
• Olof Stenhammar (Chairman of the Board)
• Magnus Böcker (CEO of OMX and President of OMX AB).

Other senior management at OMX is defined as the Group’s Executive Management 
Team and comprises the following five individuals: 
• Jukka Ruuska (President of Nordic Marketplaces)
• Hans-Ole Jochumsen (President of Information Services and New Markets)
• Markus Gerdien (President of Market Technology) 
• Kristina Schauman (Chief Financial Officer)
• Bo Svefors (Senior Vice President Marketing & Communications). 

The Secretary to the Executive Management Team was OMX’s General Counsel 
Magnus Billing. 

OMX’S REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee is appointed on an annual basis by the Board of Direc-
tors. The Remuneration Committee’s task is to prepare remuneration matters for 
Board decisions on issues relating to the salary and remuneration paid to the President 
and CEO, and to approve salaries and other remuneration to Executive Management 
Team which is subsequently reported to the Board. The Committee also approves the 
targets for the Executive Management Team established by the President. In addition, 
the Remuneration Committee’s task is to propose remuneration for the Board mem-
bers in the subsidiaries within the OMX Group that have external Board members, 
and to make recommendations regarding remuneration principles, benefits and other 
types of remuneration for OMX employees. The Board appointed the following peo-
ple as members of the Remuneration Committee: Olof Stenhammar (Chairman), 
Adine Grate Axén and Bengt Halse. The Committee’s secretary until April ���� was 
Ulrika Wahllöf, acting Head of Human Resources. The Committee’s secretary during 
the remainder of the year was Pernilla Gladh, Senior Vice President of Corporate 
Functions & Human Resources. During ����, the Remuneration Committee held a 
total of seven meetings at which minutes were taken. Among other matters during 
the year, the Committee had a particular focus on the following issues: programs for 
variable salaries ���� and ���� (Short Term Incentive), the Share Match Program ���� 
and ���� for senior executives (Long Term Incentive Scheme), remuneration to the 
President and proposals for principles for remuneration and other conditions of 
employment for the Executive Management Team. 

OMX’S REMUNERATION POLICY
The aim of OMX’s remuneration policy is to offer market-based remuneration that 
is competitive and that promotes a situation whereby qualified expertise can be 
recruited to and retained within OMX.

The fundamental principles are: 
•  To work towards a consensus between employees and shareholders regarding the 

long-term perspective of operations. 
•  To ensure that employees within OMX’s different organizations receive remu-

neration that reflects market conditions and is competitive. 
•  To offer a salary scale based on results achieved, work duties, skills, experience and 

position held, which also means adopting a neutral stance in relation to gender, 
ethnic background, disability, sexual orientation, etc.
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REMUNERATION STRUCTURE ���� 
OMX’s employee remuneration comprises the following parts: 
• Fixed salary
• Variable salary 
 - Short Term Incentive Program
 - Long Term Incentive Scheme (OMX Share Match Program ���� and ����) 
• Pension
• Severance pay and other benefits. 
At the discretion of the Board of Directors, decisions can be made to revise or terminate 
an existing program related to the remuneration structure.

FIXED SALARY 

Every OMX employee has an annual salary review, with the exception of the members 
of the Executive Management Team, for whom a review takes place every second year 
and the President, for whom a review takes places every third year. The review consid-
ers employee performance, salary levels in the market and any changes to responsi-
bilities as well as the company’s development and local rules and agreements.

VARIABLE SALARY 

Short Term Incentive Program
OMX has had a Group-wide program for variable salary called OMX Short Term Incen-
tive Program since ���
. The program consists of quantitative (financial) and qualitative 
(individual) goals. The prerequisite for achieving the quantitative goal is that OMX 
attained its established targets. The maximum dividend of the quantitative portion 
occurs at �	�-percent fulfillment of the company’s goals. The qualitative goals are indi-
vidual and are determined by an employee’s immediate superior during the first quar-
ter of the year. The immediate superior also evaluates whether these goals have been 
achieved one year later. 

Short Term Incentive ���� 
The program for variable salary, Short Term Incentive ����, comprised approximately 
��� managers and key employees. The total maximum variable portion that can be paid 
out for ���� is SEK 	� m, excluding social security contributions. The program comprised 
quantitative and qualitative targets, of which �� percent were quantitative and 
� per-
cent were qualitative. The quantitative goal for ���� was connected to achievement of 
the budgeted operating income for OMX. Of the maximum SEK �� m representing the 
quantitative portion, SEK ��.� m will be paid out. The estimated payment for the qual-
itative portion is calculated at �� percent of the maximum of SEK �
 m, excluding social 
security contributions for ����.

Short Term Incentive ���� 
Variable salary ���� follows the same structure for ����. The program comprises quan-
titative and qualitative targets, of which �� percent are quantitative and 
� percent are 
qualitative. The quantitative goal for ���� is also connected to achievement of the budg-
eted operating income for OMX. OMX Short Term Incentive ���� has been expanded 
to encompass ��� managers and key employees, compared with ��� employees in ����. 
The total maximum variable portion that can be paid out for ���� is SEK 
	 m, excluding 
social security contributions. The prerequisites for the payment of bonuses follow the 
same guidelines as for ���� and ����.
 The maximum bonus to senior executives for variable salary for ���
–���� is �� 
percent of fixed salary. The quantitative goals are linked to OMX’s return on capital 
employed and budgeted operating profit.

Long Term Incentive Scheme  
OMX Share Match Program ����
OMX’s Annual General Meeting in April ���� approved the OMX Share Match Program 
����. The program for ���� was directed to 	� senior executives and key individuals in 
OMX. Participants in the program are required to invest in OMX shares at a maximum 
of �.� percent of their fixed salary on an annual basis before tax or the maximum amount 
earned under the Short Term Incentive program in ���� after tax. Under the prerequisite 
that employment is not terminated, the participants in the program will receive up to 
five OMX shares, known as matching shares, in ����, for each invested OMX share, if 
the following conditions have been fulfilled:
(i)  The average percentage increase in earnings per share between January �, ���� and 

December 	�, ���� is equal to or exceeds twenty five (��) percent, and 
(ii)  the total annual return to shareholders is equal to or exceeds an index determined 

by the Board, plus �� percentage points.

No matching shares will be issued if the average annual percentage increase in earnings 
per share falls below two percent per year or if the total annual return to shareholders 
has not improved on the comparative index.

OMX Share Match Program ����
Under the condition that the Annual General Meeting to be held in April ���� approves 
the proposal, the OMX Board decided on January 	�, ���� to implement OMX Share 
Match Program ����. The program for ���� is targeted at �� senior executives and key 
individuals in OMX. Participants in the program are required to invest in OMX shares 
at a maximum of �.� percent of their fixed salary on an annual basis before tax or the 
maximum amount earned under the Short Term Incentive program in ���� after tax. 
Approximately 	� of the �� participants may invest in OMX shares at a maximum of �� 
percent of their fixed salary on an annual basis before tax or the maximum amount 
earned under the Short Term Incentive program in ���� after tax. Under the prerequisite 
that employment is not terminated, the participants in the program will receive in ���� 
up to five OMX shares, known as matching shares, for each invested OMX share. Pres-
ident and CEO Magnus Böcker may invest a maximum of ��,��� OMX shares with a 
maximum matching level of eight OMX shares. For maximum matching, the following 
conditions must be fulfilled:
(i)  The average percentage increase in earnings per share between January �, ���� and 

December 	�, ���� is equal to or exceeds twenty  percent, and
(ii)  the total annual return to shareholders is equal to or exceeds an index determined 

by the Board, plus �� percent.
No matching shares will be issued if the average annual percentage increase in earnings 
per share falls below two percent per year or if the total annual return to shareholders 
has not improved on the comparative index.

PENSIONS

OMX offers its employees a defined-contribution occupational pension unless other-
wise regulated in local agreements or other regulations. OMX’s pension plan for employ-
ees in Sweden has been created to provide employees with a market-competitive 
occupational pension. The age of retirement is �� years. OMX’s President and CEO 
Magnus Böcker receives a defined-contribution pension benefit. The total premium 
provision amounts to �	 percent of fixed salary. For ����, the pension premium is up to 
	� percent of fixed salary. 
 Other members of the Executive Management Team are included in the OMX pen-
sion plan, with the exception of Jukka Ruuska and Hans-Ole Jochumsen. Jukka Ruuska 
is included in the pension plan stipulated by the Finnish labor market regulations. Cur-
rent premiums for Jukka Ruuska are equivalent to a pension provision of �� percent of 
total remuneration. Hans-Ole Jochumsen, is included in the pension plan stipulated by 
Danish labor market practice. Current premiums for Hans-Ole Jochumsen are equivalent 
to a pension provision of �� percent of fixed remuneration. 
 The retirement age for employees, including the President and CEO and the Execu-
tive Management Team is �� years.

SEVERANCE PAY AND OTHER BENEFITS

Severance Terms/Period of Notice
The period of notice that applies between OMX and the President and CEO is �� 
months from the company’s side and six months from the employee’s side. In the 
event of a company initiative to terminate the employment contract of the President 
and CEO, remuneration will be paid to the President and CEO corresponding to the 
fixed salary and other benefits (occupational pension and insurance including health 
insurance) during the period of notice. In addition to this, the President and CEO will 
receive a severance payment of six months’ fixed salary. Other members of the Exec-
utive Management Team have a period of notice of �� months from the company’s 
side and six months from the employee’s side. The President and CEO and other 
senior executives have a non-competition clause of �� months. A penalty is included 
in the clause.

Other Benefits
In addition to the occupational pension premiums detailed above, OMX also pays for 
long-term disability insurance, occupational group life insurance (TGL) and workers’ 
compensation insurance (TFA). Employees may also complement their insurance cov-
erage through OMX’s optional group insurance. Employees in Finland and Denmark 
have equivalent benefits that are stipulated in the collective agreement for the finan-
cial sector. Also, the Executive Managment Team is entitled to health insurance.

ABSENCE DUE TO ILLNESS
The number of employees on absence due to illness during the fiscal year is accounted 
for as a percentage of the employees’ total ordinary working hours in Sweden. Long-
term absence due to illness is absence for �� or more consecutive days. 
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REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

EXPENSED REMUNERATION

Board fees have not been paid to Board members who are employees of the Group. In addition to the Board fees below, Board fees totaling SEK � m (�) were paid during the year 
to subsidiary Board members. These fees have only been paid to persons who are not employees of the Group.

(SEK)   Board fees Fixed salary Variable salary Pension Benefits TOTAL

Olof Stenhammar ����  ���,��� - - - �
	  ���,�
	

  ����  ���,��� - - - �,���,	�
 �) �,�
�,	�


Magnus Böcker  ����  - 
,�
�,��� �,���,��� �,���,
�� �,���,	�	 	) �,���,���

  ����  - 
,�	�,�	� �,
��,��� �,���,
�� ��,��� �,�	�,���

Executive Management, others �) ����  - ��,���,��� 
,���,��� �,
��,�
� ���,��� ��,��	,�
�

  ����  - �	,���,��� 	,���,�
� �,
�	,�
� �	�,��� ��,���,���

Adine Grate Axén ����  
��,��� - - - - 
��,���

  ����  	��,��� - - - - 	��,���

Urban Bäckström ����  	��,��� - - - - 	��,���

  ����  ���,��� - - - - ���,���

Bengt Halse ����  	��,��� - - - - 	��,���

  ����  ���,��� - -  -  - ���,���

Birgitta Klasén ����  ���,��� - - - - ���,���

  ����  ���,��� -   -   -  -  ���,���

Tarmo Korpela ����  ���,��� - - - - ���,���

  ����  ���,��� - -  -  - ���,���

Henrik Normann ����  - - - - - -

  ����  		,			 -  -  -  -  		,			

Markku Pohjola ����  ���,��� - - - - ���,���

  ����  ���,���  - - - - ���,��� 

Timo Ihamuotila ����  - - - -  -

  ����  ���,��� - - -  - ���,���

Mikael Lilius ����  - - - - - -

  ����  ���,��� - - - - ���,���

Hans Munk Nielsen ����  	��,��� - - - - 	��,���

  ����  �		,			 - - - - �		,			

TOTAL ����  �,	��,��� ��,	��,���  �,���,��� �,
��,�
�  �,�	�,���     ��,		�,���

TOTAL ����  �,���,��� ��,�

,��� �,���,�
� �,
��,

� 	,	��,��� 
�,��	,�	�

�)  Includes remuneration to one of Olof Stenhammar’s majority-owned companies comprising a fixed 
salary as well as a profit-related payment based on a license agreement. The profit-related portion 
represents � percent of OMX’s income after financial items. Remuneration for ���� amounts to SEK 
�,���,���. The amounts are paid out quarterly in arrears. The agreement, which was signed and stems 
from the founding of OM in ����, has been terminated and expired on December 	�, ����. 

�)  The other members of the Executive Management Team for ���� includes: Jukka Ruuska, Kristina Schau-
man, Bo Svefors, Hans-Ole Jochumsen and Markus Gerdien.

	) Refers primarily to the divestment of 	�,��� employee stock options.

ABSENCE DUE TO ILLNESS, SWEDEN, %    ���� ����

Total Absence due to illness    �.	 �.


   Absence due to long-term illness (portion of total illness)  
�.� 
�.�

   Absence due to illness, men   �.� �.�

   Absence due to illness, women    	.� 	.�

   Absence due to illness, employees under the age of ��   �.� �.


   Absence due to illness, employees aged between 	� and 
� �.
 �.


   Absence due to illness, employees aged �� and above  �.	 �.	

DISTRIBUTION ACCORDING TO GENDER
  ���� ����
 Number of whom men Number of whom men

Board of Directors (excl. CEO) �)

Parent Company � � � �

Subsidiaries �� �� �� ��

TOTAL GROUP   	� �� �� ��
�) Pertains to the number of Board members in the Group’s operating companies. 

DISTRIBUTION ACCORDING TO GENDER (CONTIN.)

 ���� ����
 Number of whom men Number of whom men

Group management (incl. CEO) �) 

Parent Company � � � �

Subsidiaries �� 
� �	 
�

TOTAL GROUP  �� �� �� 
�
 �)  Group management is defined as all presidents in the Group’s operating companies, persons who are 

members of the Executive Management Team and persons in the management groups within the OMX 
business areas.  

  ���� ����
 Number of whom men Number of whom men

Other employees 

Parent Company �� �� �� �

Subsidiaries �,��
 �	� �,��� ���

TOTAL GROUP  �,��� �
	 �,�
	 ���
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 Employee stock options �) Share Match Program �)

(Quantity) ���� ���� ���� 

Magnus Böcker � ��,��� ���,��� 
,���

Executive Management, others 	) � � � ��,��	

TOTAL � ��,��� ���,��� �
,���

INFORMATION ON EACH YEAR’S EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PROGRAM
   ���� ���� ����

Strike price, SEK    �� ��� 
��

Redemption of shares with effect from July �, ���	 June ��, ���� May ��, ����

Expiry date  July �, ���� June ��, ���� June ��, ����

Number of allotted options  �		,���  �,���,��� � 
��,���

Opening balance    	��,��� ��	,��� ���,���

Exercised options  ���,��� - -

Expired and obsolete    �,��� ��
,��� ���,���

Closing balance    ���,��� 	
�,��� 
�
,���

Of which fully vested (guaranteed)    
(guaranteed) Dec 	�, ����  ���,��� 	
�,��� 
�
,���

Theoretical value, SEK m�)  �� 
 �

Theoretical value per option 
at issue�), SEK   �� 	� ��

Theoretical value per option,
SEK, as at Dec 	�, ����   �� �� �

Theoretical dilution�), %  �.� �.	 �.


Weighted average share price for redeemed 
employee stock options during the year �	�.�� - -

�)  The theoretical value of allotted options is fixed through an established options valuation model (Black 
& Scholes) at the time they are allotted. As at December 	�, ����, a volatility of 
� percent has been 
utilized. 

�)  Theoretical dilution refers to the maximum number of shares that could be issued were it decided, on 
execution of redemption, to allot shares through a new share issue. However, to limit such dilution, 
hedging has been arranged through a “share swap,” meaning that no such dilution will occur.

 

OPENING AMOUNT OF NON-REDEEMED PORTION OF THE 
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS PROGRAM IN THE INCOME STATEMENT 
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Income statement

Social security expenses attributable to personnel expenses  � -�

Interest attributable to agreements on synthetic share buy-back -� -�

Change in value, employee stock options     	 -�

Change in value, share swap    �� 	�

Balance sheet

Liability pertaining to employee stock options program  �� ��

Liability, social security expenses, employee 
stock options program   
 �

Receivable pertaining to share swap�)   � ��

�) The opening balance for ����, recalculated in accordance with IAS 	�, amounted to SEK 		 m.

In accordance with IFRS �, the expenses for the stock options program are reported 
on an ongoing basis as personnel expenses in the income statement.
 In order to limit costs for the programs (including social security contributions) if 
the share price were to increase, limit dilution and ensure that shares can be provided 
when redemption is requested, an agreement has previously been made with an 
external party regarding the provision of OMX shares if redemption were to be 
requested, known as a share swap. The agreement is valid until June 	�, ���� and 
corresponds to approximately 
��,��� shares at an agreed price of SEK ��� per share. 
The buy-back agreement covers the portion of outstanding employee stock options 

that are currently deemed to be exercised. In the case that it is deemed probable that 
a number of employee stock options will be exercised over time, the number of shares 
in the agreement with the third-party will be amended. OMX continuously pays inter-
est compensation to the counter-party in exchange for the counter-party undertaking 
to provide the shares. OMX receives the share dividend paid during the term of the 
agreement. Changes in the share price of OMX’s shares affect the value of the share 
swap and the result is reported against personnel expenses in the income statement. 
The share swap had a positive impact of SEK �� m on personnel expenses for ����.

SHARE MATCH PROGRAM ����  

Start date   April �, ����
Matching date    April 	�, ����
Number of invested shares   ��,���
Maximum number of matching shares   �	
,���
Estimated number of matching shares   ��,���
Total estimated expense, SEK m   ��
Expenses for the year, SEK m   	

Participants in the Share Match Program ���� invest in OMX shares and, depending on 
whether OMX achieves performance targets related to earnings per share and how 
OMX’s shares perform in comparison to its competitors, participants may obtain a 
maximum of five matching shares per invested OMX share after three years. The number 
of shares that the participant may buy in the program is limited. 
 In order to limit expenses for the program in the event of an increase in the share 
price and to ensure that shares can be provided when shares are matched in the Share 
Match Program, OMX has signed a share-swap agreement amounting to approximately 
��,��� shares at a predetermined price of SEK �
� per share. The share swap covers the 
portion of shares that are expected to be allotted at the end of the program. The share 
swap is reported as an equity instrument in accordance with IAS 	�. OMX has also signed 
a share-swap agreement amounting to ��,��� shares at a predetermined price of SEK 
��	.�� to limit the expenses for the social security contributions arising in conjunction 
with the Share Match Program. Changes in the price of OMX’s shares affect the value 
of the share swap. These changes in fair value are reported in the income statement. 
OMX continuously pays interest compensation to the counterparty in exchange for the 
counterparty undertaking to provide the shares. Interest compensation in the agree-
ment corresponds to the net amount of interest expenses on the underlying value of 
the shares when the agreement was signed and the dividend on the underlying shares. 
Interest expenses are based on a STIBOR of �� days.

WARRANTS ISSUED TO EMPLOYEES
    

Subscription date    Nov ��, ���	 

Subscription price, SEK    �	�.�

Number of shares upon full subscription    �,���,���

Dilution upon full subscription, %    �.�

Subscribed as at September 	�, ����     ���,���

Premium, SEK    �.��

New subscription of shares with effect from    July �, ����

Maturity date    Sept 	�, ����

The warrants expired on September 	�, ����. Of the total number of ���,��� sub-
scribed warrants, ��,��� warrants were utilized. Each warrant entitles the holder to 
one share and ��,��� new shares were issued.

�)  For employee stock options, no consideration has been paid by employees who received options. For 
the theoretical value of the options at the time of issue, refer to the table below.

�) Refers to the Share Match Program ����.

	) Refers to persons included in the Executive Management Team at December 	�, ����. 
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AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
  ���� ����
 Number of  of whom Number of  of whom
 employees   men  employees   men

Parent Company  

Sweden 		 �� 	� �	

Total Parent Company �� �� �� ��

Subsidiaries

Sweden ��� ��� ��� ���

Australia �� �
 	� ��

Denmark �� �� �	 �


Estonia 	� �� 		 ��

Finland ��� �� ��
 ��

Hong Kong � � 
 	

Iceland �� �	 - -

Italy � � 	 	

Canada �� �� - -

Latvia �� � �
 ��

Lithuania �� � �� �

Norway � � �� ��

Singapore � � 	 	

UK �� �	 �� ��

USA 
� 	� 
� 	�

Total subsidiaries �,�	� �
� �,��	 ���

TOTAL GROUP �,��
 ��� �,��� ��


SALARIES AND REMUNERATION

SALARIES, OTHER REMUNERATION AND SOCIAL SECURITY EXPENSES 
    ���� ����
   Salaries  Social security  Salaries  Social security 
 and other  expenses (of which and other    expenses (of which
(SEK m) remuneration pension expenses)   remuneration pension expenses)

Parent Company  	
 �� (�) 	� �� (�)

Subsidiaries ��� ��� (��) ��� ��� (��)

TOTAL GROUP ��� ��� (���) �	� ��� (��
)

SALARIES AND OTHER REMUNERATION DISTRIBUTED PER COUNTRY 
AND BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES
 ���� ����
 Board of  Board of 
 Directors and CEO  Directors and CEO
 (of which variable  (of which variable
 remuneration   Other remuneration Other 
(SEK m) and similar) employees and similar) employees

Parent Company  	 (�) �� 	 (�) ��

Subsidiaries

Sweden � (	) 
�� � (�) 
��

Australia 
 (�) 	� � (�) �	

Canada - (-) � - (-) -

Denmark 
 (�) �� 
 (�) ��

Iceland � (-) �� - (-) -

Hong Kong � (�) 	 � (-) 	

Singapore � (�) 
 � (-) �

Italy � (�) � � (�) �

Norway - (-) � � (-) �

UK 	 (�) �� � (�) 	�

USA - (-) 
	 - (-) 
�

Finland 
 (�) 
� 
 (�) ��

Estonia � (�) � � (�) �

Latvia � (-) � � (�) 	

Lithuania � (�) 	 � (�) 	

Total subsidiaries �� (�) ��
 �� (
) ���

TOTAL GROUP 
� (�) ��	 �	 (�) ���

PENSIONS
OMX’s defined-contribution pension obligations are mainly accounted for at the cost 
(premium/contribution) incurred during the fiscal year for securing employee pension 
benefits. In these cases, there is no need to perform an actuarial valuation of the 
pension plan and the Group’s earnings are charged for expenses in pace with the 
benefits being earned.
 
INFORMATION ABOUT RELATED PARTIES
During ����, one of Board Chairman Olof Stenhammar’s majority-owned subsidiar-
ies received remuneration based on a license agreement related to the formation of 
OM in ����. The payment comprises a fixed and a profit-related amount. The profit-
related amount is � percent of OMX’s profit after financial items. The remuneration 
for ���� amounts to SEK �.� m. The agreement has been terminated and expired on 
December 	�, ����. 

  Note �. Transactions with related parties

“Related parties” refers to companies and individuals on whom OMX is in a position 
to exercise significant, though not controlling, influence. When transactions with 
associated companies reported in accordance with the equity method are not elimi-
nated in the consolidated financial statements, separate information is shown in the 
table below to disclose those transactions that took place between OMX and these 
companies. Information relating to transactions with individuals in close proximity 
(Board of Directors and senior executives) is set out in Note �.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES, GROUP, ���� 
(SEK m)  Sales  Purchases  Receivables  Liabilities

Associated companies 

EDX London Ltd 	� -  � �) -

VPC AB �� �  -  -

Näringslivskredit, NLK AB - �	 -  -

Orc Software AB - �� -  -

�) Of which SEK � m is a long-term receivable.

Sales and purchases from related parties occur at market prices.

   Note �. Financial items

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY 

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

FINANCIAL REVENUE 
Interest revenue 
� 	
 �� ��

Interest revenue, Group companies  - - - -

Dividends - - �� -

Other investments including derivatives  � �� - -

Exchange-rate differences 

 On derivatives intended for protection  

 of shareholders’ equity in subsidiaries - - 	
 -

 On other loans and derivatives � - - �

Total finacial revenue  �� �� ��� ��

FINANCIAL EXPENSES 

Interest expenses  -�� -�
 -��
 -��

Other investments including derivatives  

  Net loss attributable to divestment 
of financial assets available for sale -�� -� - -

Exchange-rate differences

 On other loans and derivatives - -�� � -

Refinancing of subsidiaries   - - -

Impairment loss on shares in subsidiaries - - -�� -

Other �) -� -�� -� -�

Total financial expenses -��� -��
 -��� -��

TOTAL FINANCIAL ITEMS -�� -�
 -�� -��

�)  For ����, this item included impairment of external receivables of SEK �� m and accrued interest for the 
repayment of VAT in the negative amount of SEK 	.� m.
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  Note ��. Associated companies 

SHARES IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE EQUITY METHOD 
  GROUP

(SEK m)   ���� ����

Reported value at beginning of year  ��� ���

Acquisition of associated companies and capital contribution  - ��

Sale of associated companies   -	�
 �

Share in earnings of associated companies�)   	� ��

Dividends and Group contributions received 
from associated companies   -�	 -��

Translation differences    -� 	

Other changes in associated companies’ equity   �� -��

Reported value at year-end    ��� ���

�) Share in earnings of associated companies includes VPC AB in the amount of SEK �	 m in ����.

The consolidated value of owned shares in income, earnings, assets and liabilities are 
specified below.
 The market value of the holding in Orc Software (	.� million shares) was SEK ��	 m 
(�
�) as per December ��, ����. The book value was SEK �� m (��). Other holdings 
are not listed. For these amounts the fair value is deemed to be the same as book 
value. 
 At the beginning of October, OMX announced that it had sold its entire holding of 
		�,��� shares in VPC AB for a total of ��� m. The gain of SEK �� m from this transac-
tion was reported as other revenue. 

   Note ��. Taxes

Both current and deferred income tax are reported for Swedish and foreign Group 
entities under “Taxes” in the income statement. Companies in the Group are liable to 
pay tax in accordance with relevant taxation legislation in the respective countries. 
The corporate tax rate for the Parent Company (in Sweden) was �� percent during 
the year and was calculated on nominal reported income adding non-deductible 
items and deducting non-taxable revenue. Assessments and assumptions have been 
made when calculating the amounts and percentages presented in this Note. All 
assessments and assumptions involve a certain degree of uncertainty.

DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME BEFORE TAX
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Sweden ��	 ��� -�		 �,���

Other countries ��� 	�� � -
 

Share in earnings of associated companies  	� �� - -

TOTAL �,�	� �
� -�
� �,���

The “Distribution of tax for the year” table reports how tax is specified between Swe-
den and other countries and the division of current and deferred taxes. The positive 
earnings in the Swedish portion of the operations led to a dissolution of tax loss car-
ryforwards equivalent to tax assets. The  Group’s operations in other countries resulted 
in mostly current tax and, to a lesser extent, utilized loss carryforwards. The Parent 
Company’s negative earnings resulted in tax income for the year. 

DISTRIBUTION OF TAX FOR THE YEAR  
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Current tax 

Sweden -� -�
 - -

Other countries -��� -	� - -

Total -��	 -��� - -

Deferred tax 

Sweden -
� -��
 �� 	� 

Other countries -�� -�� � -

Total -��	 -��
 �	 
	

TOTAL -�
� -��� �	 
	

Tax rate, % �� �� -	�  -�

The Group’s positive deviation from the nominal Swedish tax rate of �� percent is 
primarily due to tax-exempt capital gains arising from the sale of shares in VPC AB 
and NOS AS, and other tax-exempt revenue. The fact that the Group conducts oper-
ations in several countries with a lower tax rate than Sweden also has a positive impact 
on the tax rate. The fact that operations are conducted in countries with lower tax 
rates than the nominal Swedish tax rate and that the company receives tax-exempt 
revenues will continue to entail that the Group’s tax rate will amount to approximately 
�� percent. The Parent Company’s low tax rate deviates from the nominal Swedish 
tax rate of �� percent, which is primarily due to the fact that the company received 
tax-exempt capital gains from the sale of shares in NOS AS and that the company 
received tax-exempt dividends from Group subsidiaries.

(SEK m) Country Revenue Income/loss Assets Liabilities Shareh. equity Ownership in %

Associated companies, 2006

Central Securities Depositories of Lithuania Lithuania � � �� � �� 	�

EDX London Ltd UK �� � �� � �� �	

Näringslivskredit NLK AB Sweden � � 

 �� �� 	� �)

ORC Software AB Sweden ��� �� �	� �	 �� ��

       

Associated companies, 2005

Central Securities Depositories of Lithuania Lithuania � � �� � �� 	�

EDX London Ltd UK �� -�� �� � �� �	

VPC AB Sweden ��� �� �
� �� �	� ��

Näringslivskredit NLK AB Sweden � � �	� �
 �� 	� �)

ORC Software AB Sweden �� 	 ��� 	� �� ��

�) Share of equity amounts to 
� percent 

None of the above participations in associated companies are owned by the Parent Company. At December ��, ����, participations in associated companies included goodwill 
amounting to SEK � m (���). 



OMX AB (publ) 556243-8001 ��

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(%) ���� ���� ���� ����

Swedish income tax rate �� �� -�� ��

Difference between different 
countries’ tax rates  -� -� � -

Deficit for which tax loss carryforwards 
have not been observed  � � - -

Utilization of previously 
non-capitalized deficits  - -� - -

Capital gains -	 - -� -��

Tax-exempt revenues  -� -� -�� -

Non-deductible expenses  � - 	 -

Earnings from associated companies -� � - -

Adjustments for previous year  - 
 - -

Other � � - -

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE �� �� -
	 -�

Of the Group’s total tax loss carryforwards, which is approximately SEK �
� m, only 
SEK 	�� m is considered in the calculation of deferred tax. The tax loss carryforwards 
that are considered in the calculation of deferred tax are reported to the extent that 
it is probable that it will be utilized against future taxable surplus. It is not deemed 
possible for those tax loss carryforwards not considered in the calculation to be uti-
lized against in the foreseeable future since these loss carryforwards are attributable 
to countries in which the Group has limited revenues. The Parent Company’s accu-
mulated tax loss carryforwards have, despite the fiscal loss, reduced with SEK ��	 m 
due to the Group contribution received in the amount of SEK ��� m. 

DISTRIBUTION OF ACCUMULATED 
TAX LOSS CARRYFORWARDS  
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Sweden ��
 �

 �� ���

Other countries  ��� ��� � �

TOTAL ��� �,��� �� ��


TOTAL TAX LOSS CARRYFORWARDS 
THAT CORRESPOND TO TAX ASSETS
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Sweden ��
 �

 �� ���

Other countries  �	 ��� - -

TOTAL  
�� ��� �� ���

The Group’s deferred tax assets attributable to Sweden are deemed to be consumed 
within the forthcoming two years. The largest portion of foreign loss carryforwards 
that correspond to tax assets should be utilized within the same time period. Deferred 
tax assets referring to restructuring will be utilized at the same rate as the utilization 
of restructuring provisions and other provisions.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Deferred tax assets

Loss carryforwards ��� ��� � 	�

Provisions for restructuring measures  �� �� - - 

Total deferred tax assets  ��	 ��� � 
�

Deferred tax liabilities 

Untaxed reserves -�
 -�� - -

Total deferred tax liabilities  �� -�� - -

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS, NET �� ��� � 
�

Losses in Swedish companies can be utilized for an unlimited amount of time. For 
foreign subsidiaries, the useful life of the loss is limited in certain cases. The minimum 
time period within which foreign losses can be utilized is �� years. Of the losses that 
can be utilized for a limited amount of time (���
-���	), SEK �� m are tax loss carry-
forwards that correspond to tax assets.

UTILIZATION OF TOTAL LOSSES AT YEAR-END 
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Last utilization year

���
-���	 ��� �	� - -

Unlimited ��
 �,��
 �� ��	

TOTAL ��� �,��� �� ��


UNTAXED RESERVES

Stockholmsbörsen AB signed a credit insurance related to clearing participants’ 
default. The insurance is intended to cover losses arising in clearing operations and 
which normally are covered solely by the company’s shareholders’ equity. The insur-
ance has been signed by OMX’s wholly owned insurance company OMX Capital Insur-
ance AG in Switzerland, which for part of the risk has secured reinsurance from Radian 
Asset Assurance Inc. in the US. OMX Capital Insurance AG has reserved funds in an 
insurance provision. At the Group level, the provision is distributed between un-
restricted funds and deferred tax. 

TAX ITEM REPORTED DIRECTLY AGAINST SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Deferred tax attributable to 

changed accounting principles  - �� - -

Deferred tax attributable to 

revaluation of financial instruments  � � � -

Current tax in Group contribution received - - -��	 -
�

TOTAL � �� -��
 -��

ONGOING TAX DISPUTES 

OMX’s associated company, NLK, is party to a tax case concerning the possibility of 
loss carryforwards for which an appeal has been lodged with the Swedish Supreme 
Administrative Court. Since NLK has paid the tax expenses, the dispute will not have 
any further negative impact on the Group.
 The Stockholmsbörsen AB subsidiary received a ruling from the Swedish Tax Board 
in ���	 pursuant to which the company will be subject to a value added tax surcharge 
for the support and facility management services it purchases from other companies 
in the Group. Stockholmsbörsen AB does not share the Swedish Tax Board’s assess-
ment and will appeal against the ruling. Should the Swedish Tax Board’s opinion 
ultimately be upheld, this would give rise to a cost for the Group of SEK 
�-��� m 
based on the situation on December ��, ���� and increase ongoing expenses by 
SEK � m per month.
 Other ongoing current disputes, either individually or collectively, are not consid-
ered to pose any material threat to the Group’s business operations, its financial posi-
tion or its earnings.
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  Note ��. Operational leasing

GROUP
The Group has no financial leasing commitments. Set out below are the operational 
leasing commitments of the Group.

LEASING FEES FOR THE PERIOD 
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Equipment    � �

Computer operations    �� ��

Premises   �
� ��


TOTAL   �
� ���

CONTRACTED LEASING FEES
(SEK m) ���� ���� ���
 ���� ���� ����–��

Equipment �) �� � � - - -

Computer operations �� �� � - - -

Premises ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �
�

of which, premises   

sublet �� �� �� �� �� ��

of which, provisions 
made    �	   ��        ��   �  � ��

TOTAL ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ���

�)  Of which SEK �� m contracted for ���� relates to leasing of computer equipment from the associated 
company, Näringslivskredit, NLK AB.

PARENT COMPANY
The Parent Company has no financial leasing commitments. Set out below are the 
operational leasing commitments of the Parent Company.

LEASING FEES FOR THE PERIOD
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Premises   
� ���

CONTRACTED LEASING FEES 
(SEK m) ���� ���� ���
 ���� ���� ����-��

Premises �� �� 
� 
� 
� ���

of which, premises sublet 
to Group companies �� �� �� �� �� ��


 

  Note ��. Intangible assets  

    Capitalized   
   expenditure Other
  Good- for devel- intangible
GROUP, (SEK m)  will opment assets

Acquisition cost brought forward, Jan �, ����  �,
�� ��
 �



Assets acquired through acquisitions  
�� - ���

Assets acquired during the year  - ��� 
�

Reclassifications  - -�� -

Exchange-rate differences  
� - -�

Acquisition cost carried forward, Dec ��, ���	  �,��� �,�	� �
�

Amortization brought forward, Jan �, ����   - ��� ��

Amortization for the year        - �� 	�

Amortization carried forward, Dec ��, ���	   - 
	� ���

Impairment brought forward, Jan �, ����  � ��� �

Impairment for the year  � 
 �

Impairment carried forward, Dec ��, ���	   	 ��
 �

BOOK VALUE, DEC ��, ���	  �,�		 
�� 	��

Of which assets held for sale       �� �	 ��

Acquisition cost brought forward, Jan �, ����  �,
�� �,��
 �	�

Assets acquired through acquisitions    ��� - �		

Assets acquired during the year   - ��� ��

Reclassifications  - - ��

Exchange-rate differences  -��� - -��

Acquisition cost carried forward, Dec ��, ����  �,��	 �,�

 ���

Amortization brought forward, Jan �, ����   - 	�� ���

Amortization for the year  - �� ��

Amortization carried forward, Dec ��, ����  - 	�� ���

Impairment brought forward, Jan �, ����  � �
	 �

Impairment for the year   - �� �) 	

Impairment carried forward, Dec ��, ����  	 ��	 ��

BOOK VALUE, DEC ��, ����  �,��� 	�� ���

Of which assets held for sale       	� 	� �	

�)  Of which SEK �� m relates to the impairment of intangible assets that took place in conjunction with 
the sale of shares in VPC AB.

PARENT COMPANY, (SEK m)   ���� ����

Capitalized expenditure for development 

Acquisition cost brought forward   �� 	

Capitalized expenses for the year   �� �

Divested assets    - -

Acquisition cost carried forward    �� ��

Amortization brought forward    � �

Divested assets     - -

Amortization for the year     � �

Amortization carried forward    � �

BOOK VALUE   �� �
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TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS, USEFUL LIFE
   

(SEK m) Acquisition cost    Book value

Development in progress �
	  ��


� years ��  	

� years �,��
  ���

�� years �
�  ���

�� years 	��  	��

TOTAL �,���  �,�
�

The useful life for intangible assets found in the Parent Company is five years.
 Development in progress relates to various components in the marketplace system. 
Their values are reviewed continuously and amortization is initiated when the respec-
tive part has been completed. Of the book value per December ��, ����, SEK 
� m 
refers to the Banks & Brokers operation which is being discontinued. 
 Assets with a useful life of �� years mainly consist of the product EXIGO CSD, which 
is a central system in OMX’s systems platform.
 Assets with a useful life of �� years comprise surplus values in customer contracts 
attributable to the acquisition of CSE and EV.
 The review of the value of all intangible assets takes place on an ongoing basis 
throughout the year by using a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow. This review is 
based on assumptions and assessments, which entail a certain degree of uncertainty. 
OMX’s WACC has been utilized as the discount factor, which is �� percent for the 
Technology operations and 
 percent for the Exchange operations. The lifetime is 
assumed to be the same as the amortization period.
 During ����, impairment of SEK �� m was recognized since it was not possible to 
justify the book value of these assets with the value of the future cash flow and that 
the book value exceeded fair value. The cost has been booked as an impairment in 
the income statement. 

CAPITALIZED EXPENDITURE FOR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

This item relates to OMX’s systems solutions. The major components are the new 
development of  OMX’s platform for future systems solutions – GENIUM, a new sys-
tem for settlement, registration and custody of securities – EXIGO CSD, the next 
generation of CLICKTM – CLICK XT, a systems solution for banks and brokerage firms 
– STP, and a systems platform for energy trading – CONDICOTM.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 GROUP PARENT COMPANY 

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Software ��� ��
 - -

Licenses � � - -

Surpluses in acquired customer contracts  	�� ��� - -

Other �
� ��� - -

TOTAL ��� 	�� - -

GOODWILL

Goodwill is divided between the Group’s cash-generating units, primarily within the 
Nordic Marketplaces business area:

(SEK m) ���� ����

Nordic Marketplaces   

Stockholm Stock Exchange  �
� �
�

Helsinki Stock Exchange    �,��	 �,���

Copenhagen Stock Exchange    ��� 
�	

Iceland Stock Exchange  ��� -

Total Nordic Marketplaces  �,��� �,���

Information Services & New Markets

Other exchanges   �	 ��

Market Technology

Computershare  ��� -

Other  ��   �	

Total Market Technology  �	�  �


TOTAL  �,��� �,�		

An impairment test of goodwill was performed at the end of ����. It is necessary to 
make a number of assessments and assumptions that entail a certain degree of 
uncertainty for this test.
 The value in use of goodwill attributable to exchange operations was calculated 
based on the discounted eternal cash flow with a growth rate of � percent and a 
discount rate of 
 percent which corresponds to the company’s WACC for the 
Exchange operations.
 The eternal useful life was applied against the background of the company’s long 
history of a stable and strong cash flow. The acquisitions are of great strategic 
importance to OMX. A larger market and increased liquidity were achieved through 
these acquisitions. Cost-efficiency, and thereby competitiveness are increased by 
integrating the technical infrastructure. OMX’s technology operations also benefit 
from the large home market that was created. A growth rate of � percent based on 
expected outcome for ���� was applied by way of precaution due to the difficulty in 
assessing the market of the exchange operations. The value in use was calculated at 
a discount rate (WACC) of �� percent corresponding to the company’s average cost 
of capital for the Technology operations. No impairment requirements were 
identified.
 A sensitivity analysis in which the discount rate was increased by �� percent and 
the cash flow was decreased by �� percent did not give rise to any further impairment 
requirements.

  Note �	. Tangible fixed assets

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Equipment

Acquisition cost brought forward  �,�
� �,��� �	� 
�

Assets acquired through acquisitions  � �� - ��

Acquisitions for the year  �� �� � -

Disposals -�� -�		 - -

Sales -�� -� - -

Exchange-rate differences  -�� �� - -

Acquisition cost carried forward �,��� �,��� �	� �
�

Depreciation brought forward ��� ��� �
 ��

Depreciation for the year  �� 
� �	 �	

Disposals -�� -��� - -

Sales -�� -� - -

Exchange-rate differences -�� �� - -

Depreciation carried forward ��� ��� �� ��

Impairment brought forward  �� �� - -

Impairment for the year  	 - - -

Impairment carried forward  �� �� - -

BOOK VALUE ��� ��� �� ���

Of which assets held for sale � � - -

The useful life for computers amounts to three years, for reconstructions to ten years 
and for other equipment to five years.
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  Note ��. Shares in Group companies, Parent 
 Company

(SEK m)   ���� ����

Acquisition cost brought forward    �,��� 	,��


Acquisitions during the year   ��	 �,���

Shareholders’ contribution    - 	,	��

Disposals   -��� -�,�	�

Impairment   -�� -

Outstanding employee stock options   -� �

Acquisition cost carried forward     �,��� �,�	�

DIVESTMENTS, ���� 
    Realizable Date of 
(SEK m)  Operations value divestment

Risk Management i Stockholm AB Dormant � April

Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing Holding company ��	 December

TOTAL   ��� 

The shares in Risk Management i Stockholm AB were transferred to the wholly owned 
Group company OMX Treasury AB. The shares in Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing 
were transferred to the wholly owned subsidiary OMX Exchanges Ltd. 

SHARES IN GROUP COMPANIES, DETAILED SCHEDULE
  Corporate   Share of voting Book value SEK m
 Registered offices Registration Number  Number of shares power and equity, %  ���� ���� 

OMX Technology AB Stockholm �����	-���� �,���,��� ��� ��� ���

OMX Exchanges Ltd Helsinki �������-
 �	,���,��� ��� �,��� �,���

OMX Netherlands Holding BV Amsterdam �	��
��� ��� ��� �,��� �,���

Risk Management Stockholm AB Stockholm ������-���� �,��� ��� - �

Stockholms Fondbörs AB Stockholm ���	��-��
	 	,	��,�
�     �� �) �
� ���

Outstanding employee stock options for employees in subsidiaries     � �

TOTAL        �,��� �,�	�

�) The remaining share of voting power and equity is held by other companies in the OMX Group.

  Note ��. Other investments held as fixed assets

GROUP
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Financial assets valued at fair value 

via the income statement 

Shares and participations    - 	

Financial assets available for sale

Shares and participations     ��� ��

TOTAL   ��� 	�

(SEK m)   ���� ����

Acquisition cost brought forward    �� ��

Acquisitions during the year     ��� 	

Divestments during the year    -�� -��

Revaluation of shareholders’ equity    - ��

Reclassification   - -�

ACQUISITION COST CARRIED FORWARD    ��� 	�

PARENT COMPANY
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Acquisition cost brought forward   	 	

Acquisitions during the year   ��� -

Divestments during the year    -	 -

ACQUISITION COST CARRIED FORWARD   ��� 


  Note ��. Other long-term receivables

 ���� ����

GROUP Reported Fair   Reported Fair
(SEK m)  value  value  value  value

Other deposits  �� �� �� ��

Long-term project receivables  - - - -

Hedge employee stock options  - - �� ��

Other long-term receivables �� �� 	� 	� 

TOTAL 
� 
� ��� ��� 

 ���� ����

PARENT COMPANY Reported Fair   Reported Fair
(SEK m)  value  value  value  value

Other deposits  � � � �

Long-term project receivables  - - - -

Hedge employee stock options  - - �� ��

Other long-term receivables  � � � �

TOTAL �� �� �� ��

  Note ��. Market value, outstanding derivative 
 positions

Through its clearing operations in the derivative markets, Nordic Marketplaces is the 
formal counterparty in all derivative positions traded via the exchanges. However, 
the exchanges do not utilize the derivatives for purpose of conducting their own 
trading, instead these derivatives are to be seen as a method of documenting the 
counterparty guarantees established in the clearing operations. Counterparty risks 
are measured by models that have been agreed upon with the financial supervisory 
authority in the respective countries. The risk situation associated with the divestment 
of positions remains unchanged compared with prior years. Collateral for the divest-
ment of outstanding derivative instruments is provided as previously. According to 
IAS �
/��, the market value of the above-mentioned derivative positions is reported 
in the balance sheet.
 Receivables and liabilities attributable to outstanding derivative positions have 
been netted to the extent that such a legal offset right exists and, at the same time, 
that it is OMX’s intention to settle these items. The market value as per December ��, 
���� was SEK 	,	�� m, which almost exclusively refers to the Stockholm Stock 
Exchange’s derivative positions.
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  Note �
. Accounts receivable – trade

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Accounts receivable  	�� ��� - -

Less doubtful receivables -� -� - -

TOTAL 
�	 ��� - -

  Note ��. Other receivables

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Current account assets  �	� ��� - -

Other non interest-bearing receivables  ��
 ��� �� ��

Other interest bearing receivables � � - -

TOTAL ��� ��
 �	 ��

  Note ��. Prepaid expenses and accrued income

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Premises, rent �	 	� �� ��

Systems sales, facility management�) ��� ��	 - -

Information sales 
� �
 - -

Transaction revenue  �� ��
 - �

Insurance �	 �� � �

Unrealized exchange-rate gains  �� �
 - -

Other 
 �� � 


TOTAL 
�� 	�� �� ��

�) The item includes project revenue reported in accordance with the percentage-of-completion principle. 

  Note ��. Financial assets available for sale

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Government securities ��
 ��� - -

Bank and financial institutions  - - - -

TOTAL 	�� ��� - -

The fair values of the above items correspond to the reported values.  

  Note ��. Shareholders’ equity

A new share issue took place in October in conjunction with the expiry of the employee 
warrants program, entailing that the number of shares increased by 
�,��� to 
���,���,
��. In November, a new share issue took place in conjunction with the acqui-
sition of Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing, entailing that the number of shares 
increased by �,���,��� to ���,�	�,	��, with a ratio value of SEK � with one vote per 
share. Consolidated shareholders’ equity amounted to SEK �� (	�) per share.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

Income that is not paid out as a dividend in associated companies is recorded in the 
Group’s shareholders’ equity among profit/loss brought forward. The application of 
the equity method of accounting for associated companies means that the value of 
shareholders’ equity in the Group is reported at SEK �� m (�	) higher than if the 
acquisition cost method had been used.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, GROUP
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Share capital    �	� ���

Other contributed funds     �,��� �,���

Other reserves      

    Fair value reserve   - ��

    Hedging reserve   -�� -

    Translation reserve    -�� ��

Profit/loss bought forward   �� ��	

Net income for the year   
�� �	�

Minority interests   �� �	

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
,��
 
,�
�

OTHER RESERVES, GROUP

 Fair value Hedging Translation 
(SEK m) reserve reserve reserve Total

Opening balance, ���� - - -�� -��

Revaluation of shares available for sale  �� - - ��

Translation differences - - ��� ���

Closing balance ���	 �� - �� ���

Cash-flow hedging    

    Gain/loss to shareholders’ equity - -
 - -


    Transferred to income statement - -
 - -


Exchange-rate differences    

    Hedging of equity - - �� ��

    Translation differences - - -�
� -�
�

Financial assets available for sale     

    Transferred to income statement -�� - - -��

Closing balance ���� - -�� -�	 -���

Items are reported net after tax.

FAIR VALUE RESERVE

The fair value reserve includes the accumulated net change in fair value of financial 
assets available for sale until the asset is eliminated from the balance sheet.

HEDGING RESERVE

The hedging reserve includes the change in value of cash-flow hedges. The change 
in value is re-entered in the income statement in line with the hedged cash flow 
impacting the income statement.

TRANSLATION RESERVE 

The translation reserve includes all exchange-rate differences arising in conjunction 
with the translation of financial statements from foreign operations that have prepared 
their financial statements in a currency other than the currency in which the consoli-
dated financial statements are presented. The Parent Company and Group present their 
financial statements in Swedish kronor (SEK). The translation reserve also comprises 
exchange-rate differences arising in conjunction with the translation of liabilities 
reported as hedging instruments of a net investment in a foreign operation.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, PARENT COMPANY 
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Restricted shareholders’ equity 

Share capital    �	� ���

Statutory reserve    �,��� �,���

Total restricted shareholders’ equity    �,�

 �,�
�

Non-restricted shareholders’ equity    

Profit/loss bought forward    �,
�� 	�	

Net income for the year    -�� �,�		

Total non-restricted shareholders’ equity   �,�	� �,	��

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY      
,��� 	,���

Premiums from new share issues are reported under “Profit/loss bought forward” 
during ����. Earlier premiums were transferred from the share premium reserve to 
the statutory reserve.
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  Note �	. Long-term liabilities

This Note contains information on the Group’s and Parent Company’s long-term 
liabilities. For information regarding dates of maturity for the long-term liabilities, 
refer to Note �� and for information regarding the Group’s exposure to interest rate 
risks and risk of exchange-rate fluctuations, refer to the section entitled Risk manage-
ment on page ��.
 For information regarding the reporting of employee stock options, refer to the 
section entitled Accounting principles.

Division of long-term liabilities.
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities 

Bond loans (interest-bearing) �,��� �,	�
 �,��� �,	�


Other long-term liabilities 

Liabilities, employee stock options �� �� �� ��

Liabilities Computershare 
� - - -

Rent deposit 
 - - -

Other long-term liabilities � � - - 

TOTAL �,
�� �,
�� �,��	  �,
��

  Note ��. Provisions

RESTRUCTURING RESERVE
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Opening balance  - �� - -

Provisions made during the period  - - - - 

Utilized reserves  - -�� - - 

TOTAL - - - -

Refers to savings program in ����. All remaining reserves were utilized in ����.

OTHER PROVISIONS
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Opening balance ��� ��� - -

Reclassifications - �� - -

Provisions made during the period  - - - -

Utilized reserves  -		 -��� - -

Exchange-rate effects  -� � - -

TOTAL �� ��� - -

The opening balance comprises the reserve of SEK �� m for the integration of OM 
and HEX, and provisions for expenses for unutilized premises of SEK ��� m. The 
integration reserve was utilized during the year in the amount of SEK �� m and has 
thereby been utilized in its entirety. The provision for premises was utilized in the 
amount of SEK �
 m including exchange-rate effects.
 The provision for expenses for unutilized premises is based on management’s 
assumptions and assessments and is associated with a certain degree of uncertainty. 
These expenses refer primarily to OMX’s offices in London and New York. The provi-
sion was established in ���	 as a result of the reduction in personnel associated with 
the focus on cost-savings and efficiency-enhancement measures in the operations 
which OMX has worked with in recent years, and a decline in market conditions for 
the lease of premises, leading to certain areas being leased at a lower rent than OMX’s 
lease conditions. See Note �� regarding the cash-flow dates. For leasing contracts 
invoicing sub-lets, a reserve has been established for known losses for five years in 
the future. The leasing contract will expire during the period ���
-����.

RESTRICTED RESERVE, CSE 

The total amount of provisions presented below also includes a reserve attributable 
to the operations in the Copenhagen Stock Exchange, CSE. This reserve may not be 
distributed and may only be used to cover losses in CSE in accordance with the Dan-
ish Security Trading Act. The reserve amounts to SEK �� m as per December ��, ���� 
and is classified in its entirety as long term.

TOTAL PROVISIONS
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Long-term portion ��� ��	 - -

Short-term portion �	 	� - -

TOTAL �
	 ��	 - -

  Note ��. Other liabilities

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Current account liabilities    ��� ��� - -

Other non interest-bearing liabilities  �	� �� - �

Other interest-bearing liabilities  �� - - -

TOTAL ��� ��� - �

  Note ��. Accrued expenses and deferred income

 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ����  ���� ����

Personnel expenses  ��� ��� �� �� 

Systems sales �) � �� - -

Support revenue �� - - -

Facility Management �) �� �� - -

Trading revenue �� - - -

Issuers’ revenue �) �� �� - -

Commission revenue �� - - -

Other deferred income �� �� - -

Unrealized exchange-rate losses �� ��� - -

Accrued interest �� - � -

Other �� ��
 �� �� 

TOTAL 
�� 	
� 
� ��

�)  Customer invoicing terms for projects are usually set within a contract and it is not uncommon that 
payments do not correspond to work carried out at a given time. Work that has been invoiced, but not 
yet carried out, is treated as a liability to the customer. During the period when the work to which the 
invoice relates is carried out, this liability is re-booked as revenue. 

�)  Relates to listing fees paid by companies listed on the exchanges within OMX’s exchanges. These fees 
are paid quarterly in advance and are based on the average market capitalization of a company over the 
preceding ��-month period.
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  Note ��. Due dates for receivables and liabilities

GROUP
 Within  Within After
(SEK m) �� months  �–� years  � years TOTAL

Other long-term receivables  - �
 �� 	�

Accounts receivable 	�� - - 	��

Tax assets � - - �

Other receivables ��� - - ���

Prepaid expenses and accrued income �
� �� � 	��

Assets available for sale ��� - - ���

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities - �,��� - �,���

Other long-term liabilities - ��� � ���

Provisions �	 	� �� �	�

Liabilities to credit institutions�) �
� - - �
�

Accounts payable ��
 - - ��


Tax liabilities �	 - - �	

Other liabilities ��� - - ���

Accrued expenses and deferred income 	�� �� - 	��

NET RECEIVABLE (+)/NET LIABILITY (-) -�� -�,
�� -�� -�,	��
�) Refers to the commercial paper program.

PARENT COMPANY
 Within  Within After
(SEK m) �� months  �–� years  � years TOTAL

Other long-term receivables  - �� - ��

Receivables from Group companies 	�	 - - 	�	

Accounts receivable � - - �

Other receivables �� - - ��

Prepaid expenses and accrued income �� � � ��

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities - �,��� - �,���

Other long-term liabilities - �� - ��

Liabilities to credit institutions�) �
� - - �
�

Accounts payable � - - �

Liabilities to Group companies �,��� - - �,���

Tax liabilities �� - - ��

Other liabilities - - - -

Accrued expenses and deferred income �
 � - 	�

NET RECEIVABLE (+)/NET LIABILITY (-) -�,��� -�,��� � -�,��� 
�) Refers to the commercial paper program.

  Note �
. Other interest-bearing and non interest-
  bearing receivables and liabilities

This Note contains information on the classification between interest-bearing and 
non interest-bearing items in the balance sheet. For information regarding dates of 
maturity, fixed-interest periods and the average weighted interest of interest-
bearing items, refer to the section entitled Risk management on page ��. 

 G R O U P  PA R E N T  CO M PA N Y

  Non    Non
 Interest- interest-  Interest-  interest- 
(SEK m) bearing bearing Total bearing bearing Total

Financial fixed assets  �� �

 ��� � �,��� �,���

Current receivables  � �,��� �,��
 - 		� 		�

Financial assets 
available for sale  ��
 - ��
 - - -

Cash equivalents  	�
 - 	�
 � - �

Long-term liabilities  �,��� ��� �,��
 �,��� �� �,���

Short-term liabilities 	�� �,��
 �,�
� �
� �,�	� �,�		

RECEIVABLES AND  -�
� ��� -��� -�,�	
 �,�	� 
,
��
LIABILITIES, NET

  Note ��. Collateral received by 
 OMX’s exchange operations

Through its clearing operations, the Stockholm Stock Exchange is a counterparty in 
every options and futures contract and thereby guarantees the fulfillment of each 
contract. Customers, who through an options or futures contract, assume an obliga-
tion to the Stockholm Stock Exchange, must pledge collateral for the obligation 
according to special rules for this.

GROUP
(SEK m)   ����  ����

Stockholm Stock Exchange     ��,	�� ��,���

TOTAL   �	,
	� ��,	��

  Note ��. Pledged collateral

GROUP
(SEK m) ���� ����

OMX Treasury AB - 	�  Lease deposit 

OMX Technology Pty Ltd � � Lease deposit 

OMX Technology Ltd (Hong-Kong) - � Lease deposit 

HEX Securities Services Ltd OY �) �� 		  Liquidity guarantee

TOTAL �	 ��

�)  Relates to pledged collateral for the right to act as the Swedish equivalent of the account-handling  
institution.

  Note ��. Contingent liabilities

GROUP
(SEK m)   ���� ����

Guarantees issued for clearing operations (OMX AB)�)  �,��� �,	�	

Other guarantees (OMX AB)�)   ��	 �


Total   �,��
 �,
��

�)  Through its clearing operations, OMX AB’s exchange operations act as a counterparty in each transaction 
and thereby guarantees the fulfillment of each contract. OMX’s exchange operations are to pledge 
collateral for commitments with other clearing houses. The amount of these commitments is calculated 
on the gross exposure between the clearing houses. As collateral for these obligations, the operations have 
obtained bank guarantees, which are guaranteed by OMX AB through counterparty agreements.

�)  Primarily obligations for leasing contracts and in conjunction with the systems sales in Market Technology. 
In addition to the items above, there are general Parent Company guarantees for wholly owned sub-
sidiaries of OMX AB.

OMX is party to a number of cases and disputes for which no provisions have been 
established since it is the opinion of management that all cases will be found in favor of 
OMX. There is naturally a certain degree of uncertainty associated with this opinion.
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Cash equivalents that were not available to the Group amounted to SEK �� m at the 
end of the period. Blocked funds primarily refer to cash equivalents utilized as hedg-
ing in clearing activities. The Group’s total hedges in interest-bearing assets relating 
to clearing activities amount to approximately SEK ��� m, the majority of which are 
investments with tenures exceeding three months.

FINANCIAL ITEMS 

The following financial items reported in the income statement affect the cash 
flow:
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Other interest income and 
similar profit/loss items 

Dividends - - �� -

Interest 	� �	 �� ��

Exchange-rate differences  � - �	 �

Other � 	 - -

Total 	� �� ��� 	� 

Interest expense and 
similar profit/loss items 

Interest -

 -�	 -��	 -��

Interest, Group - - - -
 

Exchange-rate differences  - -�� - -

Other -�� -
 -� -�

Total -��	 -�
 -��� -��

TOTAL -�� -	� � -�	

CASH FLOW FROM ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTMENTS OF GROUP 
COMPANIES

Cash flow from acquisitions 
During ����, Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing (EV) was acquired and in ���� the 
Copenhagen Stock Exchange (CSE) was acquired. The cash flow from these acquisi-
tions is described in the table below:
  GROUP

(SEK m)    ���� ����

Intangible assets    ��� �,��	

Tangible fixed assets   � ��

Financial fixed assets    � ��

Receivables   �
 ��

Cash equivalents    �� ���

Long-term liabilities    - -

Current liabilities    -�� -���

Minority interests   - -

Total purchase price   ��
 �,
	�

Total purchase price paid    -��
 -�,
	�

Less earlier holding in acquired company    - ��

Less payment with treasury shares   ��� ���

Purchase price paid   -	� -�,���

Cash equivalents in acquired Group company    �� ���

CASH FLOW FROM ACQUISITIONS        -�	 -���

Acquisition costs affecting cash flow in the forthcoming year � -

TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM ACQUISITIONS    -�� -���
DURING THE FISCAL YEAR   

  Note ��. Earnings per share 

CHANGE IN NUMBER OF SHARES

After authorization was received at OMX’s Extraordinary General Meeting of share-
holders on October ��, ����, the company’s share capital was increased by 
SEK 	,���,��� by a new share issue of �,���,���. The newly-issued shares were utilized 
as part payment for the acquisition of Eignarhaldsfelagid Verdbrefathing (the holding 
company for the Iceland Stock Exchange and central securities depository). A new 
share issue took place in October in conjunction with the expiry of the employee 
warrants program, entailing that the company’s share capital increased by SEK �
�,��� 
and the number of shares increased by 
�,���. 
   ���� ����

Outstanding shares at beginning of the period      ���,	�	,��� ���,�	�,���

New share issue    �,���,��� �,
��,�
�

Outstanding shares at the end of the period   ���,�
�,
�� ���,
�
,���

EARNINGS PER SHARE BEFORE DILUTION

Earnings per share are based on net income/loss for the year attributable to the  Parent 
Company’s owners:
   ���� ����

Net income/loss for the year, SEK m, attributable 
to the shareholders in OMX AB  
�� ���

Average number of shares outstanding  ���,���,��	 ���,���,�
�

EARNINGS PER SHARE, SEK  �.�
 
.��

 Of which attributable to continuing operations �.�� 	.��
 Of which attributable to discontinued operations -�.�� -�.��

EARNINGS PER SHARE AFTER DILUTION

Earnings per share are based on net income/loss for the year attributable to the Par-
ent Company’s owners:
   ���� ����

Net income/loss for the year, SEK m, attributable 
to the shareholders in OMX AB   
�� ���

Average number of shares after dilution 
and with full utilization of options�)   ���,���,��	 ���,�
	,�
�

EARNINGS PER SHARE, SEK �)   �.�
 
.��

�)   For information relating to OMX’s employee stock options (no dilution), see Note �.

�)  Earnings per share after dilution corresponds to earnings per share before dilution since it has not been 
deemed probable that the warrants will be utilized due to the fact that the issue price was higher than 
the share price in ���� and ����.

  Note �	. Cash flow 

CASH EQUIVALENTS  

The following sub-components are included in cash equivalents:
 GROUP  PARENT COMPANY

(SEK m) ���� ���� ���� ����

Cash and bank balances  ��� ��
 � �

Financial assets available for sale  ��� ��	 - -

Total cash equivalents  ��� � �
� � �

Financial assets available for sale 
with tenures of > � months  -��
 -��� - -

Total according to balance sheet 
�� ��	 � �

Financial assets available for sale are short-term investments that comprise discount-
ing instruments, bonds and securities issued by the government, local authority, a 
Swedish limited liability company and a Swedish housing finance institution. All short-
term investments entail an insignificant risk of fluctuations in value and can readily 
be converted to cash funds. However, only those investments with a maximum tenure 
of three months are included in the item “Cash equivalents” in the balance sheet and 
in the cash-flow statement. Other short-term investments are reported as “Cash flow 
from investing activities”.
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Cash flow from divestments
During ����, the operations within Banks & Brokers in Australia were divested. The 
cash flow from these divestments is described in the table below;
  GROUP

(SEK m)   ���� ����

Intangible assets    - �


Tangible fixed assets    - -

Receivables   - -

Cash equivalents   - -

Long-term liabilities   - -

Current liabilities   - -

Total purchase price    - ��

Capital gains/losses   - -

Total of purchase price received    - ��

Less cash equivalents in divested companies    - -

Restructuring reserve     - -

Cash and cash equivalents in divested Group companies   - -

CASH FLOW FROM DIVESTMENTS    - ��

ITEMS NOT AFFECTING CASH FLOW 

Changes in the company’s asset structure related to acquisition are accounted for in 
the tables above “Cash flow from acquisitions” and “Cash flow from divestments.” 
Other transactions related to investment and financing operations that do not give 
rise to payments, despite the fact that they impact the company’s capital and asset 
structure, encompass depreciation/amortization and impairment, utilization of 
reserves, share in earnings of associated companies and capital gains/losses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING 

Interest-bearing net liabilities amounted to SEK �	� m (���) at the end of the report-
ing period. OMX’s interest-bearing financial assets totaled SEK 
�� m (�,��	), of which 
SEK �� m (
�) represented financial fixed assets.
 Interest-bearing financial liabilities totaled SEK �,�
� m (�,
��), of which SEK 
�,��� m (�,	��) was long-term.
 Agreed credit facilities amounted to SEK �,�	� m (�,���), of which SEK �� m (�) 
was utilized. Of the granted credit facilities, SEK �,��� m (���) refers to clearing 
operations. Cash equivalents equaled SEK 	�
 m (
��) and consisted of short-term 
investments and cash and bank balances. Investments with lifetimes shorter than 
three months are included in the item “Cash equivalents”, since these securities are 
exposed to an insignificant level of risk and can be readily turned into cash. 

Note ��. Information regarding the Parent Company

OMX AB (publ) is a limited liability company registered in Sweden, with its registered 
office in Stockholm. The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the stock exchanges 
in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen and Iceland. The address of the headquarters is: 
OMX AB, ��� �� Stockholm, Sweden.
 The consolidated accounts for ���� comprise the Parent Company and its sub-
sidiaries, referred to collectively as the Group. The Group also includes shareholdings 
in associated companies.

Note ��. Significant events after the end of the 
 reporting period

DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS
After the end of the reporting period, OMX signed an agreement with HCL Technolo-
gies, the global IT services provider, regarding an extended partnership which means 
that OMX no longer has any discontinuing operations in the Nordic region. The part-
nership means that HCL Technologies will assume responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of systems for securities management targeted to banks and brokers 
and that the remaining part of the Nordic operations will be moved to Information 
Services & New Markets business area, and will be included in the Broker Services 
unit. A number of employees’ work tasks will be within the Market Technology busi-
ness area to replace consultants and minimize new recruitments. The transferred unit 
had sales of SEK ��� m and costs of SEK �
� m in ����. The unit expects to report a 
profit in ����. The changes will be implemented in OMX’s financial statements as per 
January �, ����.

SHARE MATCH PROGRAM ����
Provided that the Annual General Meeting approves the proposal, the OMX Board 
has decided to continue and expand the share match program for senior executives 
for a second year. The program is targeted at approximately 
� senior executives and 
key individuals in OMX. The duration of the program is three years and requires 
employees to invest their own funds in OMX shares. Participants in the program invest 
in OMX shares and, provided that OMX achieves performance targets related to earn-
ings per share and how the OMX’s shares perform in comparison to its competitors, 
after three years, participants may obtain a maximum of five matching shares per 
invested share. President and CEO Magnus Böcker may receive a maximum of eight 
matching shares per invested OMX share. The number of shares that the participant 
may buy in the program is limited. 
Costs for OMX’s Share Match Program for ���� involve administrative expenses, 
compensation costs and social security contributions which the Board expects to 
amount to approximately SEK �� m over the period ����-���
.

PROPOSAL FOR AUTHORIZATION ON 
REPURCHASE OF SHARES
After the reporting period, the OMX Board decided to propose to the ���� Annual 
General Meeting that it authorize the Board to repurchase shares corresponding to 
a maximum of �� percent of the number of shares outstanding. The repurchase could 
take place through trading on the stock exchange or a directed offering to sharehold-
ers. OMX does not currently own any treasury shares. This mandate shall apply until 
the ���� Annual General Meeting. The purpose of the proposal is to be able to con-
tinuously adapt the capital structure to the company’s needs, and thereby increase 
value for shareholders and repurchase shares that could be used for the execution of 
OMX’s Share Match Program. The details of the proposal will be communicated when 
notice of the ���� Annual General Meeting is made.
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In accordance with item 3.6.2 of the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance, the Board of Directors and President affirm 

that, to the best of their knowledge, the Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the generally accepted 

accounting principles for listed companies in Sweden, the information presented agrees with actual conditions and 

nothing of significance has been omitted that could affect the perception of OMX conveyed by the Annual Report.

Stockholm, February 15, 2007

Olof Stenhammar
(Chairman)

 Adine Grate Axén   Urban Bäckström

 Bengt Halse   Birgitta Klasén

 Tarmo Korpela   Markku Pohjola

 Hans Munk Nielsen

Magnus Böcker
(President and CEO)

Our audit report was presented on February 15, 2007.

 Peter Clemedtson  Björn Fernström
 Authorized Public Accountant  Authorized Public Accountant
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Audit report

TO THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF OMX AB (PUBL) CORPORATE IDENTITY NUMBER ������-���	 

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, the accounting records and the administration of 

the Board of Directors and the President of OMX AB (publ) for the year 2006. The annual accounts of the company and 

the consolidated accounts are included on pages 56–100 of this document. The Board of Directors and the President 

are responsible for these accounts and the administration of the company as well as for the application of the Annual 

Accounts Act when preparing the annual accounts and the application of international financial reporting standards 

IFRS as adopted by the EU and the Annual Accounts Act when preparing the consolidated accounts. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts and the administration based on our audit. 

 We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual accounts and the con-

solidated accounts are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-

porting the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 

used and their application by the Board of Directors and the President and significant estimates made by the Board 

of Directors and the President when preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as well as evaluat-

ing the overall presentation of information in the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts. As a basis for our 

opinion concerning discharge from liability, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances 

of the company in order to be able to determine the liability, if any, to the company of any Board member or the 

President. We also examined whether any Board member or the President has, in any other way, acted in contra-

vention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below.

 The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair 

view of the company’s financial position and results of operations in accordance with generally accepted account-

ing principles in Sweden. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with international financial 

reporting standards IFRS as adopted by the EU and the Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the 

group’s financial position and results of operations. The statutory administration report is consistent with the 

other parts of the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.

 We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the income statements and balance sheets of the 

parent company and the group be adopted, that the profit of the parent company be dealt with in accordance with 

the proposal in the administration report and that the members of the Board of Directors and the President be dis-

charged from liability for the financial year.

Our audit report was presented on February 15, 2007

 Peter Clemedtson Björn Fernström
 Authorised Public Accountant  Authorised Public Accountant 
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��� OMX ANNUAL REPORT 2006 – FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

	�-YEAR OVERVIEW	)

SEK m ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���	 ���� 	


 	

� 	

� 

INCOME STATEMENT
Net sales �,��� �,	�� �,
�� �,��� �,��� �,��� �,	�� 	,
�� 	,��� 

	
 of which, own work capitalized �� 	�� �� �� �� - - - - -
Other revenue 	�� - ��� - - - - - - -

TOTAL REVENUE �,��� �,��� �,��� �,��� �,��� �,�	� �,�
� �,�
� �,
�	 ���

Revenue growth per year, % 	� 	 	� � -	� -� �	 �� �� ��
Operating expenses before depreciation -�,��	 -�,�	� -�,��� -�,��� -�,��
 -�,	

 -�,��� -	,��� -	,��� -���
Depreciation and impairment -��� -��� -��� -��� -��� -��
 -��
 -	�
 -	�� -��
 of which, goodwill - - - -	�� -	�
 -		� -
� -�� -�� -	�

Participations in associated companies’ income �� 	� 
 �	 �� �� 	� � – ��

OPERATING INCOME �,��� ��� ��� -��� -�� -�
� 	�� 
�� �	
 ���

Operating margin, % �� �
 �� -	� -	 -	� �� �� �� ��          
Financial items -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -	� �� �� 	�� ��

INCOME AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS �,�
� ��� 
�� -�	� -
� -��� 	�� ��� ��� ���

Tax   -��� -��� -	�� �	 -	� ��� -	�� -	�	 -
� -��

INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ��� 
�� ��� -��� -	� -��� ��� �
� ��� ��	
  of which, attributable to shareholders in OMX AB 
�� ��� ��� -��	 -�	 -�� ��� ��� ��	 ��� 
 of which, attributable to minority interest � -� 	 � � -�		 -		� � � �

          
Earnings per share, SEK �.�� �.�� �.�	 -�.�� -�.�� -�.� �.�
 �.� �.�� 	�.�

BALANCE SHEET

Total assets 	�,��� 	�,�	� �,��� �,��� �,
�� �,
�� �,��� �,	�� �,��� �,��

Capital employed �,�		 �,��� �,	
� �,��� �,��� �,��
 �,�		 �,��� �,��� 	,���
Shareholders’ equity �,�	� �,��
 �,��� �,��� �,�	� �,��� �,
�� �,��� �,��� 	,�	�          

KEY FIGURES

Equity/assets ratio, % �� �� �� �� �	 �� �� �� �
 ��
Return on shareholders’ equity, % �� 	� 	� -	� -� -	 �� 	� 	� ��
Return on capital employed, % �� 	� 	� -� � -� �� �� �� ��
Net debt/equity ratio 	� 	� -� 	� �� � -�� -�
 -�� -
	
Investments in equipment �� �� 	�� �� �� ��
 ��� 	�� �
 ��
Investments in research and development ��� ��� 	�� ��	 ��� �
� ��� ��� 	�� ��
 of which, expensed �� �� 	� �� 	�� ��
 ��� 	�� �� ��
Average number of employees  	,��� 	,��� 	,��� 	,��� 	,��� 	,�	� 	,��� ��� ��� ���
Personnel expenses 	,	�� 	,��
 	,��� 	,��� 	,	�	 	,	�� 
�
 ��� ��� ���

	) IFRS applied only for ����, ���� and ����.



INCOME STATEMENT – LAST EIGHT QUARTERS
QUARTERLY DATA  ���� ����

   Q� Q� Q� Q	 Q� Q� Q� Q	

INCOME STATEMENT
Net sales 
�� �	� ��� ��	 ��� ��� ��	 ���
 of which, own work capitalized � 	� �� �� �
 �� �� ��
Other revenue �� - - �� - - - -

TOTAL REVENUE �,��
 ��	 ��
 ��� ��	 		� 		� 	��

External expenses
 Premises -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -��
 Marketing expenses -�	 -
 -		 -	� -	� -
 -	� -�
 Consultancy expenses -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�	 -�	 -��
  Operation and maintenance expenses, IT -�� -�	 -�� -�� -�
 -�� -�	 -��
 Other external expenses -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�
 -�� -�

Personnel expenses -��� -��� -�
� -��� -��	 -��� -��	 -���
Depreciation and impairment -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -��

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES -�	� -
�� -
�� -
�� -
	� -

� -
	� -
��
Participations in associated companies’ income � 	� 	� 		 -		 � 	� �

OPERATING INCOME �

 ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��	
Financial items -	� -		 -	� -	� -� -�� -	� -	�

INCOME AFTER FINANCIAL ITEMS ��� ��	 ��� ��� �

 ��� ��� ���
Tax    -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -�� -		
 -��

INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ��� �	� ��� ��� ��	 �
� 	� ���
  Of which, attributable to shareholders in OMX AB �
� 	�� 	

 ��� 	
� 	�	 �� 	��
  Of which, attributable to minority share 	 	 	 	 -� � 	 -�

Number of shares, millions 	��.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.���
Number of shares after full conversion, millions 	��.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.��� 		�.���

Earnings/loss per share, SEK �.�� 	.�� 	.�� �.�� 	.�� 	.�� �.�	 	.	�
Earnings/loss per share after full conversion, SEK �.�� 	.�� 	.�� �.�� 	.�� 	.�� �.�	 	.	�

DEFINITIONS OF FINANCIAL TERMS

Capital employed Total assets less non-interest-bearing liabilities including deferred tax liabilities.

Cash flow per share          Cash flow from operating activities divided by the average number of shares.

Earnings per share Net profit (income after tax) divided by average number of shares.

Equity/assets ratio Shareholders’ equity as a percentage of total assets.

Net debt/equity ratio Interest-bearing net debt as a percentage of shareholders’ equity.

Operating margin Operating income as a percentage of operating revenue.

P/E ratio          Market price in relation to earnings per share.

Return on capital employed Income after financial net items plus financial expenses as a percentage of average capital employed.

Return on shareholders’ equity  Net profit (income after tax) as a percentage of average shareholders’ equity.

Total return   The price trend of a share and reinvested dividends.

Turnover rate The number of shares traded in a listed company during a year divided by the number of outstanding shares.

Value added per employee  Value added divided by the average number of employees. Value added is the sum of operating income 
before financial items and personnel expenses (adjusted).

Volatility  A measurement of risk that shows the extent of changes in the price of a share over a certain period. 
Volatility is expressed in percent and measured using the standard deviation of a price change in a share.
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Glossary

Back office. Administration, custody and settlement of securities.  

Clearing/Central Counterparty Clearing (CCP). Clearing typically 
includes compiling and offsetting claims and counter-claims bet-
ween buyers and sellers. At OMX exchanges and clearing organi-
zations, it also includes entering as a counterparty in a securities 
transaction, whereby the clearing organization becomes the new 
buyer vis-à-vis the original seller and the new seller vis-à-vis the 
original buyer. The term central counterparty clearing, or CCP, is 
usually used to distinguish this type of clearing. Clearing opera-
tions are normally subject to legal authorization. 

COBIT. Generally applicable standard for IT security and control 
procedures, based on 34 main processors and 318 control points 
(Control Objectives for Information and Related Technology).

Convertibles. Interest-bearing debentures that can be converted, 
that is, exchanged for shares at a pre-determined price.

COSO. Umbrella organization for five auditors’ organizations in the 
US, with the objective of improving quality in auditing through 
business ethics, effective internal audits and corporate gover-
nance (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission).

Counterparty risk/default risk. The risk that a counterparty in a 
transaction will be unable to fulfill his/her obligations.

Derivatives. A security or financial instrument the value of which is 
dependent on the performance of an underlying asset, for example, 
an equity. The most common examples are futures, options and 
forwards, but swaps and warrants are usually included in this 
category.

EMEA. Abbreviation for Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Facility Management Services (FMS). Outsourcing of functions and 
operational services, for example, to an exchange. In an FMS 
contract, OMX assumes responsibility for operations, which 
means that the customer does not have to develop IT expertise.

First North. An alternative marketplace with a simpler set of regu-
lations than OMX’s main market, targeted toward growth com-
panies. First North is part of the Nordic Exchange offering. 

Futures and forwards. A contract between two parties to purchase 
an asset with delivery and payment fixed on a future date. The 
difference between futures and forwards is that the market value 
of futures contracts is normally adjusted daily. The term forwards 
is often used to describe instruments traded off exchange. See 
also Derivatives.

IAS/IFRS. International Accounting Standards/International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards. For European parent companies, 
accounting principles introduced in 2005 and based on, among 
other elements, market valuation in the balance sheet.

Integrated solutions. Technical solutions that bring transaction 
processes and participants together.

Liquidity. The name for the level of trading, or the availability of 
buyers and sellers of a security such as an equity.

MiFID. Markets in Financial Instruments Directive. EU directive 
replacing the investment service directive. Adopted by the EU 
on April 21, 2004 and to become law in Sweden in 2007.

Nordic Exchange. The Nordic Exchange encompasses exchange ope-
rations in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen, Iceland, Tallinn, 
Riga and Vilnius. The operations include trading in equities and 
derivatives, services provided to listed companies and informa-
tion services provided to players in the financial market. In addi-
tion to the main market, the Nordic Exchange also comprises the 
alternative marketplace First North, which is targeted toward  
growth companies.

Option. A financial instrument that gives the option holder the 
right, but not the obligation, to purchase (call option) or sell (put 
option) an underlying asset for a predetermined price at a certain 
point in time. The writer of an option has the corresponding obli-
gation to sell or buy the asset in question. See Derivatives.

Rights. The right to subscribe for a new equity or other security at 
a predetermined price.

Settlement. The name of the series of administrative processes that 
must be carried out to complete a transaction, such as delivery 
of securities and payment, as well as documentation.

SIX Return Index. The SIX Return Index is the leading index for the 
total shareholder return for Nordic equities, comprising the 
equity price trend and reinvested dividends (Scandinavian Infor-
mation Exchange).

Spot transaction. A securities transaction where securities are paid 
for and delivered immediately. The most common form is an 
equity trade.

Trade. When a buyer and a seller agree on a transaction and price 
and other conditions for the transaction. All trading in OMX’s 
systems solutions and at OMX’s exchanges is carried out elec-
tronically.

Transparency Directive. Directive 2004/109/EC of the European 
Parliament and Council on the harmonization of transparency 
requirements in relation to information about issuers whose 
securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market.

Warrants. Normally, covered warrants, issued by banks. See also 
Derivatives.
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Addresses

SWEDEN
OMX 
��� �� Stockholm
Visiting address: Tullvaktsvägen ��
Sweden
Tel +	� � 	�� �� ��
Fax +	� � 	�� �� �� 
www.omxgroup.com 

AUSTRALIA
OMX
Level 
� AAP Centre, ��� George Street
Sydney NSW ����
Australia
Tel +�� � ��	
 �	��
Fax +�� � ��	
 ����

DENMARK
OMX
P.O. Box ��	�
DK-���� Copenhagen K 
Denmark
Visiting address: Nikolaj Plads � 
Tel +	� 

 �
 

 �� 
Fax +	� 

 �� �� �


ESTONIA
OMX
Tartu mnt. �
Tallinn ���	�
Estonia
Tel +
�� �	� ����
Fax +
�� �	� ����

FINLAND
OMX 
P.O. Box 
��
FIN-���
� Helsinki 
Finland 
Visiting address: Fabianinkatu �	
Tel +
�� � ��� ���
Fax +
�� � ���� �
��

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
OMX
Dubai World Trade Centre
Sheikh Zayed Road
Dubai
United Arab Emirates
Tel +��� 	

� ��	�
Fax +��� 	

� 
���

HONG KONG S.A.R. CHINA
OMX 
��/F, ��� Queen’s Road
Central
Hong Kong
Tel +��� ���� ����
Fax +��� ���� ����

ICELAND
OMX
Laugavegi ���
��� Reykjavik
Iceland
Tel: +
�	 ��� ����
Fax:  +
�	 ��� ����

ITALY
OMX
Via Silvio Pellico, �� (
rd floor)
IT-����� Milan
Italy
Tel +
� �� ���� ����
Fax +
� �� ���� ����

JAPAN
OMX
Ohmae@work Building, �-� Rokubancho
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
Japan ���-����
Tel +�� 
 
�
� �	��
Fax +�� 
 
�
� ����

CANADA
OMX
���, �
� - �th Avenue SW
Calgary
Alberta T�P 
S�
Canada
Tel +� 	�
 ��� ����
Fax +� 	�
 ��� ����

CHINA
OMX

�F Jin Mao Tower Pudong 
Shanghai ������
P.R. China
Tel +�� �
�� ���� �	

Fax +�� �� ���� ����

LATVIA
OMX
Valnu iela �
Riga LV ����
Latvia
Tel +
�� ����	
�
Fax +
�� ����	��

LITHUANIA
OMX
Konstitucijos pr. �, Floor �� 
Business center “Europa”
LT-����� Vilnius
Lithuania
Tel +
�� � ���
���
Fax +
�� � ���	��	

NORWAY
OMX 
P.O. ��	 Sentrum
NO-���� Oslo
Norway
Visiting address: Pilestredet ��
Tel +	� �� �� �	 ��
Fax +	� �� �� �� ��

SINGAPORE
OMX

� Cecil Street
#��-�� Prudential Tower
Singapore �	����
Singapore
Tel +�� ��
� ����
Fax +�� ��
� 	���

UK
OMX 
�
� Finsbury Pavement
London EC�A �NT
UK
Tel +		 �� ���� ����
Fax +		 �� ���� ����

US
OMX
�	� Broadway, ��th Floor
New York, NY �����
USA
Tel +� �	� 	�� ����
Fax +� �	� 	�� ����
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